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Laing O'Rourke Infrasiructure Limited (Registered number: 04309441)

Strategic Report
for the Year Ended 31 March 2021

The Directors present their Strategic Report of Laing O'Rourke Infrastructure Limited {the "Company") for the year
ended 31 March 2021.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Laing O'Rourke Holdings Limited and a member of the Laing
O'Rourke Corporation Limited Group ("Group”) thot is domiciled in England and Wales. A summary of the results
is shown in the Directors' Report on page 6. The Directors are satisfied with the financial result for the year which
saw the final phase of the largest project for the Company complete and a £0.7m retention received. The
Directors are considering fulure opportunities ond will continue to record income and expenditure retating to
existing confracts.

After a period of temporary site closures at certain projects — alf in constragined city centre focations -
immediately after the first national lockdown was announced, all sites were made Covid-safe and
recocmmenced operations.

The Directors of Laing O'Rourke Corporofion Uimited manage financial risks, for the Group as a whole, rather
than as individual entities. For this reason, the Company’s Directors believe that analysis of the Company's risks
should be viewed in the context of the Group. The principal risks and uncertainties of Laing O'Rourke Corporation
Limited, which includes the Company, are discussed in the Group's Annual Report and Consolidated Financial
Statements (which are available publicly at www laingorourke.com); however these do not form part of this
report.

The Directors of Laing O'Rourke Corporation Limited manage the Group's operations on a divisional basis. For
this reason. the Company's Directors believe that analysis using key performance indicators should be viewed
in the context of the Group. The development, performance and position of the Europe Hub of Laing O'Rourke
Corporation Limited, which includes the Company, are discussed in the Group's Annual Report and
Consolidated Financial Statements which are available publicly; however these do not form part of this report.

SECTION 172(1) STATEMENT

At Laing O'Rourke we have a clear vision 1o be the recognised leader of innovation and excelience in alt aspects
of our business by 2025. It was our contfinuing commitment in the year to drive our transformative plan, which
has already delivered resilience and added significant value. Cur strategy will only lead to the long-term success
of Laing O'Rourke through the engagement and support of our stakeholders. Throughout the planning of
strategies around key areas such os diversity, the wellbeing of cur people, relationships with suppliers,
partnerships, policy makers, the local community and environment, the Board considers the impact of its
decisions on Laing O'Rourke stakeholders in accordance with 5172 of the Companies Act 2004. After weighing
up the relevant factors, the Board considers which course of actien best leads to the long-term success of the
Company and a reputation ameongst our stakeholders as a company with high standards of business conduct,
operating in an ethical and responsible manner in relation te all stakehaolders.

Laing O'Rourke Infrastructure Limited sifs within the Corporate Governance framework of the overall Laing
O'Rourke Corporation Limited Group. Decisions that impact Laing O'Rourke Infrastructure Limited are made at
both the Europe Hub Committee and Group Executive Committee levels. The Company's Board is outlined on
page ). The Directors of Laing O'Rourke Infrastructure Limited are members of the Europe Hub Committee
and/or the Group Executive Committee. All references to the Board, the Company and the Group within this
Section 172{1} Statement, on pages 3 {fo 5, relate 1o the Laing O'Rourke Corporation Groug.

The Board collectively - and its Directors individually - are clear that relationships with stakeholders are an
essential part of the foundation of the business. Effective and meaningful engagement with stakeholders
requires regular dialogue.

An understanding of stakeholder groups and their interests enables the business to take account of their needs
and concerns, allowing for the creation of value for all.

We have set out our key stakeholders in the below table, with an overview of how we have engaged with each

stakeholder to understand their key material issues, so that the Board can give due regard to each stakeholder
in its decision making.
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Laing O'Rourke Infrashructure Limited (Registered number: 04309441)

Strategic Report

for the Year Ended 31 March 2021

STAKE- HOW WE ENGAGE HOW THIS STAKEHOLDER GROUP INFLUENCED
HOLDER BOARD / COMMITIEE DISCUSSIONS AND
GROUP DECISIONS

OUR CLIENTS { We invest in early engagement with clients Underpinning the approach to engagement is

prior to any formal decision-making processes
aiming to gain insights inte their needs,
chalienges, expectations and priorities, as well
as demonstrating the experience and
capability of Laing O'Rourke to strengthen our
position as a trusted adviser. We also seek early
cngagement with key influencers to clients
including consultants and industry bodies to
ensure they fully understand our capabilities
and offering.

Working with clients in this manner, and
implementing a detaited strategy to win
planning processes, has aliowed us to
demonstrate business values around
innovation and excellence and the benefits of
our in-house capabilities, to strengthen
relationships with clients and fo deliver
certainty.

The way in which we engage with clients is
strategically planned through this process, with
diversity in engagement activities such as
capability workshops, site tours, presentations
and events depending on the existing
relationship with the client and the purpose of
engagement.

To address mobility restrictions during the Covid
19 pandemic, Laing O'Rourke's engagement
portfolio evolved to include virual project and
factory tours, thought teadership activities and
forums — all of which were held remotely while
encouraging participation from clients. This
approach continued to create opportunities
for collaboration, learning. as well as a
ptatform to demonstrate capability and
offering during the challenging global
circumstances. Interviews by independent
interviewers continued to take place with
clients, offering a 'live’ source of feedback for
how Laing O'Rourke is perforrming in the market
and on projects.

the Group Board’s commitment to confinuous
improvement through consistent project level
feedback across the project portfolio. During
the year arefresh of our 2015 perception study
tock place to gain insight into the perspectives
held about us from several key stakeholders
including clients. The insights from this study
confirmed the value that clients see in ocur
approach, while informing the Group Board on
areqs for further refinement in our offering and
identifying the opporfunities that underpin a
sustainable pipetine of work across priority
sectors.

The Laing O'Rourke 2025 Transformation
Agenda incorporates five conditions
(resiience, certainty. people, next-generation
methods & technology and responsible
decision making) to achieve our strategic
objectives and to become the recognised
leader for innovation and excelience in the
construction industry. The priority conditions for
this year endorsed by our Group Board and
Group Executive Committee Included
resilience and certainty, focusing on ciient
engagement, productivity and digital data.

We updated our client engagement strategy
and client relationship management processes
and platfoerms, improving our productivity and
digital data and simplifying complex business
systems and models to enable the Group
Board and cur Executive Committees to
consider and guide our engagement with
clients and influencers throughout the lifecycle
of a project, from pursuit to tender and
through to delivery.

Cur updated client relationship management
systern is a centralised digital system, providing
alignment across the business and delivering
consistent and transparent reporting to the
Group Board and our Executive Committees
on a range of issues including client feedback,
key performance indicators for engagement
with clients, our performance on projects and
‘lessons learned’ to upcoming cpportunifies.
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Laing O'Rourke Infrastructure Limited (Registered number: 04309441)

Strategic Report

for the Year Ended 31 March 2021

STAKE- HOW WE ENGAGE HOW THIS STAKEHOLDER GROUP INFLUENCED
HOLDER BOARD / COMMITIEE DISCUSSIONS AND
GROUP DECISIONS
OUR PEOPLE | Connecting effectively with our people overthe | Managing the safety of our people was the
period to hear and understand their views priority for the Group Board and our Exacutive
became more important than ever as the Covid- | Committees as they managed the business
19 pandemic spread across the globe. through the particular challenges of the Covid-
The Group pricitised communication, 19 pandemic and a key factor fakeninto
engagement and support for our workforce account in all cperational decisions regarding
through many different channets including: access to our project sites and offices.
Daily, weelly or monthly employee The Group Board and our Executive
communications from senior leaders; Committees took a proactive interest in how
Making toolkits available to managers to ensure the pcr\demtc would impact our future ways of
that they could cascade consistent information WO{kxng, with staff surveys aCross boih.Hubs
to their teams in a personal way: stm‘g our pecple to share fhe'-lr experiences of
working remotely and to consider how their
Increased interactive communication with our roles could change into the future. The results
people through extension of our in-house media | of this survey were overwhelmingly positive
channel ‘LOR Live' to remote platforrns, around the support provided to our people
foql’l.tchng redl fime Q&As with thoughts and and their desire for the business to move
opinions encouraged from all staff. towards new ways of flexible and dynamic
Communication was proactive and inferactive | working. The Board has endorsed this
via LOR Live (monthly live broadcasts by our approach, with pilot schemes implemented
leadership teams), our internatl socicl media across our project and office envirenments.
channel on Yammer, Laing O'Rourke's intranet, . .
waekly townhall sessions o?:ross the business and | Gther intiatives considered and (_endorsed by
project visits (where possible) with leadership the Grgup Boc:rc_i and our E_xecluflve
briefings. The primary focus was ensuring that ol | Committees during the period included:
colleagues were safe onsites and in offices and | - Roll out of the Energy Project {one of the
that their wellbeing and mental health was being | Group's wellbeing initiatives) across both Group
supported in the face of increased challengesin | Hubs with support training;
balancing work and family envionments. - Providing support initiatives to help those
We refreshed our annual staff engagement working frorn home, raising mental health
survey in November 2020, with strong scares concerms and caring for dependants; and
recorded across both Group Hubs particularly o .
confidence in leadership, pride in working for 'Fgg;;zogdcl’;;E;Zi;escir;%:ggi‘;;?\L%:;ggm
Laing O'Rourke and overall staff engagement. from home and the anxiety associated with the
Covid-19 pandemic.
OUR In July 2020 more than 150 suppliers attended [ The Board recognises that its supply chain
SUPPLIERS Laing O'Rourke’s virtual conference to partners will be critical in helping the Group

continue to engage our UK supply chain on
the Group's 'Deliver 2025’ Mission. This was
reinforced by further communications with our
supply chain throughout the Covid 19
pandemic, ufilising our strategic partnerships to
collaborate and mitigate the impact of the
pandemic on cur projects.

Strategic partnerships with key suppliers are
further supported through the issue of joint
communications, sharing supply chain best
practice and collaborating with mutual
stakeholders. These highlight how partnerships
bring benefits to the delivery of projects and
drive innovation throughout the industry.

achieve its 'Deliver 2025' mission to become
the recognised leader for innovation and
excellence and achieve stretching
sustainability targets. Members of the Group
Board and our Executive Committees
participate in supply chain forums.

Updates on significant activilies and
developments within our supply chain are
provided to the Group Board and our
Executive Committees and taken into account
when seffing or approving annual budgels,
performance targets and making long term
strategic decisions.,

Supplier payment practices are regularly
reviewed and Laing O'Rourke remains a
committed member of the UK's Prompt
Payment Code,
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Laing O'Rourke infrastructure Limited {Registered number: 04309441)

Strategic Report

for the Year Ended 31 March 2021

and industrial Strategy.

During the period, this dialogue was focused
on navigating the Covid-19 pandemic,
ensuring construction activity continued safely
and supported national economic recovery.
We also maintained dialogue with central UK
government departments responsible for
delivery of specific infrastructure projects,
including the Department of Health and Social
Care (DHSC) for hospitals and the Department
for Education (DfE) for schools.

We are committed to developing and
maintaining open and effective working
relationships with regulatory bodies relevant to
our business. Where appropriate, these
relationships are managed by senior leaders in
our executive team.

STAKE- HOW WE ENGAGE HOW THIS STAKEHOLDER GROUP INFLUENCED

HOLDER BOARD / COMMITIEE DISCUSSIONS AND

GROUP DECISIONS

OUR LENDERS | The Group operates strict confrols over working | All financial stakeholders have direct access at
capital and cash management, engaging all fimes to the Group Chief Financial Officer,
proactivety on these controls with its lenders. A | whe is appoeinted o the Group Board and
regular and transparent reporting dialogue is attends meetings of the Executive
maintained with lenders, including monthiy Committees. This ensures that the Directors and
update calls and touch peints, visits to projects {our senior leaders are kept regulardy informed
and our manufacturing facilities, strategy and | of developments with our financial
general business updates and reporting stakeholders and that their views are taken
against agreed financial performance metrics. | properly into account when making

operational and strategic decisions.

OUR At a project level, we engage with a wide The Group Board approved the

COMMUNITY |range of local stakeholders to keep them implementation across both Group Hubs of a
informed of our local initiatives and progress on | responsible decision making framewaork. This is
projects, which deliver significant economic our ethical framework underpinned by
and social value to local communities. universal principles of sustainability that helps

our Group Board, Executive Committees and

We use a wide range of communication our people consider our values, principles and
channels (including social media) to maximise | other external factors when making complex
the effectiveness of how we engage with the | decisions.
local community across our projects.

GOVERNME- | Through our frade bodies, the UK's Cur regular diclogue with government and

NT AND Consfruction Leadership Councit (CLC) and regulatory bodies ensures that the Group

REGULATORY | Build UK. we are party to regular diclogue with | Board and our Executive Committees are

BODIES officials at the Department for Business, Energy | briefed on the potential impact of significant

developments on government policy,
procurement routes and changes to laws and
regulations.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD:

LU e

R C Baker - Director

Date:

¢ December 2021
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Laing O'Rourke Infrastructure Limited (Registered number: 04309441}

Directors’ Report
for the Year Ended 31 March 2021

The Directors present their Directors' Report together with the audited financial statements of Laing O'Rourke
Infrastructure Limited for the year ended 31 March 2021,

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activities of the Company in the year under review were those of civil and structural engineering
and utilities contfracting.

Information in respect of the Business Review as well as future developments are not discussed in the Directors'
Report because they are presented on page 2 within the Strategic Report in accordance with s.414C[11) of the
Companies Act 2006. The Directors of Laing O'Rourke Corporation Limited manage financial risks, for the Group
as a whole, rather than as individual entities. For this reason, the Company's Directors believe that analysis of the
Company's risks should be viewed in the context of the Group. The principal risks and uncertainties of Laing
O'Rourke Corporation Limited, which includes the Company, are discussed in the Group's Annual Report and
Consolidated Financial Statements (which are available publicly at www . lkaingorourke.com|: however these do
not form part of this report.

RESULTS
The results for the year are set cufin the income Statement on page 12,

Revenue for the year was £5.3m (FYZ20: £42.1m). The loss before tax was £0.5m (FY20: profit of £15.3m), and the
joss for the financial year was £0.3m (FY20: profit of £15.0m). Total shareholders' funds of the Company af
31 March 2021 were £45.0m [FY20: £45.2m).

GOING CONCERN

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis. which assumes that the Company
wilt confinue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. The Company is @ wholly owned subsidiory of
Laing O'Rourke Corporation Limited, the parent undertaking of the largest group of undertakings to consolidate
these financial statements at 31 March 2021 {the "Group"). The Directors have assessed whether the going
concern basis of preparation is approprate by reference to the position of the enfire Group, as the Company
is reliant on its trading relationship with, and financial support from, this group of companies.

The Directors of Laing O'Rourke Corporation timited have carefully considered those factors likely to affect the
Group's future development, performance and financial position in relation o the ability of the Group to
operate within its current and foreseeable resources, financial and operational. The Group's Annual Report and
Consciidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021 (the "Group Financial Statements”) were
prepared on the assumption that the Group will continue to operate as a going concern for at least the next 12
months frorm 20 Oclober 2021, being the date on which the Group Financial Statements were signed. The going
concern analysis prepared for the purpose of preparing the Group financial statements extended to 31 March
2023 and there were no material uncertainties identified that may cast significant doubt on the Group's going
concern status.  Further details of the assumptions used and the judgernents made by the Directors of Laing
O'Rourke Corperation Limited in relation to the Group's going concern assessment are disclosed on pages 53
to 54 of the Group Financial Statements.

Having made the appropriate enquiries. inciuding with the Directors of the Group, and considering a letter of
support provided by the Group to the Company. the Company's Directors have a reasonable expectation that
the Group. and therefore the Company, have adequate rescurces to continue in operational existence for a
period of at least twelve months from the date on which the Company's fingncial statements have been signed,
For these reasons, the Company's Directors continue to adopt the going concem basis in preparing the financial
statements.

DIVIDENDS

No dividends were declared of paid during the year (FY20: £nil}. The Directors do not recormmend the payment
of a finat dividend (FY20: £nil).
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Laing O'Rourke Infrastructure Limited (Registered number: 04307441}

Directors’ Report
for the Year Ended 31 March 2021

DIRECTORS
D J McGeeney has held office for the period from 1 April 2020 to the date of this report. Changes in Directors
holding office are as follows:

R C Baker appointed 22 September 2020
A S Mcintyre resigned 22 September 2020

DIRECTORS' INDEMNITIES

As permitted by the Articles of Association, the Directors have the benefit of an indemnity which is a qualifying
third-party indemnity provision as defined by Section 234 of the Companies Act 2006. The indemnity was in force
throughout the last financial year and is cumenily in force. The Company dlso purchased and maintained
throughout the financial year Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance in respect ot itselt and its Directors.

EMPLOYMENT POLICY

All UK staff are employed by another company within the Group, Laing O'Rourke Services Limited. The Group
continues to provide employees with relevant information and 1o seek their views on matters of common
concern through their representatives and through line managers. Pricrity is given to ensuring that employees
are aware of significant matters affecting the Group's frading position and of any significant organisational
changes. The Group treats each appiication for employment, training and promotion on merit. Full and fair
consideration is given to both disabled and able-bodied applicants and employees. if existing employees
become disabled, every effort is made to find them appropriate work and #raining is provided if necessary.

HEALTH, SAFETY AND WELFARE

The Group is commitied to ensuring the health. safety and welfare of all employees at work. All reasonable
measures have been taken to achieve this policy. Arangements have been made to protect other persons
against risk to health and safety arising from the activities of the Group's employees when at work.

STREAMLINED ENERGY AND CARBON REPORTING

The Company recognises the impact climate change has on the environment and society. The Company is
committed to measuring and managing the carbon emissions associated with the business operations.
Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting {'SECR") is discussed in the Laing O'Rourke Plc financial staterments,
which are available publicly but de not form part of this report.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
The Company expenditure in research and development supports the development of construction technigues
to deliver quality, certainty and value for our customers.

EVENTS SINCE THE END OF THE YEAR
Information retating to events since the end of the year is given in the notes to the financial statements.
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Laing O'Rourke Infrastructure Limited (Registered number: 04309441)

bireclors’ Report
for the Year Ended 31 March 2021

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES STATEMENT
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, Directors' Report and Audited Financial
Statements in accordance with applicable law and regulation.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the
Directors have prepared the financial stafements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice {United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure
Framework”, and applicable tawj.

Under company law, Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that
period. In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are required to:

* select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

» state whether gpplicable United Kingdormn Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101, have been
followed, subject to any materiol departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

«  make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and

* prepare the financial statements on the geing concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that
the Company will continue in business.

The Directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of frovd and other iregularities.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Company and enable them to ensure that the financial staterments comply with the Companies Act 2006.

DIRECTORS' CONFIRMATIONS

I the case of each Director in office af the date the Directors’ Report is approved:

- so far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company's auditors
are unaware; and

- they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as o Director in order to make themselves
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company's auditors are aware of
that information.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
The quditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, have indicated their willingness o continue in office and aresolution
concerning their re-appointment wilt be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD:

7

; ’
R P
Wk
L .

R C Baker - Director

Date: % December 2021
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independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of
Laing O'Rourke Infrastructure Limited (Registered number: 04309441)

"Report on the audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

In our opinion, Laing O'Rourke Infrastructure Limited's Financial Statements:

* give ¢ true and fair view of the state of the Company's affairs as at 31 March 2021 and of its loss for the
year then ended;

*  have been propetrly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure Framework”,
and applicable law}; and

* have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

wWe have audited the Financial Statements, included within the Strategic Report, Directors’ Report and Audited
Financial Statements (the "Annual Report"), which comprise: the Statement of Financial Fosition as at 31 March
2021; the income Statement, the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year then ended; and the notes to the Financial Statements, which include a description of the significant
accounting policies.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK} [ISAs {UK)"] and
applicable law. Our responsibilities under 1SAs {UK) are further described in the Auditors' responsibilities for the
audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to
cur audit of the Financial Statements in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfiled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

Conclusions relating to going concern

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material unceriainties relating to events or
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as
a going concern for o period of at least fwelve months from when the Financial Statements are authorised for
issue.

In auditing the Financial Statements, we have concluded that the Directors’ use of the going concermn basis of
accounting in the preparation of the Financial Siatements is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or condifions can be predicted, this conciusion is not a guarantee as to
the Company's ability to continue as a going concern.

Our responsibilities and the responsibiiities of the Directors with respect to going concern are described in the
relevant sections of this report.

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the Financial Statements
and our auditors’ report thereon. The Directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the
Financial Statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit apinion
or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the Financial Statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the Financial Statements or cur
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materiaily misstated. If we identify an apparent
material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether
there is a material misstatement of the Financial Statements or a material misstatement of the other information.
if. based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstaternent of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic report and Directors' Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required
by the UK Companies Act 2006 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2004 requires us also to report
certain opinions and matters as described below.
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Independent Auditors' Report to the Members of
Laing O'Rourke Infrastructure Limited (Registered number: 04309441)

Shategic Report and Directors' Report -
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic
Report and Directors' Report for the year ended 31 March 2021 s consistent with the Financiat Statements and
has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In fight of the knowledge and understanding cf the Company and its environment obtained in the course of the
audit, we did not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report.

Responsibilities for the Financial Statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Statements

As explained maore fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the Directors are respensible for the
preparafion of the Financial Statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being sctisfied
that they give a true and fair view. The Directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of Financial Statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the Financial Statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Company's ability to
continue as a going concem. disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concem and using the going
concern basis of accounfing uniess the Direclors either intend to iquidate the Company or to cease operations,
or have no redlistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Statements

Cur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance obout whether the Financial Statements as a whole are free
from matericd misstatement, whether due to fraud of error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our
opinion. Reascnable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an qudit conducted in
accordance with 1SAs {UK) will oiways deject o moteriol misstatement when it exists, Misstaterments can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these Financial Statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws andregulations. We design procedures
in line with our responsibilities, cullined above, to detect material misstaternents in respect of imegularities,
including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is
detailed below,

Based on cur undersfanding of the Company and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-

compliance with laws and regulations related to breaches of environmental legislation, health and safety

legislation, data protection legisiation, anti-bribery and corruption legislation, tax legislation, employment laws

and construciion laws, and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material effect

on the financial statements. We also considered those kaws and regulations that have a direct impact on the

financial statements such as the Companies Act 2006. We evaluated management's incentives and

opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements {including the risk of override of controls),

and determined that the principal risks were related to posting inappropriate journal entries and management

bias in accounting estimates and judgements. Audit procedures performed by the engagement teamincluded:

¢ Discussion with management, internal audit and the Company's internal legal counsel, including
consideration of potential instances of non-compliance with laws and reguiation and fraud;

. Assessment of matters reported through the Company's whistleblowing helpline and the results of
management's investigation of such matters;

. Evaluation of management's controls designed to prevent and detect imegularities;

. Substanftive testing of journat entries which met a defined risk criteria, focusing on where and how froud
could arise: and

. Challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in its accounting estimates or
judgements, in particuiar in relation fo confract accounting.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of
instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions
reflected in the Financial Statements. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is
higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from ermor, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by,
for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion.
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of
Laing O'Rourke Infrastructure Limited (Regislered number: 04309441}

- A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Statementsis located on the FRC's website
at: www frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors' report.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinicns, has been prepared for and only for the Company’'s members as a body in
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do noft, in giving
these opinions. accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report
is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
lInder the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

. we have not obtained all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

. adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Company. or returns cdequate for our
audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

. certain disclosures of Directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or

. the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

e v
/ i3
A
Simon Morley (Senicr Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

Date: 9 December 2021
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Laing O'Rourke Infrastructure Limited (Registered number: 04309441)

Income Statement
for the Year Ended 31 March 2021

2021

Nofe £000

REVENUE 3 5,279
Cost of sales _(3.716)
GROSS PROFH 1,563
Administrative expenses _{2.170)
{607)

Other operating income/ (expense) 4 29
OPERATING (LOSS)/PROFIT {508)
Finance income 6 2
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7 {504)
Tax on (ioss)/profit 8 244
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR —(262)

The notes on pages 16 to 26 form part of these financial statements
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42,099

(23,774}

18.325

(2,908}
15,417

(192}
15,225

40

15,285

{251}

15,034



Laing O'Rourke iInfrastructure Limifed (Registered number: 04307441)

Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the Year Ended 31 March 2021

2021
£'000
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR {262}
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR, NET OF INCOME TAX -
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE
(EXPENSE)/INCOME FOR THE YEAR {262]

The notes on pages 16 to 26 form part of these financial statements
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Laing O'Rourke Infrastructure Limited {(Registered number: 04307441)

Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 March 2021

2021 2020
Note £000 £000
FIXED ASSETS
Investments ? 654 654
CURRENT ASSETS
Trade and other receivables 10 46,115 45,791
Cash and cash equivatents 3,141 8.796
49,256 54,587
CREDITORS
Amounts falling due within one year 11 (4.934) 10,003)
NET CURRENT ASSETS 44,322 44,584
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 44,976 45,238
e E —— ]
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Called up share capital 12 - -
Retained earnings 44,9746 45,238
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS 44,976 45,238

The financial statements on pages 12 1o 26 were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on ¢ December
2021 and were signed on its behalf by:

R C Baoker - Director

The notes on pages 16 to 246 form part of these financial statements
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Laing O'Rourke Infrastructure LimHed (Registered number: 04307441)

Statement of Changes in Equity
for the Year Ended 31 March 2021

Balance at 1 April 2019

Changes in equity
Profit for the financial year and total comprehensive income

Balance at 31 March 2020
Changes in equity
Loss for the financial year and total comprehensive expense

Balance at 31 March 2021

Called up Total
share Retained shareholders’
capital earnings funds
£000 £'000 £000
- 30,204 30,204
- 15,034 15,034
- 45,238 45,238
- (262} (262)
- 44,974 44,976

The notes on pages 16 to 26 form part of these financial statements
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Laing O'Rourke Infrastructure Limited {Registered number: 04309441)

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Year Ended 31 March 2021

STATUTORY INFORMATION

Laing O'Rourke Infrastructure Limited is a private company, limited by shares, incorporated and
domiciled in England and Wales. The Cempany's registered number and registered office address can
be found on the Company Information page.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation

The financial statements of Laing O'Rourke Infrastructure Limited have been prepared in accordance
with Financiat Reporting Standard 101, 'Reduced Disclosure Framework’ (FRS 101). The financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006 as applicable to companies using FRS 101.

The Company has faken advantage of the following disclosure exemptions in preparing these financial
statements, as permitted by FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure Frarmework™

*  thereguirements of the second sentence of paragraph 110 and paragraphs 113{a). 114, 115, 118,
119{a} to (), 120 to 127 and 129 of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers;

+ therequirement in paragraph 38 of IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements to present
comparative information inrespect of:
- paragraph 79{a)(iv) of IAS 1;

+ therequirements of paragraphs 10(d), 16({), 16, 38A, 38B, 38C, 380, 40A, 40B. 40C, 40D and 111 of
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements;

+  therequirements of paragraphs 134 1o 136 of IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements;

¢ the requirements of 1AS 7 Statement of Cash Flows;

* the requirements of paragraphs 30 and 31 of 1AS 8 Accounting Policies. Changes in Accounting
Estimartes and Emors;

»  therequirements of paragraphs 17 and 18A of IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures;

*  the requirements in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures to disclose related party transactions entered
into between two or more members of a group,

Consolidation

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Laing O'Rourke Holdings Limited and of its ultimate parent
Laing O'Rourke Corporation Limited. The results of the Company and its subsidiary undertakings were
incorparated inte the consolidated financial statements of Laing Q'Rourke Corporation Limited, which
are publicly available; and the Company has therefore taken advantage of the exemption to prepare
consofidated financial statements under section 401 of the Companies Act 2006. Laing O'Rourke
Corporation Limited's registered address is Level 4, International Finance Centre 1, §t Helier, Jersey, JE2
3BX.

Significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to dlt the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements are presented in Sterling (£} which is the functional currency for the Company.

Going concern

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, which assumes that the
Company will continue Iin operational existence for the foreseeable future. The Company is a wholly
owned subsidiary of Laing O'Rourke Corporation Limited, the parent undertaking of the largest group of
undertakings to consolidate these financial staternents at 31 March 2021 [the "Group”). The Directors
have assessed whether the going concem basis of preparation is appropriate by reference to the
position of the entire Group, as the Company is refignt on s trading relationship with, and financial
support from, this group of companies.

The Directors of Laing G'Rourke Corporation Limited have carefully considered those factors likely to
affect the Group's future development, performance and financial position in relation to the ability of
the Group to operate within its curent and foreseeable resources, financial and operational. The Group's
Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021 {the "Group
Financial Statements’} were prepared on the assumption that the Group will continue to operate as a
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Laing O'Rourke Infrastruciure Limited (Registered number: 04309441}

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued
for the Year Ended 31 March 2021

ACCOUNTING POLICIES - confinued

Going concermn - continued

going concem for at feast the next 12 months from 20 October 2021, being the date on which the Group
Financial Statements were signed. The going concern analysis prepared for the purpose of preparing the
Group financial statements extended to 31 March 2023 and there were no material uncertainties
identified that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s going concern status.  Further details of the
assumptions used and the judgements made by the Directors of Laing O'Rourke Corporation Limited in
reiation to the Group's going concern assessment are disclosed on pages 53 to 54 of the Group Financial
Statements.

Having made the gppropriate enguires, including with the Directors of the Group, and considering a
letter of support provided by the Group to the Company, the Company's Directors have a reasonable
expectation that the Group, and therefore the Company, have adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for a period of at least twelve months from the date on which the Company's
financial statements have been signed. For these reasons, the Cornpany's Directors continue to adopt
the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

Tax and deferred tax

Tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. The current tax expense
is based on the taxable profits for the year, after any adjustments in respect of prior years. Taxable profit
differs from net profit as reported in the income statement because it excludes items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it alse excludes items that are neither taxable
nor deductible. The Company’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates and laws that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all temporary differences that have originated but not reversed
at the statement of financial position date, where transactions or events that result in an obligation to
pay more tax in the future or a right to pay less tax in the future have occurred at the statement of
financial position date,

A defemred tax asset is considered recoverable and therefore recognised only when, on the basis of all
avadilable evidence, it can be regarded as more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits
against which to recover caried forward tax losses and from which the future reversal of underlying
temporary differences can be deducted.

Deferred tax is measured at the average tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which the
temporary differences are expected to reverse, based on tax rates and laws that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the statement of financial position date. Deferred tax is measured on an
undiscounted basis.

Revenue recognition

The Company recognises revenue when it fransfers control over a product or service to its customer.
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of sales tax, for
goods and services supplied to external customers. and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third
parties. Revenue recognition is based on the satisfaction of individual performance obligations and these
obligations are satisfied over time, therefore contract revenue and costs are recognised by reference to
the stage of completion of each contract, as measured by the proportion of total costs at the statement
of financial position date to the total expected costs of the contract. Revenue from services and
construction contracts is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract, as set out
in the accounting policy for construction and service contracts.

Where consideration is not specified in the contract with a custermer, and is therefore subject to
variability, the Company estimates the amount of consideration to be received from its customer. The
measurement of variable consideration is subject to the constraining principle whereby revenue will only
be recognised to the extent that it is highly probabie that a significant reversat in the amount of
cumulative revenue will not occur.

Additionally, where a modification to an existing contract occurs, the Company assesses the nature of
the modification and whether it represents a separate performance obligation or whether it is a
maodification to the existing performance obligation.
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Laing O'Rovrke Infrastructure Limited (Registered number: 04307441}

Notes to the Financial Statements - confinued
for the Year Ended 31 March 2021

ACCOUNTING POLICIES - confinued

Revenue recognition - continved

The Company does not expect to have any confracts where the period between the request for
payment for the transfer of goods and services to the custormer and the payment by the customer
exceeds one year. As a consequence, the Company does not adjust its tronsaction price for the time
value of money.

Construction and service contracts
The Company earns revenue by providing civil and structural engineering and utilities confracting under
fixed-price and variable priced contracts.

When the outcome of individual contfracts can be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised by
reference to the stage of completion of each contract, as measured by the proportion of total costs af
the balance sheet date to the estimated total cost of the confract. Confract costs are expensed as
incurred. Where multiple contracts are signed fo deliver @ single commercial objective, as agreed at the
outset, such as initial works and main works contracts, these are treated as separate contracts, but are
viewed as represenfing a single performance obligation. Accordingly revenues and costs from these
contracts are accounted for using the cumulative catch-up method, with revenue recognised based on
costs incurred as a proportion of total expected costs ccross the contracts on an aggregated basis.
Monagement has made this judgement on the basis that work performed under such separate legal
contracts constitutes a single performance obligation as it does not consider that distinct goods or
services are provided gs a result of work performed under each contract from which the customer can
derive an identifiable benefit i.e. the customer only benefits from the output of the contracts on a
combined basis. This judgement is evaluated for every confract fo ensure that the facts and
circumstances uniaue to each contract are considered and revenue is accounted for appropriately.

Provision is made for ail known or expected losses on individual contracts once such losses are foreseen.
Incremental costs required to satisfy contract obligations are considered in this assessment. Amendments
to 1AS 37, which are applicable for the Company from 1 April 2022, require an assessment of other costs
directly relating to fulfiling contracts to be included in the provision for all known or expected losses.

Where costs incurred plus recognised profits less recognised losses exceed progress bilings, the balance
is recognised as contract assets within frade and other receivables. Where progress bilings exceed costs
incurred plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the balance is recognised as contract liabilities.

Estimates of the final outcome on each confract may include cost contingencies to take account of
specific risks within each contract. Cost confingencies are reviewed on a regular basis throughout the
life of the contract and are adjusted where appropriate. However, the nature of the risks on projects are
such that they often cannot be resclved until the end of the project and therefore may not reverse until
the end of the project. The estimated final cutcome on projects is continually reviewed, recoveries from
insurers are assessed and adjustments are made where necessary.

Fulfiiment cost

Pre-contract costs are expensed as incurred until it is virtually certain the contract will be obtained and
there is confractual entitlement to revenue that will more than cover future pre-construction costs and
further bid costs pertaining to the project in question. From the point that costs are considered to
generate or enhance the resources of the entity, fudher pre-contract costs are recognised as an asset
and charged as an expense over the pericd of the contract.

Research and development

expenditure on research and development is charged to the Income Statement in the year in which it is
incurred. Research and development expenditure credits relate to amounts recoverable from HMRC on
previously incurred expenditure.

Finance income/{expense)

Finonce income/{expense) is recognised using the effective interest method. In calculating interest
income/(expense), the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carmying amount of the asset, when
the asset is not impaired, or to the amaortised cost of the liability for interest expense. For financial assets
that have been impaired after initial recognition, interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. if the asset is no longer impaired the interest
income calculation reverts to the gross camying amount.
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Laing O'Rourke Infrastructure Limited (Registered number: 04309441)

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued
for the Year Ended 31 March 2021

ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

Joint arrangements

The Company accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, cash Hlows and resuits of joint arangements
that are not entities, measured according to the terms of the arangements pro-rata fo its respective
interests.

Investments
Investments are stated at cost less provision for a permanent diminution in value. Income from
investments is included in the income statement when the right to receive payment is established.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are initially recorded at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost as
reduced by dallowance for expected credit losses and appropriate allowances for estimated
irecoverable amounts. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to the
income statement line in which the provision was originally recognised. Trade receivables include
retentions within contract assets and are classified as a cumrent asset unless recovery is due in more than
one year.

The Company has applied the simplified approoach to measuring expected credit losses, which uses a
ifetime expected loss allowance. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been
grouped based on days overdue.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash at bank and in hand, depoesits held at call with banks, project
bank account controlled by the Company. and other short-term highly liguid investments with less than
20 days maturity from the date of acquisition. In the statement of financial position, bark overdrafts are
shown within borowings in current liabilities.

Creditors

Creditors are obligations to pay for goods or sefvices that have been acquired in the ordinary course of
business from suppliers. Creditors are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at
armortised cost using the efiective interest method. Creditors are presented as amounts falling due within
one yedr unless payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting period.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly atiributable to the issue of new ordinary
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Key judgements and estimating uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements under FRS 101 requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect amounts recognised for assets and liabilities af the statement of financial position
date and the amounts of revenue and the expenses incured during the reported period. Actual
outcomes may therefore differ from these estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions
that have the most significant impact on the canrying value of assets and liabilities of the Company within
the next financial year are detailed as follows:

a) Revenue and margin recognition (judgement and estimate)

The Company's revenue recognition and margin recognition policies, which have been set out previousty
in the note, are central to the way the Company values the work it has carmied out in each financiat year
and have been consistently applied.

1 contract {2020: 1) was income generating in the year. 1 contract {2020: 1) individually had an impact
of £100,000 or grecter on operating profit.
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Laing O'Rourke Infrasiructure Limited (Registered number: 04307441}

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued
for the Year Ended 31 March 2021

ACCOUNTING POLICIES - centinved

Key judgements and estimating uncertainty - continued

The economic outcome of construction contracts are principally determined by the contractual terms
including how revenue is calculated (which can include milestone payments. progress-based payments,
incentives and gain-share or pain-share), the type of service being provided/risks being managed (for
example fraditional contracting or construction management) and the actual operational and financial
performance versus forecast {at the time of contract award or subsequenily). Other external factors can
aiso have a matenial impact on performance, such as inflation, aspects of design development, ground
conditions and the performance of subcontractors.

The key judgements and estimates relating to determining the revenue and profit of these material
confracts within the Company's accounts are:
- Identification of performance obligations;
- Ensuring revenue recognised is highly probable, specific attention being paid to the estimates of:
Recoverability of claims and variations from clients for changes in condition/scope;
- Revenuereceivable in relation to achievement of gain-share {or pain-share), milestones and
other incentive arrangements; and
- Deductions for any damages levied by a client, e.g. for late handover.
- Percentage of completion of the project versus the planned cost programme;
- Achievability of the planned build programme;
- Forecast cost to complete (including contingencies): and
- Allowances for post-practical completion works (including rectification of defects).

Fach contract is treated on its merits and subject to a regular review of the revenue and costs to
complete by the project team and senior management.

The level of estimation uncertainty in our construction business is mitigated by:

- The processes in place regarding the selection of projects during the bid/work-winning phase:
The tevel of experience of management and the Board in delivering projects and accounting for
the various types of projects; and

- The processes in place to identify and mitigate issues promptly.

Volatility is also reduced by the effect of managing a significant portfolio of projects.

Nevertheless, the profit recognition in cur construction business is a key estimate, due to the variety of
confract terms and the inherent uncertainties in any construction project.

The estimation technigues used for revenue and profit recognition on construction contracts require
forecasts to be made of the outcome of long-term contracts which require assessments and judgements
to be made on the recovery of pre-contract costs, changes in the scope of work, contract programmes.
maintenance and defects liabilities and changes in costs.

As at 31 March 2021, Covid-1? was reasonably expected to have an impact on costs to complete across
the Company's porifolic of construction contracts. After the statement of financial position date.
management has performed an ongoing assessment of forecast costs for construction controcts.

Additional costs to progress or complete projects, and associated revenue, as a result of Covid-19 have

been categorised as follows:

- costs that do not contribute fowards the progression or completion of a performance obligation;
these costs are classified as inefficiencies and are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred and not reflected as part of the stage of completion revenue recognition methodology:

- costs associated with the delay or additional measures required, such as those due to social
distancing and additional persondl protective equipment, are included in the costs fo complete
forecast insofar as they were reasonably foreseedable at 31 March 2021; and

- revenue associated with additional Covid-1% costs has been recognised where it was considered
highly probable of not reversing at the statement of financial position date in accordance with
IFRS 15 and the Company's policy on revenue and margin recognition.
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Laing O'Rourke Infrastructure Limited (Registered number: 04307441)

Notes to the Financial Statlements - continved
for the Year Ended 31 March 2021

ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

Key judgements and estimating uncertainty - confinued

a) Revenue and margin recognition {judgement and estimate) - continued

The Company's revenue for the year was £5,279,000 (FY20: £42,099,000) with an associated margin of
29.6% (FY20: 43.5%). Should margins reduce by 1% the impact for such a change across our projects in
delivery ot year end would be an impact on gross profit of £53,000 (FY20: £433,000). Should revenues
reduce by 1%, and the associated costs reduce by 1%, the impact on gross profit would be £16,000 (FY20:
£153.000).

b} Disputes {judgement and estimate)
Management's best judgement has been reflected in the accounting and reporting of disputed
amounts, legal cases and claims, but the actual future cutcome may be different from this judgement.

From time tc time, the Company receives claims from subcontractors that it must evaluate in estimating
the costs to complete on confracts and resolve as part of determining its final contract positions.
Management bases its estimates of costs associated with such claims on its assessment of the expected
outcome of each matter using the latest information avaitable. There is inherent uncertainty associated
with the estimates made by management and any difference between these estimated and the
eventual amounts settled, may be material. However, given the extent of subcontractor cicims at any
given point in time, as is common within the sector, and as the quantum of amounts being claimed is not
always known, it is not possible to provide any meaningful sensitivities.

c) Going concern {judgement and estimate)

In preparing these financial statements using the going concern basis of accounting, management has

considered the forecast future cash flows of the Group under a management case scenario and several

downside scenarios (see pages 53 to 54 of the Directors’ Report of the Group Annuat Report and

Consolidated Financial Statements). Forecast future cash flows include the following areas of judgement:

- Work winning for the Group;

- Construction activity including project margins and working capital position;

- Support of the supply chain in terms of product material, labour supply and flexibility in payment
terms;

- Inflationary pressures;

- Disruption to the supply chain;

- Structural drivers for construction work; and

- Possibility of increased Covid-19 related restrictions impacting construction.

OTHER JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

a) Covid-19 and Brexit (judgement and estimate)

In light of Covid-19 and Brexit, management has considered other areas of judgement and estimation,
including expected credit loss provisioning and impacts on costs to progress or complete construction
cenfracts. Management has conciuded that any updates to the estimates associated with these areas
of the financial statements are not expected to result in significant change.

b) Climate Change {judgement and estimate)

In preparing the financial stotements management has considered the impact of climate change.
Potentialimpacts of climate change, which include increased intensity and frequency of weather events
and stricter environmental legislation, have been considered by management, together with the
Group's stated target of becoming operational net zero by 2030 and developing plans to achieve net
zero scope 3 emissions by 2050 to the extent these can be forecast at present. These considerations did
not have a material impact on the financial reporting judgements and estimates and climate change is
not expected to have a significant impact on the Group's going concem assessment to March 2023.

Specific areas considered by management included:
- Long-term conifract accounting assumptions, such as the forecast costs of a project, the estimated
costs to complete.

The Group continues to invest in new technologies and product development including a project to

decarbonise manufactured concrete components used in construction. The costs of these projects are
currently being expensed as incured.
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Laing O'Rourke Infrastructure Limited {Registered number: 04307441)

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued
for the Year Ended 31 March 2021

REVENUE

All revernwe is generated in the United Kingdom from civi and structural engineering and utilities
contracting.

Assels and liabilities related to contracts with customers

Contract assets are made up of a portfolio of contracts and represent unbilled amounts and include
amounts arising from changes to scope of works that have been recognised as revenue but not yet
billed. Contract liabilities result when cumulative cash received exceeds cumulative revenue on any
particular confract.

£'000
Contract assets
At 1 April 2019 1
Transfers from contract assets recognised at the beginning of the year to receivables -
Performance cbligations satisfied in the current year yet to 488
be transferred to recetvables
At 31 March 2020 489
Transfers from contract assets recognised at the beginning of the year to receivables {689}
Performance obligations satisfied in the current year yet to -
be tronsferred to receivables
At 31 March 2021 -
Confract liabilities
At 1 April 2019 (18,669}
Revenue recognised against contract liabilities at the beginning of the year 18,669
Increase due to cash received {4,504)
At 31 March 2020 {4,504}
Revenue recognised against confract liabilities at the beginning of the yvear 4,504
Increase due to cash received {1,695}
At 31 March 2021 {1.695)
2021 2020
£'000 £000
Contract assels
More than one year - 589
Total - 689
Contract liabilities
Less than one year {1,695} {4,504}
Totlal (1,495) {4,504)
Net (1.695) (3.815)

At 31 March 2021, contract assefs include customer retentions of £nil (FY20: £68%.000) relating to
construction contracts of which £nil {FY20: £689.000) are due after more than cne year.

OTHER OPERATING INCOME/ (EXPENSE)

2021 2020
£000 £000
Research and development expenditure credit/(charge) 39 ‘192]

The research and development expenditure credit of £99,000 is based on an assessment of recoverability
from HMRC. The amount for FY21 includes additional claims for prior year expenditure.
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Laing O'Rourke Infrastructure Limited (Registered number: 04309441)

Noles to the Financial Statements - continued
for the Year Ended 31 March 2021

EMPLOYEES AND DIRECTORS

The Company has no employees [FY20: none). All of the Directors and staft working on the Company's
contracts are employed by another subsidiary undertaking of Laing O'Rourke Corporaticn Limited. Laing
O'Rourke Services Limited. Costs for staff are incumred on the basis of time spent on the Company's
contracts and these costs are inciuded in cost of sales or administrative expenses as appropricie. As
Directors hold Directorships for other Group companies it is not possible to make o reasonable
apportionment of the emoluments, therefore no key management personnel compensation has been
disclosed. The Laing O'Rourke Services Limited financial statements discloses this, and are available from
Companies House.

FINANCE INCOME

2021 2020
£'000 £'000
Bank account interest 2 40
{LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX
{Loss)/profit before tax is stated after charging:
2021 2020
£'000 £000
Expense relating fo short term leases or leases of low value assets * 329 2,223

The audit fee and other administrative expenses of the Company were borne by another Group
company, Laing O'Rourke Services Limited.

* This is in line with the right-of-use assets accounting policy disclosed within the Group's Annual Report
and Consolidated Financiat Statements.

TAX ON (LOSS)/PROFIT

2021 2020
£'000 £'000
Current tax
UK corporation tax - 251
Adjustments in respect of prior years (244) -
Total tax {credit)/charge on (loss)/profit {244) 251

The tax assessed for the year is lower (FY20: lower) than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of
19% (FY20: 19%). The differences are explained below:

2021 2020
£'000 £000
{Loss)/profil before tax {506} 15,285
{Loss) fprofit before tax multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax
in the UK of 19% {FY20: 19%) (?4) 2,504
Effects of:
- income not subject to tax (10) -
- adjustments in respect of prior years (244) -
- effect of group relief 106 (2,653)
Tax {credit}/charge (244) 251

Group companies will between them no longer charge for the surrender of tax losses, unless specifically
agreed between the surrendering and claimant companies.

On 3 March 2021, in the Spring Budget, the UK Government announced that from 1 April 2023 the
corporation tax rate would rise from 19% to 25%. Given this was only substantively enacted in the Finance
Act 2021 on 24 May 2021, post the Statement of Financial Position date, all UK defered tax assets and
liabilities continue to be recognised at the existing 19% rate.
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Laing O'Rourke infrastructure Limited (Registered number: 04309441}

Notes o the Financial Stalemenis - continued
for the Year Ended 31 March 2021

TAX ON (LOSS)/PROFIT - continued

In the spring budget 2020, the UK Government announced that from 1 April 2020 the corporation tax rate
would remain at 19% (rather than reducing to 17%. as previously enacted). This new law was substantively
enacted on 17 March 2020 and therefore all UK deferred tax assets and abilities. which were recognised
at 17%, have been recalculated at 19% as at 31 March 2020. This did not result in either a credit or charge
to the Income Statement.

INVESTMENTS
Subsidiary
undertakings
shares
£'000
Cost
At 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021 773
Impairment
At 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021 S B
Net Book Value
At 31 March 2021 —24
At 31 March 2020 —_—004

The Directors believe that the carying value of investments are supperted by their underlying assets.

Holdings
The Company holds an interest in the share capital of the following company:

Interest in ordinary
Subsidiary undertaking Principal activity voling shares
taing O'Rourke Utilities Limited Utitities contracting 100%

The company above is incorporated, domicited and registered in England and Wales. The registered
address is Bridge Place, Anchor Boulevard, Admirals Park, Dartford, DA2 65N ond has a year-end of 31
March.

Joint ammangements
The Company has an interest in the following unincerporated joint arangements whose principal place
of business is in the United Kingdom.

Joint arrangement Principal activity Ownership interest

Costain Laing O'Rourke Farringdon Chivil engineering 50%
M-Pact Manchester Civil engineering 60%
Laing O'Rourke Dredging international Civil engineering 50%
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Laing O'Rourke Infrastructure Limited (Registered number: 04307441}

Notes {o the Financial Statements - continued
for the Year Ended 31 March 2021

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2021 2020
£000 £000
Amounts owed by group undertakings 46,115 45,102
44,115 45,102
2021 2020
£'000 £000

Amounts falling due after more than one year:
Contract assets - 4689
Aggregate amounts 46,115 45,791

At 31 March 2021, contract assetfs include customer retentions of £nil (FY20: £689,000) relating to
construction cantracts of which £nil (FY20: £689,000) are due after more than one year. Amounis owed
by group undertakings are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of repayment and are repayable
on demand.

CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

2021 2020

£'000 £'000
Trade creditors 35 673
Tax and social security - 7
Amounts owed to group undertakings 776 534
Contract liabilities 1,695 4,504
Corperafion tax 140 373
VAT 952 805
Other creditors 8 8
Accruals 15 113
Subcontractor accruals and retentions 1,293 2,984

4,934 10,003

Amounts owed to group undertakings are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of repayment and
are repayakble on demand.

CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL

Allotted, issued and fully paid;

Number: Class: Nominal 2021 2020
value: £ £
2 {FY20: 2) Ordinary £l 2 2
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Laing O'Rourke Infrastreciure Limited (Registered number: 04309441}

Notes o the Financial Statements - continved
for the Year Ended 31 March 2021

ULTIMATE PARENT COMPANY

The immediate parent undertaking of Laing O'Rourke Infrastructure Limited is Laing O'Rourke Holdings
Limited, c company registered in England and Wales.

The ultimate parent company of Laing O'Rourke Infrastructure Limited was, until 25 March 2021, Suffolk
Partners Corporation, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. On 25 March 2021 100% of the
share capital of Laing O'Rourke Corporation Limited was sold to R G O'Rourke KBE {65.2%) and H D
O’'Rourke (34.8%). R G O'Rourke KBE is the ultimate confroliing party by virtue of his majority shareholding.

Laing O'Rourke Corparation Limited is the parent undertaking of the largest group of undertakings to
consolidate these financial statements at 31 March 2021, The Laing O'Rourke Corporation Limited
Group's Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements are available for viewing at
www laingorourke.com.

Laing O'Rourke Pic is the parent undertaking of the smallest group of undertakings to consclidate these
financial statements. The consclidated financial statements of Laing O'Rourke Plc are available from the
Registrar of Companies in England and Wales.

GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2021, the Company was a guarantor of secured committed revolving credit facility and
term loans of Laing O'Rourke Plc, for an ameount of £108.7m {FY20: £15%.0m), that were due to expire in
December 2021. The Company is also a guarantor inrespect of Surety Bonds and Bank Guarantees issued
on behalf of Laing O'Rourke Plc and its subsidiaries. These guarantees may give rise to liabilities in the
Company if Laing O'Rourke Plc does not meet its obligations under the terms of the guarantees. No
materidl losses are anticipated in respect of these contingent liabilities. On 4 October 202) Laing
O'Rourke Plc repaid the £108.7m outstanding at the financial year end and entered into an agreement
for a new revolving credit facility of £35.0m that expires 3 October 2023, of which the Company is also a
guarantor.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD
On 4 October 2021, the Group refinanced its UK facilities, resulting in full repayment of its RCF, Term Logn

and Arrangement Fee ond the availability of a new unsecured RCF with an expiry date of 3 October
2023. A £13.7m property loan wos also refinanced with an expiry date of 3 October 2023,
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

I'write this at the end of an extracrdinary financial year. In my
long career | have witnessed nothing to rival it, and it gives me
pride and confidence about the future that this business —
thanks to its truly remarkable people —has weathered the worst
of the storm around us and delivered a third consecutive year
of solid profitability and higher net cash.

Our resilience and abiiity to perforrm under pressure has
confinued to grow. and now with the execution of a new
financial foundation from October 2021, we will see the
Group's capability and capacity truly unlocked.

Weathering the storm

Qur executive team is firmly focused on the right priorities,
having delivered a demeonstration of agile, visible, and felt
leadership during FY21. When the pandemic struck and glebal
lockdowns began in late March 2020, we were just a week
away from the start of this financial reporting period, making
what was achieved in the year that followed even more
remarkable.

Difficult decisions were made swiftly, guided by two simple
pricrities: protecting our people and maintaining safe and
secure operations.

Of course, we were not completely unaffected. in the UK, four
maijor projects — allin constrained city centre locations — were
suspended and the related slowdowns did impact revenues
and cashflow.

Our decision to implement temporary pay reductions for all UK
salaried staff, excluding our construction workforce, and other
‘self-help’ measures were not taken lightly. Such action
enabled us to build resiience through the early months of the
crisis and we were able fo restore full pay and bring people out
of furlough in the UK in August 2020, sooner than anficipated.
We are indebted to our people for the good grace with which
they supported cur decisions and for their unwavering focus on
continuing to deliver the natfion's vital health, education,
transport and energy priorties through the pandemic. This will
not be forgotten.

Laing C'Rourke Comporation |

We are now in a sfrong position to grow and play an active
role in the economic recovery of the countfries in which we
operate. While at the time of writing, Australia is managing the
impact of the Delta variant of Covid-19, we believe our
expenence in the UK is helping us to make the right decisions to
ensure safe and productive works continue wherever possible.

Rebvuilding the balance sheet

In publishing these accounts, we can announce, under the
guidance of CEQ Ray O'Rourke and CFO Rowan Baker, that
we have formally ended the complex conserfia refinancing
arangements entered info in 2016 — aond embarked on a
single-bank arangement with our long-time supporter H58C.

This was made possible by the group executives' tireless efforts
to reduce overall debt - retiing a further £56m of core debt
and fees in FY21 and subsequent to the year end, reducing its
bank debt by a further £12é6m. Unlocking and improving these
restrictive financial terms and conditions frem the previous
instruments has also allowed Laing O'Rourke to again make
use of appropriate group cash management, removing the
absolute cash separation between the UK and Australia.

The shareholders’ confidence in the performance and
frajectory of the business is demenstrated by c.£58m in
additional equity injected into the balance sheet via the
conversion of all shareholder loans to equity post year end. This
has decreased the debi-to-equity ratic by ¢.25%.

The successful execution of our new refinancing amangement
has been achieved while making all planned payments to cur
previous financiers on schedule and meeling ail covenants
and commitrments — the Group again delivering to its
stakehoiders ahead of plan,

Performance outlook

Group performance to date in the curent frading year is
ahead of plan, and its FY22 full year forecast remains in line with
management's expectations. At 31 March 2021, the Group
order book is £7.9bn of which 93% is secured and anticipated.
This represents c.three years' revenue, and | still believe the
indusiry probably has the best opportunities ahead of it that it
has had for the last 50 years.

Govemments in both our operating hubs have placed
construction at the heart of their economic recovery pkans and
have committed to substantial infrastructure investment.
Relationships with our public sector partners have never been
stronger. There has undoubtedly been a surge of interest in now
modem methaeds of construction (MMC) can transform
productivity and deliver faster to facilitate ‘building back
better'. For us this will also be greener, safer, and with more
inclusivity.



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT CONTINUED

A responsible contractor

| am particularly pieased to note the business's excellent
pregress on all aspects of ESG — Environmental, Social and
Govemance.

This important work has the full support of the Board, which has
worked with the leadership team to sef ambitious
environmental targets, which include reaching operational net
zero by 2030 and becoming a net zero business before 2050. To
support the Board and executive with this essentiai work, we
recruited Samantha Hee-Richardson, an expenenced Non-
Executive Director, as an adviser on climate change, and we
also strengthened our sustainability functional management.
With academic partners. and co-funding from the UK
Government, we are explering ways fe reduce the embodied
carbon in manufactured concrete components, and cur
technical team continue to develop progressive engineering
solufions for clients.

The Board remains very supportive of the business's continued
investmentin its people, so thot each can develop to
maximum potential. Gur most senior leaders' develepment
targets have all been assessed, with two-year plans in place to
close any gaps in terms of leadership skills. We retain a keen
interest in the development of cur younger talent too, through
bespoke but stretching programmes and new investments in
digital leaming.

Finally, we have made significant progress in developing
govermance standards that align with those required of a
publicly listed company. Qur focus has been onimproving our
processes and procedures; strengthening our corporate
finance controls; and, importantly, sound administration and
compliance. | am happy to report these are present and
confinue to be enhanced and will help ensure Laing O'Rourke
retains its strong central controls — led by the Board, the CEQ
and the execulive —and all absolutely aligned with our valyes.

— ‘{?f‘éu

e

Sir John Parker GBE FREng
CHAIRMAN
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GROUP CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REVIEW

We sign off cur FY21 report and accounts cenfident in the
resiience of our operating model, grateful for the talent and
loyalty of our teams, and ready te meet the challenges of the
global transformation that must now occur — at pace - fo
protect the planet.

The financial year saw us continue o deliver against our
commitments to all stakeholders, and dedicate ourselves fo
tackling the limiting factors of our industry; the roadblocks that
still —in 2021 — shackle construction to out-of-date practices and
limit productivity,

To accelerate this change, we have committed to employing
equal numbers of male and female staff within the business by
2033, and infroduced a new focus on the holistic wellbeing of
our people and our supply chain partners, Qur ‘Inclusion +
Wellbeing' programme is more than just health and safety risk
assessments, it is the organisation's commitment to protect our
people and support their sustainable high performance.

We will become an operational net zero business by 2030
(Scopes | and 2), and then work to achieve Scope 3 net zero
status before 2050. We know we cannot do this alone and
collaboration will be essential. We must move faster, and that is
why we are already partnering with other innovators to invest in
and develop carbonreducing technologies, automation and
new product sets that will enable engineering and construction
to reduce emissicns from the puilt environment faster.

We clso continue our Trades to Technicians focus, so that more
people's lives are fransformexd through a stimulating and
rewarding career at the frontline of construction, rather than risk
uncertain returns from decades of physical labour. We are
professionalising core skills and will take them out of the field
and into safe and inclusive centrolled environments, closer to
home, to attract new talent and wider demographics to the
most exciting industry in the world.

The pandemic has taught us alot. It has enabled the mindset
shift that construction needed. It would be negligent of us to
not harmess this appetite for change and greater responsibility,
to inject maximurm momentum into our sector of nationat
strategic importance, one which can lead the economic
fightback from Covid-19's impacts.

| am pleased to report the Group’s reperted earnings before
interest and tax were £49.9m, delivering a group profit befors
tax of £41.4m and with an ongoing order book of £7.9bn as of
31 March 2021.

Those results are testimony to the absolute commitment of our
peaple and the leadership team that has guided them
through uncharted waters. Their dedication has been
remarkable and humbling, and their achievements are
impressive,

Ray O'Rourke KBE
GROUP CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Laing O'Rourke Corporation | ’ 4
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OPERATING REVIEW

QPERATING REVIEW — GROUP

In a year dominated by the far reaching impacts of the
pandemic, Laing O'Rourke’s peaple maintained focus on
project delivery, securing work within priority sectors and on
researching and developing transformative technologies that,
in the hands of highly frained and committed people, will
transform construction and deliver certainty for clients.

We have delivered a solid performance.

Success throughout the year was achieved against the
backdrop of Covid-1? which required us to change every
aspect of our cperations to protect our people and maintain
progress on our projects. At the fime of publication, the UK
Govermment has lifted the emergency legal restrictions it put in
place n 2020, but cities and states within Australia are still within
periods of lockdown. We will continue to monitor and follow all
govemment guidance, and as we unlock in the UK we are
proceeding with care and caution. From the oufset of the crisis,
the health and safety of our people has been our priorty and
this will remain the case.

In the UK, as the crisis impacted aur national lives, we took
action to build resiience into our business and protect jobs. We
adapted our construction sites and manufacturing facilities to
create Covid-safe environments, allowing productivity to be
maintained, while those who could work from home were
instructed to do so. From April to July 2020, we implemented
temporary pay cuts for our salaried staff of between 20 and
30%, depending on grade and we placed 1,000 Laing
O'Rourke and 1,000 Bylor staff on furiough for that same pericd.
To build further resilience into the business we undertook a
headcount reduction that saw 150 posts made redundant. Our
revenues and cashflow have inevitably been impacted by
Covid-19, but the implementation of mitigating measures, with
management taking swift and decisive action to protect the
business and the jobs it sustains, has helped us to weather the
storm and begin to emerge from the pandemic in a strong
pasition, We continue to monitor the situation in Australia and
will take appropriate action, as necessary.

Adapting to different ways of working led us to accelerate trials
in flexible and hybrid working and we increased our focus on
supporting the wellbeing of our people, as they managed the
changing dynamics of workdife balance and unique
challenges like home schooling.

This year we commenced a new wellbeing inifiative with o
platform called Life at LOR, that brings all our wellbeing
offerings into one place for the first time. We see this platform as
the first stage in what will become an evolution of what it
means to work in construction, helping our people thrive by
living better, healihier, and more balanced lifestyles.

All these aspects are fundamental to our ambition to continue
to fransform our business and become the recognised leader
forinnovation and excellence in the construction industry.

We are pleased to report another solid performance for the
year and continue to work from and maintain a stable pipeline
of work within our core markets.

Laing O'Rourke Corporation |

Given the chailenges of the year, it was humbling that Laing
O'Rourke was recognised for the posifive contributions it made.
The New South Waies Government in Australia presented Laing
O'Rourke with their Premier’s Award for Excellence in
recognition of the Bushfire Clean-up programme, while in the
UK Building Magazine recognised Laing O'Rourke for our efforts
in supporting the sector through the crisis noming us as one of
the winners in the Proud to Help award category.

As the Group confinued its mission to become the leader for
innovation and excellence in the construction industry, we
secured recognition for outstanding project delivery,
innovation, inclusion and wellbeing. And the power of our
people’s achievements shone through with a number of
individuals spotlighted for their successes.

For the second year running, the Toclbox Spotter, which delivers
significant advances in site safety and hazord detection,
secured further accolades and was recognised by the
Australian Workplace Health & Safety Awards for Innovation in
a Large Enterprise. The artificial intelligence technology
developed by Laing O'Rourke was commercialised and sold to
Presien Holdings Pty Ltd on 21 April 2020 in exchange for a 26%
stake in the company Presien Holdings Pty Ltd which confinues
development of the technology with our Austraiian MD, Cathaf
O'Rourke, being o member of the Presien Holdings Board. With
global experence in the rail sector, our UK team also secured
recognition for outstanding project delivery. In the culminatfion
of a 12-year programme of delivery for Transport for Greater
Manchester, the company's Metroiink (Trafford Park Line) teom
picked up the British Construction Industry Award’s top prize of
Project of the Year, along with Transport Project of the Year ond
Health, Safety & Wellbeing Initiative of the Year.

With a requirement to accelerate delivery of healthcare
projects and provide UK health boards and frusts with
additional bed space to cape with Covid-19 demands, Laing
C'Rourke’s project team af The Grange University Hospital
relied on digital engineering and modern methods of
construction to hand ward space, 50% of the overall project, to
the client a year earier than scheduled. The team continued
their delivery of the rest of the hospital, handing the entire
facility to the client in November 2020, four months ahead of
the original schedule. Their efforts were recognised by
Construction Excellence, Wales who presented Laing O'Rourke
with the Digital Construction Award and Offsite Award.

Delivering projects t¢ clients with certainty was also recognised
by the Middle East Economic Digest, when they named
Khazna Data Centres in Dubai and Aku Dhabi, projects
delivered by Laing O'Rourke, as winners of the Digitai
Infrastructure Project of the Year,

An increasingly important focus is being placed throughout the
industry on wellbeing and inclusion, so it was rewarding to pick
up the Nudge Foundation 2020 Employer of the Year for
Indigenous Engagement, from Nudge Foundation in Western
Australia. The Australian business also secured a Mental Health
Matters award from the Mental Health Assaciation. NSW in
recognition of the business's 5 Ways to Wellbeing campaign.
Meanwhite in the UK, Kinga Cofor, a member of our
Manchester Ainport Transformation team. was named as
Influencer of the Year by the Royal Society for the Prevention of
Accidents (RoSPA) for the work that she did towards eliminating
stigma around mental health.



OPERATING REVIEW CONTINUED

Further individual recognition was made when Crown House
Technologies' Lawrence Nunn was awarded Engineer of the
Year at the Building Controls Industry Association Awards; and
early talent development saw the Australian business take top
18 positions as a graduate and internship emplover in the 2020
Australian Association of Graduate Employers rankings.

It has been a challenging and rewarding year as we continue
to deliver certainty through the power of experience.

OPERATING REVIEW - EUROPE HUB

Although there were significant challenges faced by the
business due to the ongoing Covid-19 pondemic, Europe
delivered earnings before interest and tax of £90.3m (FY20;
£75.1m),

After brief suspersions on a small number of projects at the start
of the pandemic, the Hub effectively maintained operations
with Covid secure measures in place at all locations throughout
FY21. The UK Government quickly made clear the economic
importance of construction and manufacturing remaining
open and this has helped the construction sector through the
crisis. Clarity around Brexit, with the transition period ending en
31 December 2020, has alsoe proved positive. Availability and
pricing of certain materials and labour continues to require
active management through contract negotiations, supplier
relaticnships and project price contingencies. Our integrated,
self-delivery model also serves 1o ensure that any potential
impact is minimised.

While the UK business has not seen a significantimpact since
leaving the European Union at the end of 2020, the Board
continues to monitor any further future potentialimpact.

During the financial year, our teams focused on maintaining
productivity, continuing to achieve key project milestones
across some of the UK's vital infrastructure projects, including
Hinkley Peint C, Tideway and the Northem Line extension.

We are immensely proud of the work we did with the NHS.
Thanks fo effective arganisation, innovative and scalable
construction technelogies, and the dedicaticn of our teams
during a time of national crisis, we were able to create
additional bed-space for health frusts and boards as they
prepared their own Covid-19 responses. At The Grange
University Hospitalin Wales, within four weeks of being asked by
the client to accelerate delivery of the ward block, we
successfully handed over ward space to o new hospital,
previding capacity for 384 beds. We went on to deliver the
entire hospital four months early. In Liverpool our feams quickly
adapted their construction plans to deliver a step-down facility,
the Agnes Jones Unif, providing 65 beds within the new Royai
Liverpool University Hospital. Next door to the Royal, we
completed the new 11-storey Clatterbridge Cancer Centre —
Liverpool. Meanwhile at Brighton 3Ts Hospital, we reconfigured
our construction site to provide additional space for the
storage of medical equipment, helping the hospital during the
preparedness stage of the crisis.

Our focus on early engagement was recognised when in
December 2020 we were confirmed as a strategic supplier to
the UK Government, placing us in a solid position to pursue
opportunities in vital infrastructure including the delivery of new
hospitals, schoois. nuclear facilities and rail projects. Qur
selectionreflects the health of our business and our strong track
record of delivering using modern methods of construction.

The UAE confracting business performed well, despite the
confinued challenges posed by Covid-19. Work continued on
Expo 2020 Dubai and Khazna Data Centre, whilst also entering
into a pre-construction services agreement for a new data
centre in Abu Dhabi. Our joinery business delivered for some
impressive projects, including Dubai Creek Hartzour and Beach
Vista. The UAE business continues to benefit from the support of
its lender Emirates NBD with facilifies of AED562m successfully
renewed on an annual basis,

Cur business model is centred around the establishment of
long-term partnerships and early engagement. By working
together from the earliest cpportunity as port of integrated
oroject delivery teams, we are better equipped to deploy the
benefits of our value proposition and our intemal supply chain,
using the power of experience fo deliver increased certainty for
all stakeholders.

The Europe Hub has included ail frading in the UK, Middle East
and Canad.

Laing O'Rourke Corporation | 7



OPERATING REVIEW CONTINUED

OPERATING REVIEW — AUSTRALIA HUB

Despite the challenges and uncertainties of the last 12 months,
the Australian business finished FY21 in a solid positicn. Our
strategy, focused on deeper collaboratfion with our clients,
supporting our supply chain and investing in our people has
been crifical 1o our success and aligned to our vision to be the
recognised leader for innovation and excellence in our market.

The Australion business posted a strong managed revenue
performance of AUD$1.8bn (FY20: AUD$1.3bn), a statutory EBIT
of AUD$59.9m (FY20: AUD$58.0m), and a year-end cash
position of AUD$414.8m, anincrease of AUD$82.7m comparad
with FY20. These results further bolster the resilience of the
business and ensure certainty for our people into the future.

We remain committed to our strategic focus in seeking out
collaborative confracting medels by emulating the partnership
approach that drove the successful delivery of projects ke the
NSW Bushfire Clean-up. This disciplined focus in our priority
sectors of rail, roads, defence, rescurces and buildings has
resulted in the order book growing to AUD$2.9bn —up from
AUD$2.6bn at the end of FY20.

It is important to note that this has all been achieved while
maintaining a position as a partner of cheoice for our supply
chain - ensuring accounts are paid on or ahead of time,
maintaining fair and fransparent business operations and
where possible providing opportunities to up-skill and engage
more indigenous businesses.

The private arbitration with respect to the legacy confract
which was terminated in the year ended 31 March 2017 is

progressing and has been set down for hearing in tranches
over mid-fo-late 2022

Our focus on collaboration and the development of a
sustainable supply chain means we are weli placed to assist
State and Federal Governments to deliver a record AUD$200bn
national infrastructure pipetine, including AUD$72bn of work cn
projects being fast fracked due to Covid-19.

As a business that is firmly focused on building more
collaborative and constructive relationships with our clients, we
have refocused our engagement activities to ensure we are
agligned and speak with one voice. This year we launched
Client Connect, a targeted engagement programme and an
improved CRM system to power this process.

Cur client-centric collaborative approach is delivering results
with a number of new major city-shaping project wins in
Western Australia including the AUD$700m Metfronet: Morley —
Ellenbrook Line in Perth, the AUD$250m Great Eastern Highway
and AUD3200m Swan River Crossing for Main Roads WA,

Across Australia we have also continued to secure new work
off the back of previous projects, demonstrating the trust we
have built as project partner including the AUD$125m Sydney
Metro Sydenham to Bankstown upgrade and our AUD$76m
Transport Access Programme for Transport for NSW.

The strategic, disciplined and people-focused approach Laing
O'Rourke has taken over the past 12 months has made our
Australian business more resilient. We finished this year with a
stronger pipeline of work, a highly engaged workforce and a
plan for continued growth in the year ahead.

The Australia Hub has included alf frading in Australia,
New Zecaland and Hong Kong.

The power of cur people’s experienc
delivering Sydney Central Station Meln '
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OUR BUSINESS MODEL

HOW WE CREATE VALUE

LAING O'RCURKE IS COMMITTED TO CONSISTENTLY
DELIVERING SUPERIOR SERVICE IN THE MOST EFFICIENT AND
EFFECTIVE WAYS POSSIBLE, FOR THE SHARED BENEFIT OF OUR
CUSTOMERS, SHAREHOLDERS, EMPLOYEES AND THE
COMMUNITIES IN WHICH WE WORK.

Our business mode is founded on our reputation for delivering
certainty through the power of cur teams’ experience. By
selectively embracing effective ingustry innovations, and
placing them in the hands of individuals with experience of
deploying them in the most impactful way, we can help deliver
the certainty our clients crave and realise our ‘Deliver 2025'
mission to become the recognised leader for innovation and
excellence in the construction industry.

Our 'Deliver 2025' mission and Guiding Principles influence
everything we do and provide on ambition which inspires our
employees and assures our stakeholders.

Laing O'Rourke's ‘Deliver 2025 mission is driven by constant
innovation based on technical excellence in design,
manufacturing and construction.

Excellence in engineering coupled with the early adoption of
new technologies and a well-established people agenda that
attracts and develops the very best talent to work for the
Group, are central to this ambition.

The Group's 'Deliver 2025' missiocn has been vital to building the
current momentum within the business, ensuring we pursue the
right strategic opportunities and partner with our clients to
deliver the certainty they seek. It will also ensure we create new
and sustainable competitive advantage in the highly
competitive and demanding sectors in which we operate.

Laing O'Rourke Corporation | k4




OUR BUSINESS MODEL CONTINUED

WHAT WE DELIVER

O CHENT PLATEOR A

As ¢ client-centric crganisation, we work across a broad
spectrum of project types in the building. infrastructure, energy,
and natural resources sectors, offering a frue end-to-end
service. We design and deliver complex engineering solutions
for customers who value the power of cur experience, and the
certainty we provide. This dllows us to build long-term
partnerships, from the very earliest engagement, with
customers and strategic partners aligned to our appreach ond
who share our commitment to inteligent engineering,
delivered smartly, ensuring our werld is built better.

R LR APPROATH

We are trusted by clients to meet their needs for certainty and
sustainability through early engagement and our ability 1o
rmaxirmise the value of our 'Design-Manufacture-Construct’
approach.

Design
Early involvement ensures the maost efficient and value-creating
engineering sclution and buildabifity.

Manufacture

Maximising the use of our offsite manufacturing skills and
capabiliies, where it is appropriate 1o do so, de-isks the design
and delivery. We manufacture these products at our own
facilities, the Laing O'Rourke Centre of Excellence for Modern
Construction (CEMC) in Nottinghamshire.

Construct

We can exercise unparalleled control and efficient onsite
assembly through the expertise of our highly skilled, directly
employed workforce and the construction resources we own,

HOW WE DELIVER

CEUVERING CERTAINTY THRGUGH THE rOWER OF

Our unigue approach is underpinned by four complementary
capabilities, which combine to deliver certainty for clients and
end-users. By setting higher standards for our industry, we are
redefining the future of consiruction.

1. Excelience in engineering

Engineering solutions and the experience of our teams is key to
our success, and our ability fo deliver for cur clients is reliant
upon us driving excelience throughout those engineering
teams. We are committed to investrment in fraining, research
and development, as these are fundamental to our
sustainability and to addressing the productivity increase
required in the construction industry. We will work together
across the business to ensure our engineering capabilities
remain sector leading and are deployed as a key differentiator
on our projects.

2. Digital engineering

We build virtually in a digital environment first. This ensures
greater predictability of cost, quality, programme and safety
far clients, through the provision of smarter engineering-led
solutions — focused on whole-life value and long-term
performance. The application of digital tools by our delivery
functions ensure the full benefits of this approach are redlised
for our clients.

3. Design for Manufacture and Assembly,

and offsite manufacturing
Design for Manufacture and Assembly {DEMA 70:60.30), where
70% of the construction is conducted off site, leading to a 40%
improvement in productivity, and a 30% improvemenit in
delivery schedule, provides an efficient and sustainabie design
process which is aligned fo our offsite manufacturing and onsite
assembly approach, and 1o global modem methods of
construction.

Using standard product design for bespcke solutions, where
appropriate, and where it adds value to our clients,
manufacturing off site allows us to better control quality.
improve health and safety and assure delivery, without
compromising the original architectural intent. We can be
faster, cleaner. safer and more reliable and sustainable than
our competition.

We can achieve higher standards in a controlled factory
environment, with a highly automated approach which
supports optimum performance.

4. Direct delivery

With our in-house supply chain, we can move faster, integrate
better, develop our own products more successfully, and
control the methods of production, enabling logistics and site
construction. This reduces the risks associated with a fraditional,
fragmented delivery approach and offers complete delivery
solutions creating certainty which our clients consistently
appreciate.
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F“EXPERI ENCE

LAINGOROURKE.COM

Meet Shweta and Peter.
They're part of the Laing O’Rourke healthcare team
that has delivered 16 new hospitals since 2010,
enabling the NHS to care for nine million people.

That’s the power of experience.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES

During the year ended 31 March 2021, our relevant UK
companies in the Laing O'Rourke Group ['the Group') have
considered the Companies (Miscellaneous Reporting)
Regulations 2018 and elected to apply the Wates Corporate
Governance Principles for Large Companies, as published in
December 2018 [the "Wates Principles”). We reported against
the Wates Principles for the first time in the financial year ended
31 March 2020 and the continuance of this reporting assists with
an assessment of what has been done well and where there
remains opportunity for further improvement of our corporate
govermnance framework. It is ako recognised that govemance
requirements and needs will evolve over ime. Our ambition
continues to be the achievement of best-in-class corporate
govemance acress the Group.

BOARD STRUCTURE

GROUP CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWCRK

At Laing O'Rourke, pride is taken in what has aready been
achieved. Our Group Governance Framework continues to be
applied across our global business and was reviewed during
FY21 in line with our annual review cycle.

We take the view that good corporate govemance is a
cornerstone fo the creation of a successful business and one
that generates value for wider society. As it did for the financial
year ended 31 March 2020, the Board has decided fo continue
to voluntarly report against the Wates Principles at a Group
levelin order to promote fransparency and acccountability.

Board of Directors

Group Sustoinability
Commitine

Europe Hub
Executive Cammittee

Businass Unit/
Functional Committess

Charity Committes - k

Austrolia Hub
Executive Committee

Inclusion and Wellbeing
Committee

Business Unit/ -
Functional Committess

Laing O'Rourke Corporation | : 12



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT CONTINUED

Sit John Parker GBE FREng -
Group Chairman

Sir John Parker, Chairman at
Laing O'Rourke, has built up
an enviable reputation across
a range of industrial sectors as
a leader in the boardroom,
including Chaimnan at six
FTSE1CO companies. Sir John
also chairs the Remuneration,
Nemination and Governance
Committee and the Finance
Committee.

A former President of the Royal
Academy of Engineering and
a visiting Fellow at Oxford
University, he takes a keen
interest in the development of engineering technology and
talent, a core value of Laing O'Rourke's global business.

Des O'Rourke - Group
Deputy Chairman
Shareholder and co-founding
director of the Laing O'Rourke
1. Group, Des provides Board
level support to the Chairman
and the Chief Executive
Officer in the operational
management of the Group's
business activities. Des is alsc a
member of the Group
Executive Committee and the
Eurcpe Hub Executive
Committee.

Des has a proven frack record
in project delivery, mobilising large teams of people onto
complex projects around the world.

i Ray QO'Rourke KBE ~ Group
Chief Executive Officer
Shareholder and co-founding
" director of the Laing O'Rourke
Group, Ray chairs the Group
Executive Committee and is
responsible for leading the
strategic direction and
operational management of
the Group's business activities.
Ray also chairs the Australia
Hub Executive Committee,
Europe Hub Executive
Committee, the Europe
Inclusion and Wellbeing
Committee and is a member
of the Finance Commitiee
and Remuneration, Nomination and Governance
Committee.

Ray founded R O'Rourke & Scnin 1977 and commenced
tfrading the following year. The business acquired the
construction arm of John Laing plc in 2001, and with the
acquisition of Barclay Mowlem in 2006, crected foday’s
extended intemational engineering construction group. Ray
has a passion for developing and promoting engineering and
project delivery talent to meet global construction challenges
and has a keen focus on safety performance.

. Rowan Baker - Group Chief
Financial Officer

Rowan joined Laing G'Rourke
in September 2020 as the
Group's Chief Fnancial Officer
(CFO). Rowan is also a
member of the Group
Executive Committee, the
Finance Committee, the
Australic Hub Executive
Committee and the Europe
Hub Executive Commiftee.

An experienced finance
executive, Rowan joined Laing
O'Rourke from McCarthy &
Stone pic, where she held the
role of Chief Financial Officer and played a key role in the
company's successful IPO in 2015. Prior fo joining McCarthy &
Stone in 2012, she worked in finance for Barclays Bank plc and
professional services for PwC. Rowan has a master's degree in
Law from Cambridge University and is a qualified accountant
{FCA) and chartered tax adviser,
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT CONTINUED

Greg Branch ~ Non-
Executive Director

Greg joined the Board as an
independent Non-Executive
Director in Septemiber 2018.
Greg also chairs the Audit and
Risk Committee and is &
member of the Finance
Committee.

Previously, Greg was a Senior
Parther at Deloitte LLP and built
Deloitte Offshore over 27 years
inte a highly successful business.
Key skills include succession
planning, strategic planning,
finance, audit and corporate governance. Greg has
significant experience in working closely with Audit
Committees of listed companies and large private
companies.

Seamus French - Non-
Executive Director

Seamus joined the Board as an
independent Non-Executive
% Directorin May 2020. Seamus is
IR Clso 0 member of the Finance
Committee.

Seamus joined Anglc American
in 2007, acted as CEO of Anglo
America's bulk commaodities
business and in his cumentrele is
responsible for the Group's codal,
iron ore and nickel businesses. He
also sits on their Group
Management Committee. Before joining Anglo American, he
worked In a range of chemical and resources business,
including as Global Vice President and a member of the
Executive Committee at BHP Billton.

Chartotte Valeur - Non-
Executive Director
Charlofte was appointed to the
Board as an independent Non-
Executive Director in March
2018, Charlotte has more than
30 years’ experience in the
financial industry and has heid a
range of executive and non-
] executive directorships in listed
% organisctions, including Kennedy
~ Wilson Europe Real Estate Plc, 3i
Infrastructure Plc,
Blackstone/G30O Loan Financing
© Lid, DW Catalyst Fund Ltd, NTR
Plc, Renewable Energy Generation Ltd and JPMorgan
Convertibles Income Fund Ltd. In addifion to her role on the
Board, Charlotte is @ member of the Laing &'Rourke Audit
and Risk Committee, the Remuneraticn, Nomination and
Governance Committee and the Finance Committee.

Jim Edmondson ~ Group
Company Secretary
Jim joined the Group in January
2018. He is a solicitor of the
Supreme Court of England and
Wales and a forrmer joint senior
partner of a major Lendon law
firm with responsibilities for
strategy, thought leadership,
nurturing of client relationships
and business development. Jim
also specialised in advising on
corporate structures, succession
planning and the application of
j proper administration and
corporate governance in the context of directorships and
trusteeships.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT CONTINUED

GROUP EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Ray O'Rourke B Des ‘ourke, Cathal O'Rourkei
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER DEPUTY CHAIRMAN MANAGING DIRECTOR AUSTRALIA

0 200

Rowan Baker, Madeleina Loughrey-Grant, Josh Murray,

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER GROUP LEGAL AND TAX DIRECTOR GROUP DIRECTOR - PEQPLE,
CORPCRATE AFFAIRS, OFFICE OF THE
CEQ

John O'Connor, Rebecca Hanley, Andrew Wolstenholme OBE,
GROUP COMMERCIAL DIRECTOR GROUP STRATEGY & GROUP TECHNICAL DIRECTOR
TRANSFORMATION DIRECTOR

Key:

e Group Executive Committee (GEC)
° Europe Hub Executive Committee (EEC)
° Australia Hub Executive Committee (AEC)

Lang O'Rourke Corporation | 15



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT CONTINUED

s 3 e

OTHER COMMITTEE MEMBERS AND MEMBERS OF THE LEADERSHIP TEAM, EUROPE HUB

Glenn Sheedy, Joanna Vezey, Declan McGeeney,

DIRECTOR OF STRATEGY, TECHNICAL DIRECTOR DIRECTOR,

CUENTS & MARKETS INFRASTRUCTURE AND
SPECIALIST TRADING

o

Paul McNerney, Barry Dye, Mike Bufalino,
DIRECTOR, BUILDING DIRECTOR, NUCLEAR GRQUP CHIEF DATA &
INFORMATION OFFICER

BUSINESS UNIT LEADERSHIP

Peter Lyons Martin Staehr Alex Warrington
BUSINESS UNIT LEADER, BUSINESS UNIT LEADER, BUSINESS UNIT LEADER,
EXPANDED & EXPLORE CROWN HOUSE SELECT PLANT HIRE UK
MANUFACTURING TECHNOLOGIES

Jason Lowe, Julie O'Dowd,
GENERAL MANAGER, FINANCE DIRECTCR &
MIDDLE EAST DEPUTY GENERAL

MANAGER, MIDDLE EAST

Laing ©'Rourke Corporation |



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT CONTINUED

OTHER COMMITIEE MEMBERS AND MEMBERS OF THE LEADERSHIP TEAM, AUSTRALIA HUB

Jim Sloman, Paul Milne, Andy Hunter, Annabel Crookes,
EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN DIRECTOR, DELIVERY DIRECTOR, DELIVERY DIRECTOR, LEGAL

Mark Dimmock, Helen Fraser, Sarah Crennan, Simon Chatwin,
DIRECTOR, GENERAL MANAGER, TECHNICAL DIRECTOR DIRECTOR, COMMERCIAL
CLIENTS & MARKETS PEOPLE

® =

Paul Teasdale, Richard Coleman,

DIRECTOR, FINANCE GENERAL MANAGER,
HEALTH, SAFETY AND
ENVIRONMENT

BUSINESS UNIT LEADERSHIP

Nathan Mitschuinig.
GENERAL MANAGER,
SELECT PLANT HIRE
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT CONTINUED

SPECIALIST AND TECHNICAL APPOINTMENTS

Samantha Hoe-Richardson Vicky Bullivant Dr Kate Goodger PhD

BOARD ADVISER, GROUP HEAD OF GROUP HEAD OF
SUSTAINABILITY & SUSTAINABILITY HUMAN INNCVATION
CLIMATE CHANGE PERFORMANCE

Adrian Spragg Dushyant Shrivastava Elizabeth Peters

GROUP HEAD OF DIGITAL HEAD CF DIGITAL, HEAD OF DIGITAL
AUSTRALIA OPERATIONS, UK

Rossella Nicolin Tiffany Grimwade Andrew Dudley Georgina North
TECHNICAL LEADER UK, TECHNICAL LEADER UK, HEALTHCARE DELIVERY OPERATIONS LEADER,
STRUCTURES CIVIL & GEOQTECH LEADER, UK ALSTRALIA
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT CONTINUED

KEY MATTERS CONSIDERED BY THE LAING O'ROURKE CORPORATION LIMITED BOARD DURING
THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 INCLUDED:

TOPIC/ACTIVITY

ACTIONS

PROGRESS

STRATEGY &
SUSTAINABILITY

FINANCIAL
PERFORMANCE

" Reviewed sﬁofegy for transformation in Europe

and Australia Hubs looking forward 1o 2025,
Detalled analysis of market and sector
strategies and how forecast growth is realised
by application of innovation in the form of
digital technology. the Group's vertically
integrated model and modemn methods of
construction.

Development of a new value proposition for FY22 by
engagement with stakeholders, clients and people.

Regular "stock fake" by the Board fo monifor progress of
fransformation.

Considered and approved a new
sustainability stirategy for the Group,
incorporating environmental and diversity
performance targets to support cument
ambiticns to achieve operational net zero
emissions by 2030 and 50/50 staff gender
balance by 2033.

' Approval 1o oppoirﬁ a G_roup Head of Sustainabiity and

to appeint sustainability “ambassadors” throughout the
business.

Investment in R&D and moderm methods of construction
fo support low carbon products.

Requirement for project teams to reflect the community
in which they operate.

Careful monitoring by the Board 1o maintain a redlisfic
view of progress towards environmental and diversity
targets. Details on the KPls which have been approved
by the Board and against which progress will be
measured are outlined on pages 47 10 49,

Considered and approved a new responsible
decision-making {RDm) Framework for the
Group as a key enabler for our transformation
strategy to deliver our ‘Deliver 2025’ mission.

Reviewed the opproprioten'ess of the Grdﬂaé

corporate structure in context of Board and
shareholders’ continuing dnve for simplicity.

making (RDM] in all aspects of business.

New structure implemented for the Australia HUb 1o
better reflect the geographical focus of operations and
licensing requirements.

Streamlined ownership structure for the Group
implemented.

Evaluated the Group's performance against
budget and forecast,

Detailed reports to each Board meeting from Group
Chief Financial Officer and Group Commercial Director,

Details on the KPiIs which have been approved by the
Board and against which progress will be measured are
outlined on pages 47 1¢ 49.

Ecrly response 1o the challenges presented by
the operational impact of the Covid-19
pandemic,

Programme of frequent Board and finance sub
committee meetings, and in the UK, use of fudough and
HMRC 'time to pay' schemes and self-help salary

reductions and strict discipline on overheads.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT CONTINUED

Reviewed Boora?ompoéi‘rion.

PROGRESS

Approved appeintment 1o the Board of Rowan
Baker {(CFO) and Seamus French as an additional
Non-Executive Director.

Considered succession planning for senior roles.

Considered “Purpose” from an individual

Succession planning continuing to evolve under
the stewardship of Group Chairman Sir John Parker.

Executive initiatives around defining what
‘purposeful leadership' looks like as the business
starts to consider defining its overall ‘purpose’.

Considered need fo establish additional Grou-p
roles in key areas supporting the Croup's 'Deliver

Reviewed Execulive Development Programme.

two yeqr initiative involving some 30 execulives.
The purpose is to enable each executive to review
personal progress aside from every-day tasks, and
to enable the business to amve at an cbjecfive
analysis of bench strength in order to inform

Appointments of Group Head 'ofSusfcfnobiIify, a
Croup Chief Data & information Officer, and
Group Head of Risk and Internal Audit approved.

Excelient executive engagement assisted by

professicnal coaching in core areas of purposeful
leadership and high performance.

tracking and reporting identification and

TOPIC/ACTVITY ACTIONS

LEADERSHIP

& PECPLE
leadership perspective.
2025' mission.
succession planning.

RISK MANAGEMENT

& INTERNAL

CONTROLS

management of risks arising directiy from the
Covid-19 pandemic and Brexit.

Regular reporting to the Board by legal and
commercial functions.

Approval of the appeintment of a new Head of
Risk and internal Audit, reporting directly to the
Non-Executive chair of the Audit and Risk
Committee.

Approval of ‘Project Certainty’, a develoepment of
the Group's project operating model which
places projects and people at the heart of the
business and is central to the ‘Deliver 2025 mission.

Laing O'Rourke Corporation |

infroduction of 'Project Certainty' on a number of
major new projects.

A focus on inclusicn and wellbeing and an
approach called 'Engineered Safety’ as central to
the way in which the Group goes to work.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT CONTINUED

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

The structure of the Corporate Governance Statement follows
that of the Wates Principles. Each of the Wates Principles has
been considered individually and in the context of Laing
O'Rourke's operations.

LAING O'ROURKE

CERTAINTY

PRINCIPLE ONE
PURPOSE AND LEADERSHIP

As an engineering and consfruction crganisafion, Laing
Q'Rourke is committed o playing a vital role in building
stronger and maore sustainable communities and contributing
to economic growth. The Group is committed to the
development of a workforce culture based on what is
described as *Excellence Plus’ performance,

At the heart of the business is the ambiticn to become the
recognised leader forinnovation and excellence in the
construction industry — achieved by means of a strategy based
on the values of the founding shareholders, whe remain the
two shareholders of the Group today and continue fo inform its
direction. These cims are clear, powerful, and relevant to the
pusiness challenges of today and tomomrow and form a
compelling guide to the goals of the Group and how they will
be achieved.

The Group's strategy is implemented through our 'Deliver 2025
mission, further getails of which are set out on pages ¢ and 10.

2 3

PEOPLE RESILIENCE
+ +
NEXT-GEN METHODS RESPONSIBLE
AND TECHNOLOGY -+ DECISION MAKING
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT CONTINUED

The Board appreciates the importance of engagement and
diglogue with its employees and wider stakeholders to
communicate the Group’s strategy. governance and culture.
Details of how and why we engage are set out on pages 27 to
2% in our reporting against Principle six (Stakeholder
Relationships and Engagement] of the Wates Principles.

The Board has spent time during the financial year considering
‘purpose’ from an individual leadership perspective, setting
executive inifiotives around defining what 'purposeful
leadership’ looks ke as the business now starts 1o consider
defining its overall ‘purpose’. The Board is conscious of a need
to share and embed the Group's ‘purpose’ and to use it to
help dnve long-term and sustainable success.

CONDUCT AND ETHICS

The Board sets and leads behaviours and culture 1o support the
delivery of the strategy. There is a formal process for the Board
to manage and approve conflicts of interest within the director
group and directors are required to inform the Board of any
actual or potential conflicts of interest which may arise with
their other professional or personal interests.

The Board has approved the Group's Code of Conduct, which
sets out behaviours acceptable to Laing O'Rourke. The Code
of Conduct defines Laing O'Rourke’s commitment to
operating globally in accordance with ethical standards ond
the behaviours that are expected of employees, supply chain
partners and other stakeholders. The aim is to go beyond
minimal compliance. The Code of Conduct: 'Doing the Right
Thing' can be found on the Group's website.

We have continued to develop our Group ethics and
compliance pregramme, conducting a comprehensive
compliance controls review in March 2021. Compliance
improvements in the financial year focused on strengthening
the controls embedded in our supplier onboarding and third
party due diligence procedures and developing further the
Group's modern slavery controls and how we can best
incarporate meaningful KPls inte cur compliance programme
to better assess our progress in tackling modern slavery risks.

MOGHLIGHTS:
— Extended the UK third party due diligence process to include
sources of funding for client projects — July 2020

— Strengthened the UK due diigence compliance controls
within the supplier onboarding process — September 2020

- Updated the Group and UK Modern Slavery Statement —
Cctober 2020

— Reviewed memiership and performance effecfiveness
across our Hub Compliance Committees — January to
February 2021

- Established a Group Modern Slavery Sub-Committee -
Felbruary 2021

— Reviewed the Europe Hub Complionce Commitiee
performance effectiveness - February 2021

- Refreshed Europe Hub population of compliance
champions — February 2021

- Reviewed and assessed Group compliance controls — March
2021

- Provided modern slavery fraining to UK site-based office
managers — March 2021

PRINCIPLE TWO
BOARD COMPOSITION

In addition fo four Executive Directors, four independent Non-
Executive Directors are appointed to the Board. They help the
Board to maintain objectivity and bring experience from
different perspectives and chailenge from outside the sectors
in which the business operates.

The Board is led by Sir John Parker, independent Non-Executive
Director, as Chairman of the Group. The Board further
comprises the Chief Executive Officer {with a clearly defined
role, separate to that of the Chairman}, the Deputy Chairman,
Chief Financial Cfficer, three further indepenadent Non-
Executive Directors and the Group Company Secretary.

The size and composition of the Board is considered to be
appropriate for a business of this size and complexity,
appropriate for the Group's strategic needs, challenges of the
organisation ond effective decision-making.

The Board delegates the day-to-day operation of the Group
through a structure of executive committees (see page 12),
which regularly report into the Board and provide clarity on the
Group's business needs. The Group’s shareholders are Board
members, enabling a full understanding of shareholder
interests.

The Audit and Risk Committee and the Inclusion and Wellbeing
Committee are chaired by Non-Executive Drectors in order 1o
ensure independent challenge and influence across the
broad range cf issues for which these committees are
responsible. The Board Chairman and the committee chairs
promote open debate and facilitate constructive discussions.
The Chadirman, via the Group Company Secretary, is
responsible for ensuring that directors receive the appropriate
level of information in board papers sufficiently in advance of
meetings to facilitate such discussions.

AUDIT AND RISK COMAITIEE

The role of the Audit and Risk Committee is o monitor the
integrity of the Group's financial statements, to oversee the
relationship with the extemal auditor including a review of
independence and fees and to review the system of internal
financial controls, reporting and management. For the
purposes of the FY21 audit, the Committee met four times in
order to review intemal controls, draft financial statements, the
information supplied by management on significant
accounting judgments and all detail supporting the
cenfirmation of going concem.

PHE INMCLUSKOMN AMD wWELBFING COMMITTER
This Committee is charged by the Board with oversight of the
safety and wellbeing of ail our people, including the
commitment to diversity and inclusion referred to below, Wilth
impiementation of Project Certainty, the Group has developed
a new approach which identifies the safety of our people as
the highest value of the business, achieved through inclusion
and wellbeing, the appiication of Engineered Safety to
‘engineer out' risk, modern metnods of construction involving
digital technology and offsite manufacture and an emphasis
onh human performance through leadership and capacity.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT CONTINUED

Board members have equal voting rights when making
decisions. The specific modus operandi of the Board is set cut
in the company's articles of association, a copy of which can
be requested from the Group Company Secretary. All directors
have equal access to the Group Company Secretary and
may take professional advice if desired at the Group's
expense.

The Group is confident that the Board has the right skills and
experience to discharge its duties effectively. The directors are
clear on the amcunt of time required for their role and are
careful to balance this with the reguirements of other roles (see
biographies cn pages 13 and 14).

wWhile the Board calendar was impacted in the year by the
Covid-19 pandemic, the Board aims to schedule regular visits
to major projects and directors are free to request such
information as they may wish on any aspect of the Group's
operations. The Group provides formal fraining for directors
and has a clear commitment to professional development.
The Chairman undertakes a programme of discussion and
evaluation with each member of the Board outside the forum
of formal meetings.

This evaluation includes a focus upon succession, which is
uvnder regular review both at Board and cperational level and
is of particular relevance to the drive for transformation over
the course of the Group's business plan to 2025. The Group has
implemented an executive development programme across
both the Europe and Australia Hubs, with specialist coaching
supported by the team at Global Futures designed to identify
and address development goals.

The Board acknowledges a relative lack of diversity in its
membership which is a common challenge across the
engineering and construction sectors. Laing O'Rourke
continues its aspiration to increase diversity across the business.
Details of how the Group is pursuing that aspiration are set out
below.

DIVERSITY

Our commitment toc becoming a recognised leader of
innovation and excellence within the construction industry has
meant that the year has seen ¢ number of advancements in
driving diversity and creating an inclusive culture, We continue
to make the link between high performing teams and diversity
and psychological safety.

The Board is committed to ensuring that the Group is free of
discrimination and that all employees and other stakeholders
are respected and treated fairly. We have continued to
embed training and develop skills both ensuring that leading
teams are free from harassment and discrimination and by
waorking in respectful ways through our Code of Conduct, our
Pecple policy and varicus fraining modules across our Eurcpe
and Australia Hubs.

DIVERSITY — CASE STUDY

Qur hubs have driven developrment and delivery of
strategies to ensure that we meet the commitments
oullined in our Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Statement
and that we respond to the issues raised in diversity and
inclusion surveys conducted the previous year.

Qur Europe Hub has established several sub-committees
focused on diversity issues, each with a senior sponsor,
which allows any employee to contribute to the leaming
and decision-making around diversity issues which are of
interest fo them. The groups have increased in
participation and engagement throughout the yvear.

The Australion Hub has focussed on the recruitment of
women, increasing overail female participation from 30%
to 32% by the end of the financial year. The Hub has also
delivered strongly against the Reconciliation Action Plan,
which was established in 2019, and by the end of year
had more than tripled our spend with Indigenous
businesses. During FY21 our Australia Hub delivered
mandatory training for alf project leaders in how to
become 'upstanders' and call out harassing or
discriminatory behaviour.

Laing O'Rourke Carporation |
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PRINCIPLE THREE
DIRECTOR RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board has approved a Group Governance Frameawork
which was reviewed during the financial year and which sefs
out the responsibilities and accountabilities allocated to the
Board and its committees. This forms the basis of the Board
induction process for a new director. Other training is provided
as idenfified during a director's tenure.

The Group Governance Framework provides a clear
understanding of roles and responsibilities, linking to paolicies
and procedures and delegations of autharity, supporting
effective decision-making and independent chaflenge, in tum
delivering long-term value o the Group and to stakeholders.
Governance processes are reviewed on aregular and
ongoing basis as part of the Group's commitment fo corporate
governance outlined in the opening paragraphs of this report
on page 12.

The Board delegates day-to-day management of the Group
to the Group Executive Committee and Executive Committees
in each of its Hubs report directly into the Group Execulive
Committee. The Board further delegates detailed and specific
matters to the other committees mentioned whose rele it is to
consider specific issues of relevance to Group govemance
and to recommend a course of action to the Board. The Board
retaing ultimate responsibility for any final decisions.

The Non-Executive Directors are wholly independent and have
no materal business or other relationships with the Group which
might influence their independence. judgement or decisions.
The Board believes that the relaticnship between the
company and its shareholders works well and that the Non-
Executive Directors can fulfil their roles in an independent and
constructive manner. Non-Executive Directors act as chairs of
the Board and other key committees.

Directors are aware of their statutory and ethical duties in
relation to potential conflicts of interest which may
compromise objective decision-making. If an actual or
potential conflict of interest arises, the Board (or one of its
Executive Committees) will manage the matter as
approprate. The existence of an actual or potential conflict of
interest may be highlighted by a director or the Company
Secretary. Depending on the circumstances, any conflicted
director may be asked to abstain from contributing to the
discussion or voting.

At a subsidiary level, gppointments to the boards of operating
subsidiary companies are reviewed and cligned with
membership of the Group Executive and Hub Committees and
the business unit and functional leadership structure. Business
Unit Leaders are at the heart of operations, enavling direct
engagement with the relevant business unit employees and
other stakeholders such as clients.

All directors and Business Unit Leaders receive meeting papers
and information through a secure digital portal managed by
the company secretariat. Board and committee papers and
supporting information are expected to be timely, accurate,
clear, comprehensive and up to date, with a clear indication
of what is requested of each recipient.

PRINCIPLE FOUR
OPPORTUNITY AND RISK

The Board oversees a continuous assessment of risks affecting
the Group and has in place the necessary oversight
procedures for the identification and effective mitigation of risk.
Set out below are some of the key controls and procedures
that form port of the framewcrk for management of the
Group's principal risks identified on pages 39 to 46 under "Risk
Management'.

Following review of the Group'srisk and complfiance
programme, regular reporting to the Board across o range of
compliance requirements and risk appetites has been
formalised through the Group and Hub Compliance
Cormmittee structure to continue to strengthen the diclogue
between the Board and the Group's executive teams
responsible for management of risk. We will continue to focus
on improvements fo our corporate risk management
framework aver the next reporting pericd, to ensure that it is
fully ‘risk enabled’ to best support the Group in achieving ifs
strategic objectives.

RISE AND INTERM AL AL

The recently appointed Group Head of Risk and Intemal Audit
reports directly to the Audit and Risk Committee with o
mandate that is entirely independent of the Board and the
Executive Committees.

PROIECT SECEGARTN F AUTHICRITY

Strong project governance is fundamental to our resilience
and certainty — two of the five conditions of our 'Deliver 2025
Mission outlined on page ¢ that supports the Group’s strategy.
The Project Delegation of Authority is approved by the Board
and details the cascade of authorisations required for key
project related decisions, including all project gateways,
project related contracts and key supply chain approvals via a
risk based approach for decision-making. A digital ‘risk
calculator' tool helps staff identify and assess risks and select
the right delegation of authority for the decision. The aim is fo
maintain absolute alignment, while reserving autherity at the:
level of the Board, Group Executive Committee and Hub
Executfive Committees to consider the highest risk decisions.

Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, the Australia Hub's review of
the risk-based Project Delegation of Authority was delayed.
The Austrdlia Hub continues the use of a value and fime-bosed
delegation of authority untilit is determined how a similar
approach could be vsed.

PROIECT GATENATS

Laing O'Rourke relies on a govemance framewaork fo manage
opportunities and risk, provide confrol and maintain an
enduring sustainable enterprise. Formal governance gateways,
coupled with the Project Delegation of Authority, are in ploce
to provide core controls. There are ten project gateways,
spanning from opportunity identification, bid stage, delivery
and through to final handover. All gateways must be
authorised in accordance with the Project Delegation of
Authority.

Qur Governance Committees at Group and Hub levels
continue to regulary review and work on improvements to the
gateways, ensuring that they are streamlined, standardised
and integrated in day-to-day octivities so that govemance
becomes an integral part of how each person goes fo work.
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Bid seftlement meetings make sure that the right people are
together at the right fime to discuss and reach alignment on all
kids, ensuring that the offers made to clients are risk balanced
and robust. Where appropriate, members of the Board and/or
its Executive Commiittees attend bid settlement meetings.

LA el

L2y
OuriGMS (integrated Group Management System) outlined on
page 41 contains Laing O'Rourke’'s enterprise-wide
management system, knowledge and information. This is the
repository for all processes, procedures, technical information,
general information, guidance, templates, checklists and
learning, which enables people to be organised for success
and provides guidance on how they should go to work. Key
policies and procedures are approved or endorsed by the
Board and/or s relevant committees prior to publication in
IGMS.

Part of the Group's long-term strategy is to have simple and
seamless structures, processes, systerms and tocls to enable
smarter working. Through our Transformation agenda - see
page 7 for further details — the Group is placing greater focus
on resilience and certdinty to deliver against promises
encompassing quality, cost and time. To achieve this, it is
necessary to embed a behaviour of delivering what has been
promised ana complying with core business processes.

During the financial year we continued a Group wide effort to
align processes and procedures o hamess best practice,
achieve consistency in the way allin the business go to werk
and to drive continuous improvement. This included:

- the infroduction of a tisk-based consistent approach to our
bid process;

- improved project mobilisation process that will support the
successful establishment of a project in a structured ond
consistent manner; ang

- defailed review of the procedures, guidance and templates
in both Hubs that support our project gateways to ensure
that all content within the iIGMS is up to date and accurate.

el
AR

Qur digital sfrategy remains focused on delivering value for our
custorners — from the way in which we envisage solutions to
how we operate and deliver value, driving transparency and
certainty within all our activities.

During the financial year we have focused on further
developing the digital and data capabilities within the Group;
bringing in the right skills, developing our people and defining
the processes to deliver against a programme of work to
accelerate our digital transformation.

Moving forward into FY22, we have recognised the need for a
Group Digital Director {appointed in April 2021] and to have in
place a talent acquisition plan, with strong digital and data
capabilities and insights from different industries, to drive our
strategic objectives and to deliver custemer value through
improved ways of working enabled by digital technologies. We
have attracted talent, like finance, energy generation and
mobile technologies, increasing our overali capaocity to create
and mobilise our pians.

In the year, we have also launched our new Data Academy to
up-skill our existing people through o data analyst
apprenticeship programme in partnership with Multiverse, This
apprenticeship is creating deeper crganisational capabilifies
with the aim of accelerating change through impreoved data
analysis and delivering exciting and sustainable careers for the
future with a strong emphasis on succession planning.

In March 2021 the Board approved the digital fransformation
programme which focuses our plans on several key initiatives
such as confinuing to build our global data platform and our
clients and markets analytics both of which are critical to
evaludting new prospects and 1o ensuring that our future
workload aligns with our strategic objectives.

A key focus area for our Technical function is using digital
technologies to deliver the right information, at the right time
and to the right people. This will be achieved through our
Design Partner Framework which was developed throughout
2020 and enables our inferal and external design teams fo
deliver an integrated digital design which ensures that the
engineering is complete and clash free. We are also focusing
on establishing a clear pathway through our Digital Horizons to
move from partial adoption of digital design tools —Horizon 1 -
to fully generative and parametrised design — Horizon 3 —
aligning with the requirements of modem methods of
construction (MMC).

Digital will enable us to deliver the targets that underpin our
approach to MMC by achieving 70:60:30 — 70% of construction
components manufactured off site, 60% improvement in
productivity, and a 30% improvement to the delivery schedule
—and 0:0:.0 - zero Incident, zero defects and zerc carbon.
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PRINCIPLE FIVE
REMUNERATION

The Remuneration, Nomination and Governance Committee,
chaired by an independent Non-Exaecutive Director has clearly
defined terms of reference. its main function is fo make
recormmendations 1o the Board for the Group's remuneration
structure and fo align remuneration to the long-term
sustainable success of the Group. Total Directors' remuneration
is disclosed in note 7 to the financial statements.

S LA s r s
S AR TR A EL

Remuneration of directors of our subsidiary companies is based
on their particular management role and responsibilities, rather
than their appointment as a director of ¢ specific legal entity.
Accordingly, remuneration of these directors is reviewed and
set by the Group Chief Executive Officer or Hub Managing
Director on behalf of their employing subssidiary, taking inte
account any relevant input from the Remuneration,
Nomination and Govemance Committee.

The challenges noted in the Chairman’s and Chief Executive's
Statements constrained the ability to undertake any general
review of remuneration in the year. Work has, however, been
undertaken on developing the project leader bonus plan (as
noted below) and on the wider question of rewarding
performance throughout the business, the aim being to
leverage the substantial investrnent in training and
development. The Group takes the view that rewards based
upon productivity are appropriate for all without differentiction.

GUNDER BAY AP REPORTIG

Decisions around pay. promotion and reward are a critical
pillar to ensuring we attract and retain high performing
fermoales.

The Group has complied with Gender Pay Gap reporting
requirements in both Hubs and has taken action to ensure that
systemic bias is eliminated from our processes and decision-
making. Our Board is confident that our people are paid within
the same salary bands for the same roles. Our gender pay gap
is driven by the lower representation of women in higher
paying roles.

Cur succession planning, focus on parhicipation ot women in
development programmes, and fargets to increase
recruitment of women into non-traditional roles, are all
impacting positivety on reducing this gender pay gap and the
Board is confident that while this will take time, progress is being
made. Details of how the Group is pursuing those aspirations
are set out on page 23.

Over the year the outcomes of the Group project leader
bonus plan have been reviewed and gender has been a key
consideration in this redesign. The decision has been made fo
increase the number of participants in the scheme which will
provide the opportunity for more women to participate in the
revised plan.

A significant opportunity o enable more women to reach
senior levels in our business has been through embracing
flexible and dynamic working models. Qur commitrment 1o
sustainable high performance provides a framework for both
men and women to increase their energy and capacity
through working and living in a more sustainable way. This has
led to many changes in how people on projects work, thereby
making the construction industry a more attractive prospect fo
women. This focus and our continued focus on MMC - see
page 10 - dll lead the Group to have confidence in the ability
te bring more women into senior roles in the coming years.
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PRINCIPLE SIX

STAKEHOLDER RELATIONSHIPS AND ENGAGEMENT

The Board collectively — and its directors individually — are clear that relationships with stakeholders are an essential part of the
foundation of the business. Effective and meaningful engagement with stakeholders requires regular diclogue.

An understanding of stakeholder groups and their interests enables the business to take account of their needs and concerns,

allowing for the creation of value for all.

HOW THIS STAKEHOLDER GROUP INFLUENCED
BOARD / COMMITTEE DISCUSSIONS AND DECISIONS

STAKEHOLDER
GROUP HOW WE ENGAGE
OUR CLIENTS We invest in early engagement with clients prior

to any fermal decision-making processes aiming
to gain insights into their needs, challenges,
expectations and pricrities, as well as
demonstrating the experience and capability of
taing O'Rourke to strengthen our position as a
tfrusted adviser. We dlso seek early engagement
with key influencers to clients including
consultants and indusiry bodies to ensure they
fultly understand our capabilities and offering.

Working with clients in this manner, and
implementing ¢ detailed ‘strategy fc win'
planning process, has allowed us to
demanstrate business values around innovation
and excellence and the benefits of our in-house
capabilities. to strengthen relationships with
clienfs and fo deliver certainty.

The way in which we engage with clients is
strategically planned through this process, with
diversity in engagement activities such as
capability workshops, site tours, presentations
and events depending on the existing
relationship with the client and the purpose of
engagement.

To address mobility restrictions during the
Covid-19 pandemic, Laing C'Rourke’s
engagement portfclio evolved to include
virtud! project and factory tours, thought
leadership activities and forums — all of which
were held remotely while encouraging
participation from clients. This approach
continued to create opportunities for
collaboration, learning, as well as a platform to
demonstrate capability and offering during the
challenging global circumstances. interviews by
independent inferviewers continued to take
place with clients, offering a ‘live’ source of
feedback for how Laing O'Rourke is performing
in the market and on projects.

Underpinning the approach to engagement is the
Board's commitment to continuous improvement
through consistent project level feedback across the
project portfolio. During the year arefresh of our 2015
perception study tock place to gain insight into the
perspectives hald about us from several key stakeholders
including clients. The insights from this study confirmed
the value that clients see in our approach, while
informing the Board on areas for further refinement in our
offering and identifying the opportunities that underpin a
sustainable pipeline of work across priority sectors.

The Laing O’Rourke 2025 Transformation Agenda
incorporates five conditions {resitence, certainty, people,
nexf-generation methods and technology. responsible
decision-making) to achieve our strategic cbjectives
and to become the recognised leader for inngvation
and excellence in the construction industry. The prictity
conditions for this year endorsed by our Board and
Group Executive Committee included resiience and
certainty, focusing on client engagement, productivity
and digital data,

We updated cur client engagement strategy and client
relationship management processes and platforms,
improving our productivity and digital data and
simplifying complex business systems and models to
enable the Board and our Executive Committees to
consider and guide our engagement with clients and
influencers throughout the lifecycle of a project, from
pursuit to tender and through to delivery.

Our updated client relationship management system is
centralised digital system, proviging alignment across the
business and delivering consistent and transparent
reporting 1o the Board and our Executive Committees on
arange of issues including client feedbback, key
performance indicatars for engagement with clients, our
performance on projects and ‘lessons learnt’ to
upcoming cpportunities.
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STAKEHOLDER
GROUP HOW WE ENGAGE

OUR PEOPLE Connecting effectively with our people during the yearto

hear and understand their views became more important
than ever as the Covid-12 pandemic spread across the
globe.

The Group pricritised communication, engagement and
support for our workforce through many different channels
including:

— Daily, weekly or monthiy employee communications from
senior leaders;

- Making toolkits available to managers to ensure that they
could cascade consistent information to their teams in a
personal way; and

- Increased interactive communication with our peaple
through extension of our in-hcuse media channel 'LOR
Live' o remote platforms, facilitating real fime Q&As with
thoughts and opinions encouraged from ali stoff,

Communication was procactive and interactive via LOR Live
{monthly live broadcasts by our leadership teams), cur
internal social media channei on Yammer, Laing O'Rourke’s
intfranet, weekly townhall sessions across the business and
project visits [where possible} with leadership briefings. The
primary focus was ensuring that all colleagues were safe on
sites and in offices and that their wellbeing and mental
health was being supported in the face of increased
challenges in balancing work and family environments.

We refreshed our annual staff engagement survey in
November 2020, with strong scores recorded across both
Hubs particularly regarding confidence in leadership. pride
in working for Laing O'Rourke and overall staff
engagement,

HOW THIS STAKEHOLDER GROUP INFLUENCED
BOARD / COMMITIEE DISCUSSIONS AND DECISIONS

Managing the safety of our people was the
prionty for the Board and our Executive
Committees as they managed the business
through the particular challenges of the Covid-19
pandemic and a key factor taken into account in
all operational decisions regarding cccess to our
project sites and offices.

The Board and our Executive Cammittees took a
proactive interest in how the pandemic would
impact our future ways of working, with staff
surveys across both Hubs asking our people to
share their experiences of working remctely and
fo consider how their roles could change into the
future. The resulfs of this survey were
overwhelmingly positive around the support
provided to our people and their desire for the
business to move towards new ways of flexible
and dynamic waorking. The Board has endorsed
this approach, with pilot schernes implemented
across our project and office environmenits.

Other initiatives considered and endorsed by the
Board and our Execulive Committees during the
financial year included:

— Roll out of the Energy Project (one of the
Group's wellbeing Initiatives) across both Hubs
with support and fraining;

- Providing support initiatives to help those
working from home, raising mental health
concerns and caring for dependants; and

— Provision of increased annual leave to support
people balancing the challenges of working
fromn home and the anxiety associated with the
Cavid-19 pandemic.

OUR SUPPLIERS  In July 2020 more than 150 suppliers aftended Laing
O'Rourke's virtual conference to continue te engage our
UK supply chain on the Group's *Deliver 2025' mission. This
was reinforced by further communications with our supply
chain throughout the Covid-19 pandemic, ufilising our
strategic partnerships to collaborate and mitigate the
impact of the pandemic on our projects.

In Australia, our supply chain engagement plan dllocated
internal relationship managers to each of our key supply
chain partners to ensure we are building frusted
relationships and providing a consistent engagement
experience. A supply chain forum to mark the
commencement of our supplier relationship programme
was held in Sydney in March 2020, with satellite events
hosted in Brisbane, Melooume and Perth. Each event was
hosted by a member of the Hub's Executive Commiittee
and facilitated a robust conversation about the
opportunities ahead.

Strategic partnerships with key suppliers are further
supported through the issue of joint communications,
sharing supply chain best practice and collaborating with
mutual stakeholders. These highlight how partnerships bring
benefits to the delivery of projects and drive innovation
throughout the industry.

will be critical in helping the Group achieve ifs
‘Deliver 2025 mission to become the recognised
leader for innovation and excellence and
achieve stretching sustainability targets. Members
of the Board and our Executive Committees
participate in supply chain forums.

Updates on significant activities and
developments within our supply chain are
provided to the Board and cur Executive
Committees and taken info account when setting
or approving annual budgets, performance
targets and making long term strategic decisions.

Supplier payment praciices are regulary reviewed
and Laing O'Rourke remains a committed
member of the UK's Prompt Payment Code.
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STAKEHOLDER
GROUP

HOW WE ENGAGE

HOW THIS STAKEHOLDER GROUFP INFLUENCED
BOARD / CORMMITIEE DISCUSSIONS AND DECISIONS

OUR LENDERS

OUR
COMMUNITY

GOVERNMENT Through our Irade bodies, the UK's Construction Leadership

The Group operates strict controls over working capital and
cash management, engaging proactively on these controls
with its lenders. A regular and fransparent reporting dialogue
is maintained with lenders, including monthly update calls
and touch paints, visits to projects and our manufacturing
facilities, strategy and general business updates and
repcrting against agreed financial performance mefrics.

‘Ata 'p_rojecf level, we engage with a wide range of local

stakeholders to keep themn informed of our local initiatives
and progress on projects, which deliver significant econornic
and social value to local communities.

We use a wide range of communication channels {including
social media) fo maximise the effectiveness of how we
engage with the local community across our projects.

All financial stakeholders have direct access at
all times to the Chief Financial Officer, who is
appointed to the Board and attends meetings of
the Executive Committees. This ensures that the
directors and our senior leaders are kept
regularly informed of developments with our
financial stakeholders and that their views are
taken properly into account when making
operational and strategic decisions.

The Board approved the implementation across
both Hubs of a Responsible Decision-Making
Framework. This is our ethical framework
underpinned by universal principles of
sustainability that helps our Board, Execufive
Committees and our people consider our values,
principles and other external factors when
making complex decisions.

“Our regular dialogue with government and

AND Council {CLC) and Build UK, we are party to regular didlogue  regulatory bodies ensures that the Board and our
REGULATORY  with officials at the Department for Business, Energy and Executive Committees are briefed on the
BODIES Industrial Strategy. potential impact of significant developments on

During the financial year, this diciogue was focused on
navigating the Covid-19 pandemic, ensuring construction
activity continued safely and supported national economic
recovery. We also maintained dialogue with centfral UK
government departments responsible for delivery of specific
infrastructure projects, including the Department of Health
and Social Care (DHSC) for hospitals and the Department for
Education {DfE) for schools.

govermnment policy, procurement routes and
changes to laws and regulations.

We are committed to developing and maintaining open and
effective working relationships with regulatory bedies relevant
to our business. Where appropriate, these relationships are
managed by senior leaders in our executive team.

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT — CASE STUDY

In Australics we developed our Covid-19 community response plan which has seen us donate more than AUD$270,000 across
the country to help those who need it most, We wanted to support those businesses, charities and not for profit organisations
that have been impacted and unable to operate and raise funds through their normal channels.

In January 2021 the Australia Hub embarked on its most sensitive community engagement project when it was awarded the
contract to oversee the clean-up in New South Wales following the devastation created by the black summer bushfire season
of 2019/20. Leading the largest natural disaster recovery project ever undertaken in Australia, Laing Q'Rourke managed the
clearance of more than 3,500 damaged properties to enable more than 4,000 people to take their first steps towards
rebuilding their lives during a global pandemic.

From the cutset, our team put the needs of the community at the heart of our engagement strategy and delivery plans.
Mental heatth training was provided to the project team to ensure they were equipped with the tocls required to act with
empadthy and remain resiient in dealing with traumatised communities,

Direct communications plans were put in place to make sure impacted property owners were provided with reliable and
fimely information over email, through a call centre and a dedicated website. Cver the course of the project. the call centre
managed more than 4,500 calls, spent more than 1,000 hours on the phohe and responded to more than 40,000 emails.

The project team hamessed technologies fo map and engage regional supply chains on our Pacific Highway from
Woolgoolga to Ballina project, procuring more than 90 local and regional subcontractors fo the clean-up task.

The project also provided critical economic stimulus to regional communities impacted by bushfires and the Covid-19
pandemic. Our loca-first employment plan put more than 1,000 people fo work across the state supporting recession
impacted communities while providing fraining and up-skilling oppertunities to meet the growing regional skills gap.,
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COMMUNITY AND SUSTAINABILITY

in April 2021, we anncunced new far+eaching global
sustainability targets, in which we committed to:

- Achieve operational net zero by 2030 {scope 1 and 2
emissions};

— Become a net zero company before 2050 (including scope
3 emissions); and

- Achieve 50/50 gender balance amang our 5.500 global staff
by 2033.

while our net zero targets are deliberately ambitious, we can
point to recent progress and ongoing initiatives that will propel
us forward fowards our targets and help us influence progress
across the industry.

We aim to deliver an absolute reduction in Scope 1 and 2
emissions of at least 75% by 2030 — a reduction in total emissions
even as the business grows. To achieve an absolute reduction
in carbon emissions from our directly contfrolled operations, we
have outlined 14 carbon abatement projects across the
Group, which will be tested for impact and viability. The
remaining 25% will be kalanced through carbon removal
activities or offsetting.

We also recognise that most of the Group's emissions relate to
the carbon intensity of purchased matenials ond we need to
move faster to reduce these emissions. It is why we have set
the target of net zero for scope 3 emission by 2050 and
invested heavily in new technologies and partnerships to
progress and collaborate more around this important issue.

HUMAN & SOCIAL
SUSTAINABILITY

Thriving through
diversity end care

Link gender and culturat
diversity to the success
metrics of projects

oW WE WILL pey i

WHAT WE
WILL DO

Over the last decade we have invested £200m in the Laing
O'Rourke Centre of Excellence for Moderm Construction
[CEMC), which is the most advanced concrete products
manufacturing facility in Europe. It wil play a vital role in
delivering the new targets by producing lower carbon precast
components for more of our projects.

With co-funding from the Industrial Strategy 'Transforming
Construction' Challenge, we are working with nine partners to
progress a project called ‘Preduct Based Building Solutions'.
This will streamline the end-to-end project delivery process with
a kit of manufactured concrete components. The project is
targeting 30% operational and 50% embodied carbon
reduction.

Alongside this, the company's R&D team is working on ways 1o
decarbonise manufactured concrete products and in April
2021 as part of a consortium that aiso includes the University of
Cambridge and the University of Sheffield's Advanced
mManufacturing Research Centre, we secured a grant from the
UK's Industrial Energy Transformation Fund {IETF) to part finance
this work.

Our target to become a net zero company, including Scope 3
emissions, is set for 2050 at the very latest with initiatives starling
foday to try and exceed this target.

Qur decarbonisation plan is dynamic and will evolve in
response to advances in technolegy in our Europe and
Australic Hubs. Our aim is to inspire and advocate for
advanced climate action, and to accelerate change by
thinking differently, innovating, and collaborating more.,

ENVIRONMENTAL
SUSTAINABILITY

Shaping @ more
raspansible future

Waork with suppilert to
wmibed scope 3 duto
capture and c

emissiony reduction Wargets.

Achieve opergtional
net zero by 2010

invest in R&D to accelerate
the development of low
carbon products

Be a net zere comgpany

Achieve 50/ 50 geader balance
amang 5,500 global staff by 2033

Optimise design for
sustainobility and the use of
iOR’s enginesring carbon
ceeulotor to suppert elients”
nat zero goals

before 2050

Use our sector leading

expertise in modern 3
methods of construction to
support decarbanisation
and to create safe, inclusive
careers in construction

So far, we have:

Established a strong governance structure
— Appointed Samantha Hoe-Richardson as an Independent
Group Adviser on climate change and sustainability:

- Established a Group Sustainability Steernng Commitiee
chaired by Madeleina Loughrey-Grant, a member of the
Group Executive Committee;

- Appointed a new Group Head of Sustainability, Vicky
Bullivant, to lead a newly created Sustainability function;

” Stp gy MODE““C1\0"\
05 oF consTRY

ENABLED BY:

- Bstablished working groups to bring together the night experts
across various functions in the business to identify key
initiatives to drive our plans forward;

- Impiemented a responsible decision-making framework
across the Group to ensure we adopt autside-in thinking and
prioritise sustainability considerations when making complex
decisions.
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Developed FY22 execution plans across both Hubs that

set out the critical success factors for our net zero and

gender parity ambitions

- Implemented processes 1o remove gender bias in the
evaluation of new eary talent applications, which will
influence the balance of appointments in the 2021 intake;

- Became a partner of the Women's Engineering Society;

- Started to apply the learnings from the successful pilot of o
Gender Diversity Action Plan in Australia, and the STEM+
schools programme fhat is now being delivered on
construction projects in both operating Hubs;

— Invested in our DIMA-led operating model and the upskiling
of our people to make Laing O’'Rourke an employer of
cheice;

— Started to provide our people with more dynamic aond
flexible working options;

— Implemented our welibeing strategy (Life at LOR) across the
entire business to protect people from occupational ill
health, including implernentation of wellbeing lessons
leamed during the Covid-19 pandemic;

- Started fo link gender and cultural diversity cutcomes fo the
success metrics of projects;

- Implemented mechanisms proven 1o increase female
participation in the business such as:

- specific recruitment strategies fargeting women;
- areferaf bonus scheme;

sponsorship of emerging female leaders; and

— mandatory inclusivity training for senior and hiing
Mmanagers.

By implementing these measures, cur business now has 36%
more female representation in senicr project roles in Australia
than 12 months ago.

JIRASNG DOWN ELAISSORG

— We have ordered maore than 1,000 hybrid and electric
vehicles to replace our diesel fleet. The fleet wilt be fully
electric by 2025;

— Commenced the installation of more electric charging
points at our major facilities;

— Purchased the world's first electric crowier crane model, the
Liebherr 1250, with more on order;

— Started trials of alternative fuels in existing plant and
equipment in both Hubs with working groups established to
drive this agenda further forward.

ST AND SUPRLY CHAIN TOULABDORATION

RUSE AR AND DEVELOPAENT

— Committed to being a Net Zero Business Champion of the
Co,nstructZERQO initiative led by the Department for Business,
Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS);

— The Australia Hub is a founding member of the Material
Embodied Carbon Leaders Alliance established by WWF-
Australiq, to drive the reduction of embodied carbon in the
building and construction industry;

— Our Head of Procurement in the Europe Hub is a Board
member of the Supply Chain Sustainability Schoolin the UK
and our sustainability lead in the Australia Hub is a Board
member of the Supply Chain Sustainability Schoolin

Australia. These forums aim to identify methods to up-skil the
supply chain and establish new ieaming opportunities.

All our efforts are underpinned by an overarching pricrity to
improve our data capture systems to better inform our
strategy, focusing particularly on decarbonisation. To that
effect, we’ve developed an intemal carbon calculator aiming
to drive down the embodied carbon content of projects we
deliver. We will supplement this by collakborating with our
supply chain partners to make carbon data available and part
of a standard reporting suife.

Environment

Cur UK and Australion businesses continue te be certified to
the environmental management system I1SG 14001 and our UK
business is also certified o the energy management system 18O
50001. Together, implementation of these management
standards underpinned consistently positive environmentai
performance and substantial energy savings {4,000 MWh
reduction in the UK} made on the previous year's
performance.

Robust energy management supports a wider business
sustainability strategy and. in particular, aids our net zero
strategy by contributing to a reduction in greenhouse gas
{GHG) emissions from its own operations. The UK business has
been recording carbon emissions since 2009 and has reduced
absclute emissions consistently ever since, resulting in an cverall
reduction of 66.73% against base year 2008/09 at the last third
party verification (Scope 1 and 2). The annual carbon footprint
of our UK business continues to be certfied to the CEMARS
standard. Cur Australia Hub reports Scope 1 and 2 emissions
annually as part of the National Greenhouse and Energy
Report Scheme in Australia,

In other areas, environmental focus continues to be on
selecting responsibly sourced and sustainable materials,
minimising the use of natural rescurces, reducing waste and
maximising recycling and diversion from landfill. During the
financial year, 96.7% of non-hazardous waste was diverted
from landfill. Protection of biodiversity and its enhancement is
ancther prionty area —in the UK, for exampie, we are working
to deliver a biodiversity net gain of at least 10% on our East
West Rail project.

Envirenmental training and awareness is essential to support
the Group's sustainability journey and we held a number of
environmental, energy and carbon literacy events throughout
the year.

Globally, we have a team of 80 professicnal environmentd|
sustainability experts who support individual projects and
cenfral business activities. The team includes a variety of
envircnmental subject matter experts and is supported by the
appointments of business unit leads to ensure the
environmental sustainability agenda is implemented across all
parts of our business.

Recent work is also grounded on collaboration with key
internal stakeholders such as the procurement and technical
functions, leading 1o anincrease in overall awareness and to
inclusion of environmental considerations in all areas of the
business. Laing O'Rourke continues to be an active member of
the Supply Chain Sustainability School. the Green Buitding
Council in Ausiralia and the UK, the Infrastructure Sustainability
Council of Australic and the UK's Considerate Constructors
Scheme, working with industry partners to improve
environmental sustainability performance across the sector.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

1 om pleased to present the
financial review for Laing
QO'Rourke. During the year ended
31 Mareh 2021 [FY21), the Group
faced unprecedented challenges
as a result of the Covid-19
pandemic which predominantly
affected the first four months of
the year. The Group traded
strongly in the second half,
however, delivering an overall full
year profit before fax of £41.4m (a
decrease of .0% on the prior year
of £45.5m).

GROUP FINANCIAL SUMMARY FY18 - FY21

Frai FY20 FY19 FY18
o o em) i£m) {m) {Em}
Group revenue 2,503.7 2,448.5 2.753.4 2,758.1
Profit/{loss) before 414 45.5 328  (43.4}
tax
Net cash (note 34) 2761 155.2 1329 89.1

The key achievements can be summarised as follows:

- The Group delivered a solid performance during a
challenging year, resulting in a profit before tax of £41.4m;

- The Group generated a significant net cash improvement of
£120.9m and finished the year with net cash of £276.1m, This
was primarily due fo an increase in operating cash, driven by
a £78.2m decrease in rade and other receivables
compared with a relatively modest decrease in frade and
other payables of £26.6m in the year;

- Group revenue has increased by 2.1% year on year, to
£2 5bn;

- The UK core bank debt was repaid and refinanced on 4
October 2021, with a new unsecured Revolving Credit
Facility for £35.0m put in place, with an expiry date of 3
October 2023;

- All debt has now been repaid since the yearend in our
Austratia Hub;

— Gross margin decreased from 10.7% to 9.4% for the year
ended 31 March 2021 due to the impact of Covid-19 on
productivity and safeguarding costs in the Europe Hub
during the yecar; ond

~ At the year end the Group had an order book of £7 9bn
[FY20: £8.2bn} which represents ¢.three year's revenue [order
book is defined as the value of work outstanding on secured,
anticipated and preferred bidder contracts}, Our key focus
has been on converting our pipeline to secured work, which
stood at £5.8bn at the year end (FY20; £4.8kn). This remcins a
priority for the remainder of FY22,

GROUP SUMMARY INCOME STATEMENT

FY21 FY20
_ (em}  GEm
Revenue 2,503.7 2,448.5
Gross profit* 2385 2622
Gross profit %* ?.4% 10.7%
Pre-exceptional EBIT 76.0 83.6
Statutory EBIT 69.9 729
Profit before tax 41.4 45.5
Profit after tax 284 349
Net cash (note 34) 2741 155.2

* Pre-exceptional

The Group's statutory EBIT declined by £3.0m to £69.9m from
£72.9min FY20.

The Group's reported performance is stated after incurring
certain exceptional items; these are summarised on page 34.

In FY21, underlying performance was again impacted by an
incredase in costs relating to Covid-12. Four major projects —allin
constrained city centre locations — were suspended as aresult
of the pandemic but only one site was significantly impacted
by potentially imecoverable Covid-19 costs. This was largely
due to a regionally mandated extended shut down period at
the start of the pandemic and high levels of required isolation
periods in FY21. This led to an increase in costs recognised on
the project of £14.1m. During FY21, all sites were able to remain
open with additional safeguarding and Covid-compliant
procedures in place,

Within the Group numbers are corporate costs relating to
cenfral services. oversight and compliance fo the rest of the
Group.

EUROPE HUB FINANCIAL SUMMARY PERFORMANCE

FY21 FY20

) (sm) el
Revenue 1.6134 1,807.8
Gross profit* 144.5 166.7
Gross profit %* %.0% 9.2%
Pre-exceptional EBIT 90.3 77.4
Statutory EBIT 90.3 75.1
Profit before tax 704 555
Net cash 118.0 1062

* Pre-exceptional

The Europe Hub gross profit has decreased by 13.3% to
£144.5m mainly due to the reduction in volume caused by the
Covid-1? pandemic.

UK underying gross margin percentage has also decreased,
primarily due to increased costs around safeguarding sites and
reductions in productivity incured due to Covid-19.

Tne Group's share of cumulative losses in Canada increased
marginally by £5.5m fo £214.0m. The project is nearing
completion and the Group is not expecting any further
material losses.

The hospital in Canada hias been operational since October
2017 and the Group's only role in the project now consists of
responding to any residual obligations on Phase 1 and
monitoring its interface obligations in respect of Phase 2 which
achieved substantial completion on 16 Aprilt 2021 [delivered by
alocal centractor).
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The Europe Hub statutory EBIT increcased to £90.3m [FY20:
£75.1m) despite the decrease in gross profit due to Covid-19
mitigation {salary sacrifice and fulough) and intra-Group
management fees,

AUSTRALIA HUB FINANCIAL SUMMARY PERFORMANCE

Fy21 FY20

(em) fomy
Revenue 890.3 640.5
Gross profit* 9.3 81.7
Gross profit %* 10.8% 12.8%
Pre-exceptional EBIT 388 39.9
Statutory EBIT 327 316
Profit before tax 273 26.6
Net cash 189.1 81.2

* Pre-exceptional

The Australia Hub statutory EBIT has increased by £1.1m year on
year. This improvement would further increase to £10.3m,
however, If prior yedr infra-group management fees are
excluded. The underlying resulf for the Australia Hub's
continued sfrong performance In FY21 is as aresult of a move
towards more collaborative pricing structures that have
generated more stable prefits and the finalisation of certain
projects during FY20. The underlying growth in FY21 compared
to FY20 was mainly driven by the NSW Bushfires Make Safe &
Clean Up contract and the South East Program Alliance
package of works.

COVID-19

Duwring the year the Group received grant income of £9.5m
from the UK Government's Coronavirus Job Retention scheme
in order to support the business through the UK's national
lockdown during the first four months of FY21. This has been
netted against the related employee expense presented in
administrative expenses. As an emergency measure af the
beginning of the Covid-19 pandemic, staff also took a
voluntary pay cut between 1 April and 31 July 2020 ranging
from 20-30% depending on their pay grade. All staff returned to
full pay from 1 August 2020. The Australia Hub was largely
unaffected by Covid-19 during FY21.

EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

During the year the Australia Hub incurred exceptional legal
costs of £3.8m {FY20: £3.2m) in respect of material contract
legal issues (EPC Cryogenic Tanks). The Australia Hub also
incurred costs of £2.3m in respect of restructuing costs (FY20:
£nil).

The Europe Hub incurred no costs in relation to restructuring
(FY20: £2.4m).

EPC CRYOGENIC TANKS

The loss to date on the EPC Cryogenic Tanks contracts, which
terminated in FY17, amounts to £40.3m and represents costsin
respect of delays and other matters in which the recovery of
our contractual entittement s being sought in addition fo other
substantial claims that have not been recognised in contract
revenue at 31 March 2021, No contract kosses were incured in
FY21 on this project, although legal expenses continue to be
incumed.

FUNDING

The Group's net cash position (cash less debt but excluding
bank arangement fees and the impact of odopting IFRS 14}
improved from £155.2m at 31 March 2020 to £276.1m at 31
March 2021 . This improvement was driven by increasing cash

from both contracting and investing activities as well as a
decrease in confract assets of £24.8m and an increase in
contract liabilities of £81.4m, The Group also repaid £56.5m of
core debt and fees.

The Group operates extensive controls over working capital
and cash management with proactive engagement of its
financial stakehaolders.

The Group has complied with all banking covenants during
the year and has not required any waivers or relaxation of its
covenants throughout the impact of Covid-19 to the date of
signing of these accounts.

The Group financed the balance sheets of its three main
operating temtories (UK, Australic and the UAE} independently
of each other,

The contracting model and financing environment faced by
the Group in each of these temtores is distinct and thus the
mixture of arangemenits differs between temitories.

As well as debt instruments, such as bank lcans and overdrafts,
thes Group uses project related bonding and guarantees to
support its activities. The use of these instruments is prevalent

in each of the Group's temtories. They are: largely issued by
insurance coempanies but also by other financial institutions.
These bonds are issued on behalf of contractors fo their clients
and provide compensaticn in certain circumstances, such as
defined aspects of contractor under perfformance. They can
also be used to underwrite client advances and relaxation of
client retentions.

These instruments convey significant rights to the issuers similar
to those conveyed to other financial institutions, e.g. fees,
covenants, reporting requirements and ranking in the event
of financial distress.

Over the last five years the Group has sought to reduce its use
of these instruments predominantly in the UK. however it is still
common practice in Australia fo provide surety bonds and
they have therefore increased by £28min FY21.

The Group does not employ supplier payment facilities in any
of its temitories.

Since the year end, on 4 Qctoper 2021, the Group has
refinanced its existing facilities; further details are provided
under the UK Core Debt section below.

GROUP BONDS AND GUARANTEES

Fr21 FY20 FY19 FY18
(Em) {£m) {£m) {Em)
Surety Exposure 222 197 203 238
Bank Exposure 141 157 189 236
UK funding
UK CORE DEBT:
FY21 FY20
{£m} (Em) Term
RCF/Term Debt 108.7 1590 3vyears
Property loan 137 13.7 3 vyears
Other loans 422 4446 3vyears

The core debt shown above had an expiry date of 31
December 2021.

Since 2016, the Group has pbeen targeting a reductioninits
gross bank delbt, supported by improved frading results and
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careful cash management. By the end of July 2021, the entire
total bank debt of AUD$37.5m (£20.7m} in the Austratia Hub
had been repaid. The Group repaid £50.3m of RCF/Term debt
during FY21 and cn 4 October 2021, the Group fully repaid its
remaining RCF/Term Debt facility (inciuding Arangement fees)
which was due to expire on 31 December 2021 and the entire
sharehclder loan {including accrued interest) of £58.3m was
converted to equity. On the same day, the Group sighed an
agreement for @ new unsecured Revolving Credit Facility with
HSBC far £35.0m. The new loan has an expiry dafe of 3
October 2023. This new facility incentivises or pendlises Laing
O'Rourke depending on its progress against key sustainability
metrics: reducing carbon intersity, diverting waste from landfill,
and growing the number of women in project delivery.

In addition to core borrowing arangements, the UK business
utilises hire purchase and finance lease funding facilities to
support the acquisition of plant and equipment.

In the UK, bonding and similar instruments have continued to
reduce by £3m to £107m at 31 March 2021. The UK business has
reduced its exposure by over 41.3% since FY18.

UK BONDS AND GUARANTEES

FY21 FY20 FY19 FYi8
Surety Exposure 52 55 84 108
Bank Exposure 49 49 54 64

Austratia funding

The Australian business was financed by an AUD$37.5m
subordinated debt facility which was repaid in full in May 2021
[AUD$12.5m) and June 2021 (AUD$25.0m).

AUD$60.7m of the bank guarantees facility was drawn at

31 March 2021 (March 2020: AUD$58.0m). There are also
surety bonding facilities, from which AUD$307.9m was drawn
at 31 March 2021 (March 2020: AUD$287.0m).

The Australian business utilises tease funding facilities to support
the acquisition of plant and equipment and is subject to the
requirements of the security of payment legislation which
ensures prompt payment of supply chain.,

United Arab Emirates funding
The UAE business unit activity is supported through access
to bonding fines provided by a majer Jocal bank,

At 31 March 2021, the business had AEDnIl drawn on its
overdraft and utilised AED293.0m of bonding (FY20:
AED362.9m).

The overdraft facility is annually renewable {in line with Husiness
practice in the tenitory}.

In the UAE, the business seeks to conform with industry norms
regarding payment of supply chain.

ASSET DISPOSALS

On 28 May 2020 Laing O'Rourke Plc sold 5,000 shares cut of a
total holding of 7,000 shares in its joint venture Yorkshire
Learning Partnership Limited for £7.0m, with a Group profit on
disposal of £0.8m. On 6 October 2020 Laing O'Rourke Pic sold
the remdaining 2,000 shares for £2.8m, with a Group profit on
disposal of £0.1m. During the year the Group fransfered its
100% equity helding in PFP Robotics Pty Limited to Presien
Holdings Pty Limited in exchange for 2,750,000 shares in Presien
Holdings Pty Limited at AUD$2.00 per share. Laing O'Rourke
Austratia Pty Limited's sharehoiding held in Presien Holdings Pty
Limited at the year end is 26.19%.

ORDER BOOK

The Group order book stood at £7.2bn (FY20; £8.2bn]

on 31 March 2021, While overall this Is considered a strong
performance, despite the ongoing market uncertainties, the
Group needs to convert its pipeline to achieve its business plan
and this will remain a key focus throughout FY22.

We confinue fo target gpportunities in line with our sirategy of
mdaijor projects and strategic frameworks in our core markes,
which align with our operating model.

In the UAE, we continue to target opportunities in Dulbai and
Abu Ohabi, where we have a permanent presence and a
strong track record.

The Austrdlian order book has improved at 31 March 2021 to
£1.6bn compared with £1.3bn in FY20. This increase in the order
pook has been driven by successful bids for new projects and
scope increqses in existing projects.

TAX

The Group takes its social and economic responsibilities
seriously and pays the appropriate amount of taxin all
couniries where it operates. The Group recorded a corporation
tax charge of £13.0m in the year (FY20: £10.6m) and cument tax
payable at 31 March 2021 was £3.7m [FY20: £3.2m).

The Group has open tax issues with a number of revenue
authorities. Management makes a judgement of whether
there is sufficient information to be able to make ¢ reliable
estimate of the outcome of the dispute. If insufficient
information is available, no provision is made. These estimates
take into account the specific circumstances of each dispute
and relevant extemnal advice, are inherently judgemental and
could change subsiantially over time as each dispute
progresses. At 31 March 2021, the Group had recognised
provisions of £5.3m in respect of uncertain tax positions (FY20;
£7.5m).

Factors offecting the tax charge in future years are set outin
Note 12, 'Income Tax', specifically the UK Gevernment
announced increase to the corporation tax rate from 19% to
25% (applicable from 1 April 2023). The Group has recognised
deferred tax assets of £33 .2m which relate to canmied forward
losses nrelation to the UK operations and these assets would
have increased by £6.4m to £39.6m, had the rate change
announcement been substantively enacted at 31 March 2021.

PENSIONS

The Group operates several pension schemes with leading
industry providers in Europe and Australia. These are defined
contribution schemes and, as such. aside from regular monthly
contibutions, there are no outstanding pension liakilities.

INSURANCE

Insurance broking globally is consolidated with Marsh, given its
fechnical expertfise in arranging insurance for engineering and
canstruction-based projects, combined with international
market coverage.

The Group carefully monitars the balance between insurance
risk retained by the Group through its insurance captive, and
that which we purchase in the external market.

Curliability insuraince profile closely tracks and comelates with
our safety performance — High Potential {PC1) events
increased by 6% in FY21, against the numbers reported in FY20.
Despite this, we remain comfortable with the level of insurance
nsk we are camying intemally.

Laing O'Rourke Corporation | 35



FINANCIAL REVIEW CONTINUED

GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The Group caries £323.4m (FY20: £319.2m} of goodwillin the
consolidated statement of financial position. The movement
year-on-year is due to foreign exchange fluctuations. Goodwill
is not amortised under international Financial Reporting
Standards but is tested annually for impairment. In accordance
with AS 34, the recoverable amount has been tested by
reference to four-year forecasts, discounted at the Group's
estimated weighted average cost of capital.

As at 31 March 2021, based on the internal value-n-use
calculations, the Board concludea that the recoverable value
of the cash-generating units exceeded the carmying amount.
Details of this test can be found in note 13 to the financial
statements.

FINANCE AND TREASURY POLICY

The Group's tfreasury function has continued to prudently
manage the Group's liquidity, funding and financial risks arising
from movements in areas such as interest rates and foreign
currency exchange rates. The Group has not entered into
foreign curency hedges. The Group confinues to review its
credit support requirement and pricritise the management of
key financial stakeholders, including key banking relationships
and surety bonding providers who support our long-term
strategic agenda.

UK CONSTRUCTION WORKING CAPITAL AND SUPPLY
CHAIN PAYMENTS

The UK business continues to target improvements in its supplier
payments and is fully engaged with curent discussions
regarding payment prachces.

Since the end of the last recession, access to fradifienal bank
funding by fier one and sub-contractors alike has reduced due
to g loss of appetite for the sector by UK banks. Reliance on
off-balance sheet support has alse become tighter due to a
reduction in the atfractiveness and the availability of bonding
and guarantee facilities.

Tier one cash flow is particularly sensitive to the length of time
taken to agree and settle changes and variations, the
quantum of and duration over which cash retention is held by
clients and the reluctance of clients to pay for the significant
cost and risk of mobilising a major project and the offsite
manufacture of components.

All parties involved in the sector must collaborate te provide a
more modem appreach to payments and providing
adequate working capital to avoid the current ‘hand to
mouth' frickle dewn of liquidity.

In terms of payment data, the UK businesses reported their sixth
set of payments practice data on 30 April 2021, for the six
months to 31 March 2021 .

Since April 2018 significant progress has been made in
reducing average payment days and increasing the
percentage of invoices paid o terms or within 60 days. During
the 18 months to 31 March 2021 the Group's performance has
remained stable. There is still progress to be made by the
Group in achieving payment to alt suppliers within terms. The
UK's Prompt Payment Code {PPC) also announced in January
2021 that companies will be obliged to pay smali businesses
within 30 days, which is half the previous 0 days.

Laing O'Rourke became a signatory of the UK's Prompt
Payment Code in 2013 and remains committed to improving its
payments' performance.

The graphs below show Laing C'Rourke Construction Limited's
payment performance for the three years tc 31 March 2021,
Laing O'Rourke Construction Limited is the main trading entity
in the UK, a wholly cwned subsidiary of Laing O'Rourke plc,
and is the main entity subject to the PPC.

The first graph shows how average payment days have
reduced since April 2018 and remained relatively stable since
Cctober 2019. The second graph shows the improving
percentage of invoices paid within 60 days. The third graph
shows improving perfermance of payments made within terms.

Graph One: Average days

Graph Two: All suppliers and subcontractors, % invoices paid
under 60 days

NN

Graph Three: All suppliers and subcontractors, % invoices paid
fo ferms
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RISK AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Group's risk management framework and processes are
largely unchanged from FY20. Since the year end, however,
greater focus s being placed upon developing and
enhancing our sk management framework and the work of
the Risk and Internal Audit function, particularty in seeking to
identify issues across all operational phases of delivery.

The Board continuously assesses and monitors risks affecting the
Group. Further details of how the Group has managed key
financial and cperaticnal risks, such as credit and liquidity risks,
are set out on pages 32 to 46 under 'risk management'.

Laing O'Rourke reports its consolidated financial statements in
accordance with Intemational Financial Reporting Standards
as adopted by the European Union and Companies {Jersey)
Law 1921. The Group's significant accounting policies and
rmeasures are explained in the notes o the financial
staternents on pages 63 to 100.

IMPACT OF BREXIT

To date, there has been no moterial negative impact of Brexit
on current live projects. Input price inflation and material
shortages have begun to affect sites but theirimpact is being
carefully managed via contractual terms and longstanding
supply chain relationships. Curent challenges with staff
recruitment and aftriion and unexpected inflationary pressures
in areqs such as fuel and deliveries to site are largely mitigated
through our direct delivery infegrated model and direct
employment. These risks, together with inflation risk, are
considered to be containable within existing project
contingencies and will be monitored closely going forward.

The Board will continue to monitor the potentialimpact of
Brexit and inflation on the UK business environment and
remdains vigilant regarding the need to respond to changes in
market conditions such as freedom of movement, right to
work, finance and tanff implications, disruption to supply of
plant and equipment and key construction components,
exchange rafes and primary commaedity prices as a result of
the agreement.

OUTLOOK

The Group has been impacted by the effects of Covid-19
during FY21 and delays caused during the first four months of
the financial year have largely kbeen mitigated through
considered and decisive management acticns.

Management has however remained focused on
strengthening the foundation of the business through
continuing to embed new processes and controls on project
selection, cperational delivery, and risk and assurance.

QOur 2022 forecaost and the longer-term delivery of our ‘Deliver
2025' mission is predicated on continuing to win sufficient
opportunities within our pipeline, the continued
implermentation of our successful business model and strategic
workstreams ond the ability to contain the impact of any
further delays or disruption to supply chain within existing
project contingencies.

Whilst the impacts of Covid-19 have become clearer and are,
for the most part in the UK, behind us, the full impact of the
combination of Covid-19 and Brexit is still yet to be seen.
However, the Beard remain confident that the strategic plan
can be delivered. This has been explained in cur going
concem note on pages 53 and 54 and the impact of cimate
change on our forecasts and future performance has been
explained in note 2.27 (d) on page 71.

The impacts of Covid-19 on the Australia Hub are changing
rapidly and include regional lockdowns, reduction in site
capacity or short-term shut downs, However, we are confident
that the impact on projects will be minimal given the short-term
nature of these restrictions and the continued roll out of the
Covid-19 vaccine in Australia which will allow lockdowns to be
ifted.

The Board remains confident in the resilience of the business
and its leadership due to its proven track record against a
challenging market backdrop.

The Australian Govemment's 10-year infrastructure investment
programme {announced towards the end of 2020} and their
intention to level up the country has strengthened the outlook
for the construction sector cver the next decade and the
Austraiia Hub is well positioned o respond to this. The UK
Govemment has now lifted the remaining legai restrictions
relating to Covid-1% safeguarding which should enatle our
sites to run even more efficiently going forward. However, while
restrictions were lifted during July and August 2021, we will
continue to proceed with caution and our Covid-19 safe
measures will rernain in place on our sites and in our offices for
as long as we deem it necessary, and in compliance with
Construction Leadership Council (CLC) guidance.

The Group continues fo invest in developing a sector leading
capability in modem methods of construction. Qurintegrated
delivery model, strong client engagement and robust internal
control environment ensure that we are well positioned to
continue to win work. The Group also contfinues to work closely
with the UK Government as a strategic supplier in order to
deliver much needed hospitals, schools and infrastructure in
support of their investment agenda. The Group has continued
to convert its strong pipeline throughout the Covid-19
pandemic and continued conversion of this pipeline is the
Board's main pricity for the remainder of the current financial
year.

The Group now has ¢1% of its expected FY22 revenue either
secured or anticipated and 63% of its expected FY23 revenue
is at the secured, anficipated or preferred bidder stage.

The refinancing of UK core debt that was due fo expire on 31
December 2021 was completed on 4 October 2021 and now
has an expiry date of 3 Cctober 2023.

As a result, the Board has considered the Group's financiai
requirements, based on curent commitments and its secured
order book, as wel as the iatest projections of future
cpportunities, against its banking and surety bonding
arangements, and has concluded that the Group is well
placed fo manage its business risks and meet its financial
targets successfully.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

PROACTIVELY AND EFFECTIVELY MANAGING RISK
THE EFFECTIVE MANAGEMENT OF RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES
1S FUNDAMENTAL TO THE DELIVERY OF THE GROUP'S
OBJECTIVES, ACHIEVEMENT OF SUSTAINABLE GROWTH,
PROTECTION AND ENHANCEMENT OF ITS REPUTATION,

AND UPHOLDING THE REQUIRED STANDARDS OF
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE.

GROUP RISK MANAGEMENT

SN LAY O BOURYD s AR AT RISK

The Group's structured approach to risk management is based
on the principle of prevention through early icentification.
Detailed analysis and decisive action planning are caried out
to remove or mitigate the potential for and impact of key risks
before they occur, Asrisks and uncertainties materialise, this
structured approach alse ensures actual issues are effectively
dealt with,

The Board and senior management are committed to the
protection and eplimisation of the Group's assets, which
include human, financial and strategic resources, through the
consistent application of an effective risk management
process, augmented where necessary by insurance. The
Group is equally committed to the effective management of
material operatfional risks, covering important non-financial
and reputational risks arising in health and safety,
environmentalimpact, business conduct, cyber secunty and
the impact of pandemics.

The Board and Group Executive Committee have overall
responsibility for ensuring that risk is effectively managed across
the Group to guarantee full compliance with the legislative
and regulatory reguirements in the jurisdictions where it
operates. The Board delegates certain risk management
activities to designated subcommitiees. Risk is a regular
agenda item at these senior management forums and

an integral component of the Group's periodic strategy
review process.

This ensures the Board has a full appreciation of the principal
risks affecting business operations as well as a comprehensive
oversight of how they are being managed in line with our
Group risk appetite and Risk Management Palicy.

The Board considers Laing O'Rourke’'s internal control systems
to be effective and appropriate with the speed of response to
recent events demonstrating the strength and maturity of
these systems.

The Board reviews the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management systems including the key sources of risk, the
monitoring of their status and the comresponding mitigation
plans. Risk reporting at the operational business unit level is
structured so that key risks can be escalated rapidly through
the management team, and ultimately fo the Board where
necessary. The increased risk associated with cyber security is
subject to menitoring by the Board and the monitoring and
assessment of threats arising from pandemics require significant
input from each of the tenitories where we conduct our
business.

The individual businesses can tailor and adapt standard risk
management processes to suit the specific circumstances of
their respective operating environmenis. In doing s, they must
always adhere to the underlying principles of the Group's Risk
Management Policy, which is to confinuously identify, analyse,
plan and provide for, report and monitor the principal risks
through established control procedures, Qur ‘risk aware’
culture supports this, with staff involvement at ali levels to
premote an environment of learning from experience, in order
to adapt and continudlly improve our controlk and
communication on risks.

Project risks are monitored and reported by our project
leadership teams and reviewed oy business unit operationcl
management at monthly contract reviews,

This process covers the financial and scheduled performance
of projects and is overseen by the Commercial function.

The Business Plan Review process supplements the contfract
reviews by providing focused weekly productivity data for
analysis and review at all management levels.

Reporting structures and mechanisms ensure that project risks
are continually menitored and significant exposures can be
escalated from project level to business unit level and
ultimately to the Group Executive Committee and the Board.
All business unifs with allocated project responsibilities must
have assurance mechanisms to assess the likelihood and
potentialimpact of risks and to ensure actions can be taken to
mitigate and elminate them, while strengthening our internail
centrols and systems to manage the recurrence of such risks at
any point in the fulure.

Furthermore, Laing O'Rourke is striving to assess risks and viable
opportunities collectively, that will enable more efficient
prioritising of time and effort throughout the business.
RN AL CONTRECLS

The system of intermal risk controls is detailed through policies
issued by the Board, the govermnance framework, the
delegation of authority, gateway authorisations and through
the project lifecycle controls in the form of procedures and cre
located within our management system, the IGMS (integrated
Group Management System). This ensures the structured
approach to risk is accessible by all of our pecple to effectively
manage across our businesses.

During FY22 we are investing in a new Risk and Internal Audit
function. the chjective being to ensure that our processes are
on a parwith those seen in operation at premier listed
businesses. To facilitate this we appointed a new Head of Risk
and Internal Audit in early Summer 2021 whose remit s to
review and enhance our risk management and internal audit
processes where necessary.
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RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED

IDENTIFYING
RISKS

Risks are identified at a corporate and
project level and monitcred regulardy
as their impach and probakility may
change over ime. Principal risks are
consolidated into a principal risk register,
which is reviewed by the Audit & Risk
Committee and reported to the
Group Executive Commitiee
ang the Board

2

ANALYSING RISKS AND
CONTROLS TO MANAGE
IDENTIFIED RISKS

The process evauates identified risks
to ascerfain the degree of financial and
non-financialimpact on the Group,
together with the causes. Consideration
of the appropriate controls required
1o successfully mitigate the risks is also
undertaken, which enables identified
fisks fo be pricritised for action.

OPERATIONAL GOVERNANCE

GLOBAL CODE OF CONDUCT

Laing O'Rourke believes laws and regulations act as our
minimum integrity standards, and we constantly seek to go
beyond this level. The Global Code of Conduct articulates
how we expect every employee ond confracted supply chain
rartner to maintain the highest standards of conduct in all our
dealings, vpheld in every activity, every day, wherever we
operate,

By seftting the expected minimum standards of business
conduct in different areas of our work, the Code is integral to
the way we do business af Laing O'Rourke. Compliance with
the Code provides heightened assurance of our business
affairs, which in turn supports the leng-term sustainability of the
Group by encouraging more ethical and effective
relafionships and stimulating deeper economic. social and
envirchnmental contributions where we work. The Code applies
globally, and its development and application are the
responsibility of the Group Executive Committee.

LAING O'ROURKE'S
ASSESSMENT OF
STRATEGIC, FINANCIAL,
OPERATIONAL AND
PROJECT RISKS

REPORTING
AND MONITORING

This type of robust mitigation sirategy is
subject 1o ngorous and ongoing review
by acccuntable management. and is
supported through the Group's internal
audit processes, The Audit & Risk Committes
evaluates the effectiveness of sk contrals
deployed and reports its findings
to the Group Executive
Commitfee and fhe Board
an a regular basis.

o

DETERMINING
MANAGEMENT ACTIONS
REQUIRED

Existing and addtional risk controls
will be agreed and responsibilities
assigned to appropriate 'nisk-owning'
management forums for
implementation.

GROUP POLCIES

Our Group policies underpin the Global Code of Conduct and
are based on govermment laws and regulations that impact
upon every Laing O'Rourke business and every employee. The
policies establish and define the infemal rules that everyone
must comply with to conduct business effectively. We are
subject fo a growing number of regulations in the jurisdictions
where we operate. This environment demands that every
employee be aware of, knowledgeable about and
committed to excellence in the application of clear, giobal
and mandatory Laing O'Rourke policies.

Laing O'Rourke Corporation | : 40



RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED

PR Tt

management system, knowledge and information. the
repository for all processes. procedures, technical information,
general information, guidance, templates, checklists and
leaming; enabling our people to be crganised for success and
providing guidance on how we want them to go 1o work. All of
the proceduras found within the iIGMS are mandatory where
they are applicable. The iIGMS fully aligns with our operating
model.

The IGMS is divided into four sections:
ENTERPRISE: Corporate policies, processes and procedures;
EMPLOYEE: Individual employee processes and procedures;

PROJECT: Risk control, oversight and governance processes
and procedures required fo be adhered to durng each stage
of a project's lifecycle from opportunity identification through
to handover, ensuring that the project requirements are met;

SUPPORTING INFORMATION: Information fo camy out a work
activity and specific operating instructions for functions and
business units.

Through extensive qudit, cur management system and
performance against it continues to be cenified by the 8Si
against the requirements of the quality stfandard BS EN ISO
P001:201 5. This standard has its core principles as leadershin
and risk-based thinking.

I TGRS TELD RO AL AGERNT S AT

iGMS enables accountable business leaders to fully understand
the critical sign-off procedures in bidding for and securing a
project, and the formal governance approach which must

be observed fo secure optimum performance.

Itis also a vital taol for estabiisning accurate and refiable
assessments of risk and opportunity in commercial and
design activities and is aligned with our health. safety and
environment systems. Tne relevant procedures within iGMS
are mandatory across all projects and compliance and
effectiveness is monitored by ocur central assurance activities.

A key element of iGMS is cur centrally managed and
govermned client relationship management system, Salesforce
and Gateway Authorisation Portal systems capture information
in relation to the ocpportunities the Group is pursuing. and acts
as repositories for supporting documentation. Information
captured in Salesforce and the Gateway Authorisation Pertal is
used across the business to aid collaboration and provide
reporting at all govemance levels, Maintaining opportunity
pipeline information to this ievel of quality and detail helps
ensure ¢l bidding related decisions are fact based and fully
informed, heightening the Group's chance of success

in the tendering phases.

BUSINESS UNIT/ RN IO GUIDELINES

AN PROCEDURES

Business unit and function specific guidelines ensure that
the different operating Hubs and their constituent parts can
effectively adapt their business practices and processes to
suit the markets and sectors in which they cperate. They are
designed tc align with, and complement, Group policies
and stem directly from the IGMS. In addition, they remain
true to both the spirit and the letter of the Global Code of
Conduct and comply with applicable laws and regulations.
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RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL RISKS

The Group Executive Committee has carried out a robust assessment of the principal and emerging risks and uncertainties
facing the Group, including those that would threaten cur reputation, business model. achievement of strategic objectives,

solvency and liquidity.

The Group's principal risks and uncertainties are identified below, together with a description of how we mitigate them.

This list is not infended to be exhaustive, and some risks and uncertainties have not been included on the basis that they are not
considered to be material. to affect or be likely to affect businesses in general, or are not presently known by the Board and Audit
and Risk Committee. However, we have established controls and systems in place to identify and manage these risks.

HEALTH, SAFETY AND SUSTAINABILITY | ~

Risk/Impact:

The nature of our activities presents
considerable threats that could
cause significant harm to
employees, suppliers, clients,
members of the public or the
environment, which could lead

to injuies, health implications,
financial loss/pendities or serious
damage to the Group's reputation.

Due to the complexities of our
projects and working environments
these risks require continuous
monitonng.

Mitigation:

Hedalth and safety is the key focus for Laing O'Rourke and mitigation is a focus at every
level of the Group's govemnance framework. Qur Next Gear global safety campaign is an
integrated programme designed to eradicate serious accidents from our business and
minimise harm by driving continuous improvement through our culfure and leadership.
Every workplace is subject to regular reviews of health, safety and environmental risk with
action taken to monitor those risks and identify both excelience and the opportunity for
change fo be implemented where necessary.

Ultimate responsibility for the management of hedlth, safety and environmental issues rests
with the Board and Group Executive Committee, which routinely monitor performance.
Primary authority for the day-to-day execution of related objectives is delegafed to Hub
and business unit level management committees. Employees are empowered to act on
health, safety and environmental issues but our documented safety management system
{SMS) clearly details mandatory procedural. behavioural and training requirements, is
implemented on every workplace and i continually reviewed and updated.

Qur processes and project controls are also regularly reviewed by relevant external
verification bodies.

The constant review and updating of our established controls, the influence of lessons
learnt and the impact of our transformation programme ensures that everyone is aware
of their personal and comporate obligations.

The Group's global sustainability strategy is well progressed and will be embedded across
all aspects of our operations.

WORK-WINNING )

Risk/tmpact:

Market imitations on delivery of new
business could put pressure on the
business to secure proiects with
inadequate price/frisk profiles or with
difficult client/contractual
arrangements, which could impact
the Group's future profitability and
its reputation with clients, suppliers
and employees resulting in lost
opportunities.

Key:

° Increase in nsk during FY21
® Nochangeinrisk duing FY21
e Decrease innsk dunng FY21

Mitigation:

The Group's approach to project selection is guided by detailed governance and a set of
protocols known as gateways, held on the Laing O'Rourke integrated management
systern, known as iGMS, The Group's project delegations of authority provide clarity as to
who can approve fenders using a risk-based approach which is supported by the
gateway process. Our bid seftlement process ensures that alt aspects of any proposed
new contract con be debated and challenged with full fransparency to mitigate the
[kelhood of excessive risk exposure,

Our end-fo-end delivery capabilty and eary engagement initiatives result in greater
certainty of the build sequence, cost and risk profile pre contract. Tender review meetings
are held fo check progress. understand the win strategy and test the contract risk profile
in fum providing considerations/recommendations where necessary.

Demand for services delivered by the Group can always be impacted by sudden
economic changes and volatility in government and private sector investment,
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PROJECT DELIVERY _

Risk/Impact: mitigation:

The Group continues to defiver Once a project has gone through our rigorous work winning and project selection
innovative, yet complex, govemance process as previously described, Laing O'Rourke’s approach is guided by a
construction and engineering detailed set of protocols and an asseciated project management approach. If there are
projects across a range of any substanitial changes proposed on a project that would deviate from the key ferms
geographies. Any inability to deliver  and delfivery methodology agreed when bidding for that project, then those changes
on time, to budget and must be approved.

to the right qudlity could result
in financial loss or reputational
damage.

Special aftention reviews have dalso been introduced to ensure compliance with proiect
delivery plans and financial forecasts and to ensure we capture lessons leamt for future
confracts.

Laing O'Rourke’s early engagement initiatives, innovative DIMA methodology and our
infegrated end-te-end capabilifies and technical and engineering solutions resultin
greater surety of delivery. Building Information Modelling (BIM) and digital engineering
technologies are used to achieve fime and cost certainty through a full visuglisation of the
build sequence.

Our digital agenda and continuing monitoring of key suppliers and subcontractors are
designed to support the delivery of greater certainty to all our stakeholders.

JOINT VENTURE PARTNERS )
Risk/Impact: mitigation:

Non-delivery by our joint Ourinhouse delivery capabiiity allows the Group to work independgently wherever
venture partners — through poor possible reducing our reliance on third parties. Joint ventures are only established when
performance, financid failure, or the Group's interests are complementary to those of its partners.

reduced capacity or capability —
could impact the Group’s ability to
deliver projects on time, on budget
and to the right quality, and result in
financial loss or reputational
damage.

Laing O'Rourke undertakes a thorough evaluation process to determine the financial,
operational and reputational infegrity of potential pariners before committing to any
formal arangement. The robust process for entering into a joint venture continues to
improve in conjunction with our wider contract confrols, but the ongoing exposures to
joint ventures and other types of aliance continue. Once established, the implementation
of robust govemance procedures throughout the duration of a project ensures
compliance with alt contractuct terms and practices within the joint veniure, Further to this
we have reguiar ‘principals’ meetings with senior executives in all joint venture
orgarnisations in addition to our weekly BPR process.

SUPPLY CHAIN ]

Risk/impact: Mitigation:

Non-delivery by our supply chain—  Whenever specidlist subconifractors are used to meet specific delivery needs, the risk is
through poor performance, mitigated through @ robust selection process, including reviews to assess financial and
financial failure, or reduced operational viabiiity, as well as confractor capacity and capability. Our list of prefered
capacity or capability — could suppliers s regularly reviewed to ensure compliance with Group standards, applicable

impact the Group's ability to deliver  laws and industry regulafions. Furthermare, price inflafion frends and supply chain
projects on time, onbudget and to  feedback are used to betterinform the business of the latest market movernents.
the right quality, and result in
finoncial loss or reputational
damage. Impacts of Brexit will begin
to take effect which could lead to
inflation and materiaf shortages. Due to the price inflation and materiat shortages that have begun to occur the Group
considers this risk 1o remain at ‘increased risk for FY21°.

The UK business has centralised its procurement function with an emphasis on strategic
procurement and has been undertaking a rationalisation of our supply chain to
strengthen relationships with key supply chain partners.
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|

OUR PEOPLE

Risk/lmpact:

inability to recruit, develep and
retain approprictely skilled people,
as well as the avdilability of staff ot
the right pay grade, could impact
the Group's ability to meet curent
commifments and deliver projects.

Mitigation:

People are c primary component of Laing O'Rourke’'s strategy. The Group aims to be

a progressive employer of choice with a clear commitment to equality, diversity and
inclusion and a broad range of career opportunities with attractive reward packages.
The Group actively encourages employee engagement at alllevels. The Group confinues
to maoke a significant investment in fraining and development and conducts detailed
succession planning for key personnel across all jols famifies. Innovative partnerships with
universities also help position Laing O'Rourke in aftracting leading graduates.

The Board has a particular focus on maintaining a balanced level of voluniary staff
attrition and regularly monitors the situation. The Group ensures there are sufficient
progressive programmes in place to develop and refain our people, while recognising
that specific skills and project location scheduling can be influential factors.

The Group’s Head of Innovation and Performance supports our people agenda and this,
together with the continued use of employee engagernent surveys, ensure that
management can develop appropriate actions to support the core business plans. The
Group also has a commitment to achieve an equal number of men and wormen among
its 5,500 global staff by 2033.

Pespite continued pressures in the labour market, our plans have delivered a further
reduction in voluntary staff atfrition.

Due to concems around availability of resource and pay infiation the Group considers this
to be at increased risk for FY21.

FINANCIAL )

Risk/impact:

Inability to secure funding - in the
form of refinancing facilities — could
impact the Group's ability to bid for
work, make investmenits or meet its
ongoing liquidity needs, which could
adversely impact profitability, cash
flow and future growth,

Failure to meet predetermined
financial covenants could lead to
an event of default if any breach is
not remedied within the relevant
grace period.

Mitigation:

Our experienced in-house cash management, freasury and finance teams take a
prudent approach 1o liquidity, constantty monitoring and maintaining sufficient cash
reserves, as well as availlable bank facilities to meet liabiliies and financing needs as they
fall due. The team also takes a proactive stance monitoring and ensuring compliance
with covenants and reporting requirements. Procedures are in place to monitor and
forecast cash usage and other highly liquid cumrent assets, This, together with committed
credit facilifies. ensures that we have adequate avaikability of cash when required.

The Group has ensured that our lender groups are fully informed of all developments in
relation to quidity management on a regular basis and has received full support from the
financial stakeholders throughout the year. This has been particulary important during the
Covid-1% pandemic and the Group has remained fully compliant with all financial
covenants throughout.

Buring FY22 the Group has refinanced its UK core debt facilifies with a new expiry date of
4 QOctober 2023. The growing order book, demand from the infrastructure plans in the
counties where we deliver our services and liquidity initiatives indicate that we will remain
compliant with our covenants. Although the potential consequences of Brexit may stil
result in uncertainty related to conversion of the Group's order book the Board remains
confident this will be delivered during FY22.
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FOLMCAL, ECONOMIC AND REGULATORY

Risk/lmpact: Mitigation:

The Group operates in a cyclical The Graup seeks to maintain a diverse portfolio of projects for both private and public
industry and changes in the clients and a broad exposure 1o several resiient sectors and geographic markets, Laing
economic environment, O'Rourke also maintains a focus on sustainable relationships with key clients, government
government policy and regulatery  deparfments and related regulatory authorifies. This includes members of the senior
developments (including building leadership feam actively participating in many palificat, econormic and regulatory forums
and fire regukations) can have a to share knowledge and, where appropriate, support the develepment of policy and
significant impact on both the legislation.

number of new projects and an
impact on legacy projects, thus
affecting the Group's profitability.

Due to the developments during the last year in the UK poiitical and economic
environment in relation to Covid-1% and Brexit, the Group considers this risk has increased
in the short term ailthough its impact is iessened due to the recent affrmation of
Government commitment to critical infrastructure spend. ’

BREXIT >
Riskfimpact: Mitigation:
Following the UK leaving the The Group has mapped, analysed and continues to monitor the potential challenges that

European Union, the impactof any  have or might resutt from the UK's withdrawal from the European Union (EU) and, to date,
frade agreements and the transiion  has not identified any material negative impact on live projects currently in delivery within
period confinues to creafe the UK construction market in either the fraditional built environment or infrastructure
uncertainty particulary on the sectors, The Group does not deliver services to any country in the EU.

potential delays for importing
materials which may put pressure
(time or cost inflation} on our
financial performance.

To date, there has been no change to the Group's work-winning methodolegies, nor
negative impact on curent live projects nor stoff recruitment. The Board will continue to
monitor the potential impact of Brexit and inflation to the UK business environment and
remains vigilant fo the need to respond fo changes in market condifions such as freedom
of movement, right to work, finance and tariff implications, disruption to supply of plant
and equipment and key construction components, exchange rates and primary
commaodity prices.

PANDEMICS

Risk/Impact: Mifigation:

Covid-19 could have a significant The Covid-19 ciisis is continually evolving, and the Group will continue to develop its

financial and operational impact on  approach in all the areas in which it operates. The hedlth, safety and wellbeing of all cur

our business. people and stakeholders is, and will always be, our priority. We continued to support the
govemment decisions in each of the temitories in which we operate and have confinued
to operate where it is safe fo do so and agreed with the relevant clients. The Group
immediately invoked a crisis management process fo consider and mitigate the impact
of this pandemic and the agility of decision-making had a major effect on our abllity to
targely mifigate the financial impact of all of the consequences of compliance with
govemment guidelines in the UX, Australia and UAE.

|

We continue to monitor developments in relation to this pandemic and the potential
impact on our business activities.

CONDUCT, COMPLIANCE AND REPUTATION

|

Risk/Impact: Mitigation:

Damage to the Group's reputation  The Group has very clear principies governing the way in which it conducts its business
through poor conduct or acts of and expects all employees and partners to act in accordance with its published Global
fraud, bribery, comuption or anti- Code of Conduct and established policies. Continuous awareness programmes ensure
competitive behaviour can high levels of understanding of the Group's expectations and each individual's
adversely impact comorate obligations. The Group aiso provides a confidential independent ‘whisfle blowing’ service
reputation and result in fo encourage the reporting of inappropriate behaviour.

financiatl foss.
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IT, DATA GOVERNANCE AND CYBER SECURITY

|

Risk/Impact:

External vulnerability to attack is

a growing worldwide issue which
could result in erroneous information
entering our systems or commercial
data being accessed without
permission. A serious IT systerms
outage could have an operational,
financial and/or reputational
impact.

Failure to comply with General Data
Protection Regulafion (GDFR)

could have serious financial and
reputational consequences for the
Group. The risk has not increased
since the implementation of GDPR
and our mitigation plans are robust.

SECURITY

Mifigation:

We have made efforts to significantly mitigate the risk during the year through investments
made in our systerns and control. However, it is vital that we maintain a high levet of
vigilance at all firmes.

With the European GDPR regulations and the increased frequency and severity of global
cyber security threats, we have invested in a global security operations centre and the
relevant systems and tools to increase our ability o identify, mifigate and react to cyber
securty events. This increased visibility of potential threats is enabling us fo infervene at an
earlier stage in any such event. In parallel, we have established a number of educational
and awareness sessions including mandatory e-learning and regular ernail
communication to all our people to assist in raising the awareness around these threats.

A cyber plan has been implemented including cyber inteligence sharing with the wider
construction industry. in paraliel we are instigating a set of activities to allow Laing
O'Rourke to maintain its compliance with the Cyber Essentials framework.

We have also conducted a review of external data storage facilities and strengthened
protection of all Group information, by increasing system access controls and significantly
reducing the ability to extract group data.

|

Risk/Impoct:

A serious incident could occur

that is directly atibutable to the
action of one of our employees or
the failure of related processes or
training. This could affect the
Group's reputation, operational and
financial perfformance.

CLIMATE CHANGE

Mitigation:

Central support is provided to ensure that oppropriate checking and vetting of
ermployees takes place. The Group promotes o risk aware culture, with employee
involvement at all levels.

|

Risk/lmpact:

With the climate change and zero
carbon agenda gathering social,
moral and regulatory focus, our
inability to adapt to these pressures
and client expectations could lead
to pressures on our work winning
abiiity.

Mitigation:

The Laing O'Rourke direct delivery operating model has been a key driver to support the
initiatives to reduce our carbon footprint. The Group has adopted modem methods of
construction and is an industry feader in the use and application of its own offsite
manufacturing capabilities. Laing O'Rourke has demonstrated the benefits of the
operating model and remains confident that it can comply with any operational
regulations and client expectations.

The Group's sustainabifity strategy was launched in Aprij 2021, with a public
announcerment of farreaching Group sustainability targets to decarbonise operations by
2030 (scope 1 and 2} and t¢ become a net zero company by 2050 (inciuding scope 3).
The new goals are critical to the company's mission {o be the recognised leader within
construction for innovation and excellence. The Group has also appointed Vicky Bullivant
as Group Head of Sustainability, who will lead a newly created, dedicated sustainability
function and be responsible for the implementation of detailed road maps to deliver the
new sustainability targets.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

MEASURING OUR PERFORMANCE

THE BOARD AND GROUP EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE USE A BALANCED RANGE OF FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL INDICATORS
ACROSS OUR BUSINESS UNITS TO MEASURE THE GRCUP'S PERFORMANCE AGAINST KEY 'DELIVER 2025' STRATEGIC TARGETS,
HELPING TO GUIDE QUR THINKING AND DECISION-MAKING AT EVERY STAGE OF DEVELOPMENT.

SOy ANTE

SR AR S O
FiPeaO s P AN

The Group sets stretching but achievable financial performance targets as part of its annual strategic planning process fo
improve performance from both a cost and revenue perspective 1o drive appropriate financial returns, with
complementary capital structures. These are derived from the Group's consolidated financial statements.

MAANATA D REVEMLY
£2.9bn
(FY20: £3.0bn)

Definifion: Managed revenue represents the amount of sales
generated from the provision of engineering and construction
related services, including the Group's share of joint ventures,
associates and infer-segment sales.

Managed revenue is the most representative reflection
of the volume of work carried out by the Group (see note 4 for
reconciliation).

Performance: Managed revenuve decreased to £2.9bn

(FY20: £3.0bn) during the year. This was attributable to Covid-19
disruption during the first four months of the financial year and
areduction in strategically dligned work winning opportunities
in the Europe Hub.

This also reflects an increased focus on quality of earnings over
volume of sales across our work winning activities glebally.

e
B R

Profit of £6

(FY20: Profit of £72.9m)

9.9m
Definition; Eamings before interest and tax as disclosed in
note 4.

Performance: Earnings before interest and tax have declined
by £3.0m year-on-year due to an increase in costs relating to
Covid-1%. Four major projects — allin constrained city centre
locations - were suspended as a result of the pandemic but
only one site wais significantly impacted by potentially
imecoverable Covid-19 costs. This was largely due to
regionally mandated extended shut down pericd at the start
of the pandemic and high levels of required isolafion periods in
Fy2t.
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OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE

THE GROUP SETS AND TRACKS OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE TO FORM PART OF A CONTINUOUS MONITORING AND
IMPROVEMENT CYCLE THAT HELPS GUIDE THE IMMEDIATE NEXT STEFS IN QUR STRATEGY.

WORK-WINNING AND DELIVERY

We continucusly frack the markefing, adoption and
application of the core elements of our value proposition
across our targeted clients, sectors and markets. We also use
qualitative client satisfaction survey results as key indicators of
our engineering and delivery performance on projects,

o op oy
DA N

iR DR
£7.9b
(FY20: £8.2bn)

Definition: Ordler book represents the value of work outstanding
on secured, anticipated and preferred bidder contracts on a
managed revenue basis.

We define this as either having a signed contract for the full
project or having written confirmation that we are the
preferred confractor and we are confident that the project will
not be cancelled or significantly delayed. It is a key measure of
our success in winning new work and provides visibility of future
eqrnings.

Performance: The Group order book is £7.9bn [FY20: £8.2bn) of
which 74% is secured (FY20: 58%}. This represents c.three years'
revenue. The key target is to convert the streng UK pipeling
and delivery of this represents the Board's main priority for the
remainder of the curent financial year.

FY21 FY20

(£bn} (£bn)

Secured 58 48
Anficipated 1.5 2.1
Preferred bidder 0.6 1.3
Total order book 79 8.2

Management believes that the guality of the overall order
book and underlying order book margins have increased year-
on-year as a result of legacy jobs unwinding and an industry
wide approach o selective bidding, including pre-
consiruction armangements prior to main works.

We continue to build our future workload, with o medium-ferm
pipeline of good quality opportunities in all cur core markets.
At the same time, we will remain cautious in our approach,
maintaining selectivity to avoid bidding for lower margin work
at a time when price competifion in the market remains a risk.

SUPPORT FUNCTIONS

We are refining our business sysfems and processes fo optimise
our assets, capakilities and risk appetite. By working according
o our governance framework and complying with the high
standards set out in our Global Code of Conduct, the Group
will sustain long-term business success.

RN T B TR
RN PR E ey

AT
0. 0
{FY20: 0.11)

Definition: Cur health and safety performance determines

our strength as a business. It is not an isolated measure but
one that defines our success in all other areas of our
operaticns. For this reason, it is central to business improvement
- a precondition of our continued growth and licence to
operate, Accident Frequency Rate {AFR} is an indusiry
standard measurement equivalent to one reportable lost-time
incident resulting in mare than seven working days' absence
per 100,000 hours worked.

Performance: AFR decreased o 0.10 (FY20: 0.11).
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VALUE PROPOSITION

We combine experience with purposeful technology — thart is our difference. Certainty, reliability, security — that is what our clients
want. We start with our highly trained and commitied people. They understand the challenges our clients face, the stakehcolders
they have to balance, and how to work as pariners to manage the construction process and achieve our clients’ dims. We then
layer our people’s expertise with purposeful technology — one of the indusiry's maost transformative tools. By placing innovations
like digital engineering and other modern methads of construction in experienced hands, we can yield powerful results. We know
leveraging the right technology can spark positive change for clients, projects and the wider industry. That is why our 2025 mission
is o be the recognised leader for innovation ana excellence within our sector. Whether we are helping our clients construct the
final link in a major hignway or redesigning a top university hospital in the height of a pandemic, we harness our unique
combination of experience and innovation to ensure projects have a lasting impact. We deliver certainty through the power of
experence.

TUST SRR AT A DT RS R quantitative feedback scught on nine key business areas:
83 9 health and safety; sustainability; commercial, pecple; quality;
. O delivery; design managerment; supply chain management

(FY20: B1.4%) and innovation.
Definition: Customer satisfaction datais collected from clients
across all key projects. Interviewers delivering this process have
no operctional accountability and ask clients to rank our
performance against each key business areq. Interviewees
provide feedback relating to their perception of the project Healih and Safety, technical capability, community

team's operational performance. engagement, communication, project leadership, problem
sclving akility and efficiency of our process resulted in the
highest scores. Sustainability, environment and programme
management require additional focus.

Performance: Cur average performance score for Europe n
FY21 was 83.9%. representing consclidated feedback across 17
projects. Australia scored 75.8% across 18 projects and the
Middle East scored 84.0%, across three projects.

Interviews are conducted at the pre delivery, delivery,
practical-completion and post-defects stages — with
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CONSOLIDATED MANAGEMENT REPORT

The Board of Directors present their annual management
report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Laing O'Rourke Corporation Limited group
{the 'Group’] for the year ended 31 March 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Group's principal activities are:

NS STRI T Y,

(R

_ Progrcnmmé management;

— Construction and building;

— Civil engineernng: and

~ Infrastructure and support services.

P ST S BT (o P
PERETE U O R

- Buiiding products; and
— Manufacturing construction products.

ANGT e
PRUAVIN L T

— Plant hire and operations.

UL LTS

- Design services;
- Building operations management; and
- Property development.

A list of principal subsidiaries, joint grangements and
associates can be found on pages 99 and 100 in note 35
fo the financial statements.

A review of the Group's aclivilies and performance for the
year is presented on pages 6 to 37.

CHANGES IN GROUP STRUCTURE

The Company changed ownership on 25 March 2021 from
Suffalk Pariners Corporation to baing owned directiy by R G
O'Rourke KBE (65.2%) and H D O'Rourke (34.8%). During the
year, the Group only completed those disposals as described
on page 79 in note 14 to the financial staterments.

GENERAL INFORMATICN
The Company is directly owned by R G O'Rourke KBE {65.2%)
and H D O'Rourke [{34.8%).

BRANCHES OUTSIDE JERSEY
Laing O'Rourke Corporation Limited did not operate through
any branches during the year.

REVIEW OF DEVELOPMENTS, POSITION AND
PERFORMANCE

Details of future developments are presented on pages é
to 37.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

The Group expenditure in research and development of
£33.0m (FY20: £30.0m) supports the development of
construction techniques to deliver qudlity, certainty, and vaiue
for cur customers.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results for the year are set out in the Consclidated Income
Statement on page 58 and show a profit for the year ofter tax
of £28.4m (FY20: £34.9m).

The Company paid no dividends during the year (FY20: £nil).
The Directors do not recommend the payment of @ final
dividend (FY20: £nil).

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS
During the yvear the Group contributed £0.2m (FY20: £0.1m)
fo its nominated charities.

Laing O'Rourke Corporation |

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

Subsequent to the year end, the Group has refinanced its UK
facilities, resulting in the full repayment of £108.7m of RCF/Term
Debt and the entering info a new £35.0m unsecured RCF with
an expiry date of 4 October 2023. In addition, the Australia
subordinated debt facility was fully repaid by June 2021 for
£20.7m (AUD$37.5m).

On 4 October 2021, the entire shareholder loans, inciuding
accrued interest, of £58.3m were converted o equity.

On 25 August 2021, the non-controling interest held by
Garnham Services in Canal Harbour Development Company
wds acquired by the Group for €1,

DIRECTORS AND THEIR INTERESTS

The curent membership of the Board s as set out on page 51,
All the Directors were members of the Board throughout the
vear ended 31 March 2021, except Rowan Baker, who was
appointed as Director on 22 September 2020, and Stewart
Mclintyre, who resigned on 22 September 2020,

R G O'Rourke KBE and H D O'Rourke are shareholders who
own ¢l of the shares of the Company. No other Directors have
an interest in the share capital of the Company. Details of
relofed party fransactions can be found on pages 46 and 97 in
note 31 to the financial statements.

HEALTH, SAFETY AND WELFARE

The Group is committed to ensuring the health, safety and
welfare of all employees at work. All reasonable measures
have been taken to achieve this policy. Arangements have
been made to protect other persons against risk to health and
safety arsing from the activities of the Group's employees
when at work.

EMPLOYMENT POLICY

The Group continues to provide employees with relevant
information and to seek their views on mafters of common
concern through their representatives and through line
managers. Priority is given to ensuring that employees are
aware of significant matters affecting the Group's frading
position and of any significant crganisational changes,

The Group treats each application for employment, training,
and promotion on merit. Full and fair consideration is given to
both disabled and non-disabled applicants and employees. If
existing employees become disabled, every effort is made to
find them appropriate work, and training is provided if
necessary.

PRENCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
Details of the Group's policies and procedures for managing
risk are set out on pages 39 to 44.

Key judgements and areas of significant estimation
uncertainty are detailed on pages 68 to 70 in note 2.24 o the
financial statements,

Financial risks are detailed on pages ¢1 to 95 in note 28 to the
financial skatements.

USE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY THE GROUP
Details of the Group's financial instruments are set cut on
pages 91 tc 95 in note 28 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the Company's share capital are set out on page
20 in note 25 to the financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED MANAGEMENT REPORT CONTINUED

GOING CONCERN

The Group delivered a solid performance in FY21 during a
challenging year and exceeded its budgeted profit before tax
by £1.4m despite the impact of Covid-19 throughout the
financiadl year. The Group's transformation plan is progressing
well and the Groun remains on track to achieve its 'Deliver
2025' strategic targets.

The Group has maintained a strong liquidity position
throughout FY21 as a result of decisive management actions
and support from initiatives in response to the Covid-19
pandemic, including tax deferrals and the coronavirus job
refention scheme.

Tne overallimpact of Covid-19, which predeminantly affected
the UK. was substantially mitigated by the folliowing:

- Temporary voluntary salary reductions franging from 20%
to 30%) for all UK staff;

- <.1.000 UK staff placed on furlough from 1 April to 31 July
2020;

—~ Headcount reduction of €.150 FTE in the UK;

- Closure of cerfain sites in line with UK government guidelines
and at the request of clients;

- Acceleration and/or enhanced scope delivered at key,
nationally important sites including Royal Liverooc! University
Hospital, The Grange University Hospital, Clatterbridge
Cancer Centre, Hinkley Point C Power Station and HS2:

— Swift reconfiguration of all sites to make them Covid-19
compliant;

— Discretionary spend reduced and removal of non-essential
capital expenditure: and

— Agreement with HMRC for deferals of certain PAYE and VAT
payments in line with the government Covid-19 assistance
measures [PAYE fully repcid by 31 July 2020 and VAT fully
repayable by January 2022).

As aresult of its angoing profitability and the financial flexibility
achieved via these mifigations, the Group did not require any
wadlivers or relaxation of its banking covenants during the
financial year for facilities in place at the year end.
Subsequent 1o the year end. UK facilities of £108.7m and
Australian facilities of £20.7m [AUD$37.5m) have been repaid
in full and shareholder loans of £58.3m, {including accrued
interest} were converted to equity. On 4 October 2021, the UK
put in place a new unsecured £35.0m RCF with an expiry date
of 3 October 2023 and is forecasting full covenant compliance
onits ‘'management case' business plan and ifs severe out
plausible downside scenario. Details of covenants are
orovided in note 28,3 of the financial statements.

In forming their conclusion as to the appropriateness of
continuing to apply the going concern basis of accounting in
preparing these financial statements, the Directors have
reviewed the Group's ‘'management case’ forecast,
represenfing management's best esfimate of the future
performance of the Group, including cash flow forecasts to 31
March 2023. The Directors have also considered the way in
which the Group constantly monitors its cash reserves and
exercises tight control over its working capital as ilustrated by
its liquidity performance during the Covid-19 pandemic.

A consistent approach was adopted in assessing going
concem across each of the Group's main businesses in the UK,
Australia and the Middle East in preparing a management
case and considering severe but plausible downsides. The
RCF, which funds the UK business, permits loans to be made
from Australic to the UK and Middle East, and back, subject te
certain restrictions which do not impact management's ability
to manage UK liquidity, This allows liquidity to be managed on
a Group basis and therefore the most relevant forecast te
assess the going concem basis of accounting for the Group as
awhole is therefore a Group view of liquidity.

The key assumptions and areas of estimation uncertainty
reflectedin the Group ‘management case’ business plan
include:

— Consiruction activity is assumed to continue in ine with
current levels, with no additional material deterioration in
project gross margins or the working capital position, as a
result of further Covid-19 restrictions or for any other reason.
This approach accords with the Group's perfermance to
date against a Covid-19 backdrop;

- There are no adverse material cash settlements in the period
to 31 March 2023 relating to the contingent liability matters
disclosed in note 27 of the financial statements;

— Work-winning continues in line with curent expectations and
is in line with averoge win rates in previous years;

— Continued support of our supply chain in terms of product
material, labour supply and flexibility in payment terms;

— No imposition of a Covid-19 related lockdown on the
construction sector in the Group's main markets;

— Inflationary pressures experienced in the six months to
October 2021 can be accommodated within existing
project inflation allowances and general contingencies. The
Group has undertaken a detailed review of the possible
impact of inflation on the estimated final cost of its projects
and has conciuded that existing confingencies are
expected tc be sufficient to materially cover the risk on
existing projects in the period to 31 March 2023, with the risk
being addressed at the tender stage for new projects;

-~ Based on our detailed assessment, our supply chain
management and experience to date. disruption to the
supply of materials to projects and shortages of labour, if
experienced, can be accommodated within existing
project pregrammes or programme contingencies; and

- The underlying relevant market drivers for construction work
ininfrastructure, power generation, education, healthcare,
justice and residential house building remain in place.

The Board's ‘'management case’' forecast does not anticipate
any breaches of new banking covenants relating to the UK
RCF that would result in an Event of Default under the facilities
in the perod to 31 March 2023 and this forecast delivers a
comfortable level of Group operating cash liquidity headrocom
across the same pericd in each of the UK, Australia and
Middle East.

In addition to consideration of its ‘management case’ most
likely outcome, the Directors have also considered a number
of downside scenarios in light of the potential uncertainties
created by Covid-19, Brexit and supply chain disrupfion risk.
These scenarios have been prepared using certain key
assumptions, with parficular focus on compliance with
financial covenants in the UK and liquidity headroom in the UK
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CONSOLIDATED MANAGEMENT REPORT CONTINUED

and Middle East, where headroom is the tightest, Liquidity in
Austrglia provides shorf-term ritigation to low points in the UK
and Middle East on downsida scenarios. Of these downside
scenarios, the severe bul plausible scenario described further
below is the most severe,

Key assumptions in the Group’s severe but plausibie
scenanc include:

- Lowerrevenue and trading volumes in the UK and Australia
and the removal of all new construction work in the Middle
East, where there is a lower level of visibility in the pipeline.
resulting in approximately £854m reduction or delay in
Group revenive (a 13% redyclion or delay in revenue across
FY22 and FY23 compared fo the management case) with a
£183m reduction in cash fo March 2023 (48% of net cash
inflows to March 2023);

- Specific project risks and risks to cash generation inifiatives
(£63m cash inflow remaved fo 31 March 2023);

- Potential costimpacts of inflation on the cument portfolio of
projects [£19m cash removed to 31 March 2023) over and
above those that can be dealt with via contingencies; and

- Potential margin erosion and a potential negative impact
on the Group's abillify to deliver its transfarmation activities,
including cost reductions (a further £35m cash inflow
removed to 31 March 2023).

Even under the severe but piqusible downside scenario there is
no forecast breach of UK banking covenants that would resuit
in an Event of Default under the facilities. Adequate
headroom exists in Australia fo provide fiquidity for funding
shortfalls in the Middle East (£5m from Qctober 2022) and the
UK (£20m from April 2022 o Septemiber 2022 only).

The Board has considered the Group's ability to mitigate the
potentialimpact of a downside scenario on the Group's
liquidity over the forecast period, particulary in fight of fhe
oulperformance compared with the business plan during the
Covid-19 pandemic in the UK. The mitigating factors that
would be implemented by the Board in the event of a severe
but plausible downside scenario, therefore, include those that
have enabled the business to deliver such a strong liquidity
performance throughout the Covid-19 period. These
mitigating factors include the following:

- Reduction in discrefionary spend and non-essential capital
expenditure;

— Further actions to manage working capital; and
- Reductions in headcount.

Outside of the mitigations enfirely within the Group's control, as
summarsed above, in the event of a severe deterioratfion in
frading or other threat to the Group's liquidity or covenaont
headroom, the Directors would also seek to:

— Dispose of specific fixed assets;

- Raise additional externai funding to supplement the £35.0m
RCF, including refinancing of Group plant and machinery
assefs; and

- Dispose of nen-core businesses.

In addifion fo its ‘management case' and the severe but
plawsible downside case, the Directors have also assessed the
extent of downside that would be required for liquidity to drop
below zero (a reverse stress-test scenario). This considers the
revenue reduction required versus the ‘management case’ in
order for liguidity to drop below zerc during the period to
tMarch 2023, This would reguire revenue to reduce or be
delayed by £1.7on across FY22 and FY23 (o 25% reduction or
delay in revenue compared to the management case), with
resultant loss of margin, with no mitigation. A similar reduction
in revenue would be required for a sustained breach of the
minimum liquidity covenant under the UK RCF.

The Directors have carefully considered the likelihocd of the
above range of scenarios and remain confident that the
Group is well-positioned to deliver its management case
forecast in light of the following:

- Against the background of Cevid-19 uncertainties, the
outlook for the construction sector in the UK and Australia is
positive, strengthened by the UK Government's substantial
National Infrastructure Strategy and the Australian
Government's Infrastructure Investment Programme. The
Group continues to work closely with government in the UK
and Australia to support their respective investment
agendas and, in particular, as a strategic supplier in the UK
In order to deliver hospitals, schools and infrastructure;

- Laing O'Rourke’s investment in developing a sectorleading
moderm methods of construction {MMC) capability, its
proven frack record cgainst a challenging market
backdrop, integrated delivery model, strong client
engagement, resilience to supply chain risk and robust
interal control environment ensure that it is well positioned
to continue to win work:

- The current order ook for the Group remains strong at
£7.9on (as at 31 March 2021] as a result of continued work-
winning success during the recent Covid-19 pandemic
period. The Group now has 95% of its expected FY22
revenue either secured or anticipated and 89% of its
expected FY23 revenue is at the secured, anficipated or
prefered bidder stage; and

— Cash performance at 30 September 2021 is above the
management case forecast for the Group.

Based on this assessment, the Directors have a reasonable
expectation that the Group has adequate resources to
continue in operatfional existence and pay its debts as they fall
cue in the period to 31 March 2023 and there are no material
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
going concem status. Accordingly, the Group has continued
to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing
the Group's financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2021.

The financial staternents de noft, therefore, include the
adjustments that would result if the Group were unable fo
canfinue as a geing concern.
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CONSOLIDATED MANAGEMENT REPORT CONTINUED

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES

The Directors are responsible for preparing the financial
statements in accordance with applicable iaw and
Intermational Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union (Adopted IFRS and IFRS Interpretations
Committee {IFRIC) interpretations} (“IFRS"}.

The Companies (Jersey} Law 1991 requires the Directors to
prepare financial statements for each financial year, which
give a true and fair view of the state of offairs of the Group
and the profit and loss for that year. In preparing those
financial statements, the Directors are required to:

- Select suitable cccounting policies and then apply
them consistently:

— Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable
and prudent;

- Prepare the financial statements on a going concermn basis
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group wil
continue in business; and

— State whether applicable accounting standards have been
followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and
explained in the financial statements.

The Directors confirm that they have complied with the above
reguirements in preparing the financial staterments.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting
records which disclose, with reasonable accuracy at any time,
the financial position of the Group, and enable them o ensure
the financial statements comply with the Companies (Jersey}
Law 1991, They have general responsipility for taking such
steps as are reasonably open to thern to safeguard the

assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and
other imegularities.

Information published on the internet is accessible in many
countries with different legal requirements relating to the
preparation and dissemination of financial statements.

Jersey legislation goveming preparation and dissemination of
financial statements may therefore differ from that in other
jurisdictions. The maintenance and integrity of the Group's
website at www laingorourke.com is also part of the
Directors’ responsibilities.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS AND DISCLOSURE OF
INFORMATION TO AUDITORS

So far as each of the Directors are aware, there is no relevant
audit information of which the Group's auditors are unaware,
and the Directors have taken all the steps that ought to have
been taken as Directors in order to make themselves aware of
any relevant audit information and o establish that the
Group's auditors are aware of that information.

The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, have indicated
their wilingness to continue in office as auditors of the Group.

APPROVAL
This report was approved by the Board on 20 Cctober 2021
and signed on its behalf by:

P
ir V ﬁ»d
S
RCBAKER
DIRECTOR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF LAING O'ROURKE

CORPORATION LIMITED

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPINION
In our opinion, Laing O'Rourke Corporation Limited's group
financial statements (the “financial statements"):

- give a frue and fair view of the state of the Group's affairs as
at 31 March 2021 and of its profit and cash flows for the year
then ended;

- have been properly prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted in
the European Union; and

— have been prepared in accordance with the requirements
of the Companies {Jersey) Law 1991.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the
Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements (the
“Annual Report"), which comprise: the consolidated
staternent of financial pesition as at 31 March 2021; the
consclidated income statement, the consclidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
cash flows, and the consolidated statement of changes in
equity for the year then ended; and the notes to the financial
statements, which include a description of the significant
accounting policies.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accorddnce with Intermational
Standards on Auditing {UK) ("iSAs [UK)") and applicable law.
Our responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the
Audiitors' responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of cur report. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for cur opinion.

HIDEEENDEN TR

We remained independent of the Group in accordance with
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC's Ethical
Standard, and we have fulfiled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with these requirements.

EMFHASIS OF MATTER - RECOVERABILITY OF EPC
CRYOGENIC TANKS CONTRACT ASSETS

In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not
modified, we have considered the adequacy of the
disclosures made in note 2.26 (b), note 18 and note 27 o the
financial statements conceming the recoveratiity of £103m
(AUD$187m) of non-current confract assets recognised in
relation to the EPC Cryogenic Tanks confract in Australica.

The recoverability of this amount remains subject to private
arbitration, the outcome of which is uncertain.

CONCLUSIONS RELATING TO GOING CONCERN
Based on the work we have performed, we have not
identified any materal uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concem
for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial
statements are authorised forissue.

In audifing the financial statements, we have concluded that
the Directors’ use of the going concem basis of accounting in
the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be
predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the Group's
ability to confinue as a going concern.

Our responsipiliies and the responsibilities of the Directors with
respect to going concern are described in the relevant
sections of this repon.

REPORTING ON OTHER INFORMATION

The other inforrmation comprises all of the informaticn in the
Annual Report other than the financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for the
other information. Our opinion on the financial statements
does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do
net express an audit opinion or any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so.
consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materally
misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or
material misstaternent, we are required to perform procedures
to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the
financial statements or a material misstaterment of the cther
information. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND THE AUDIT

REZPONSIZNES OF THE DIREC 1 DRS FOR HE

IANF AL ST ATENENTS

As explained more fully in the Staterment of Directors'
Responsibilities, the Directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements in accordance with
the applicable frarmework and for being satisfied that they
give a true and fair view. The Directors are also responsible for
such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or emor.

SRR
[

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to confinue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the Directors efther infend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no redlistic altemative
but to do so.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF LAING O'ROURKE

CORPORATION LIMITED CONTINUED

LDITOWRST RESPOMNSBLUTIES FOR T ALDT OF THI
FiranCial STATEFAENTS

Our objectives are 1o obiain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or eror, and fo
issue an auditers' report that includes ocur opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, butis not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs
(UK} will alwarys detect a material misstaternent when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered materiat if, individually orin the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expectad to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.

Iregularities. including fraud. are instances of hon-compliance
with laws and regulations. We design procedures in ling with
our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material
misstatements in respect of imregularities, including fraud. The
extent fo which our procedures are capable of detecting
iregularities, including fraud, is detailled below,

Based on our understanding of the Group and industry, we
identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws
and reguiations related to breaches of environmental
legislation, health and safety legislation, data protection
legislation, anti-bribery and coruption legislation, tax
legisiation, employment laws and censtruction laws, and we
considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a
matenal effect on the financial statements. We also
considered those laws and regulations that have a direct
impact on the financial staterments such as the Companieas
[Jersey) Low 1991, We evoluated monagement's incentives
and opportunities for fraudulent manipulaticn of the financial
statements [including the risk of overide of controls), and
determined that the principal risks were related fc posting
inappropriate joumal entries and management bias in
accounting estimates and judgements. Audit procedures
performed by the engagement team included:

- Discussions with management, intemal cudit and the
Group's intermnal legal counsel, including consideration of
potential instances of non-compliance with laws and
regulation and fraud;

- Assessment of matters reported through the Group's
whistleblowing helpline ond the resulls of monagement's
investigation of such matters;

- Obtaining legal letters from the Group's external legal
advisers in respect of certain liigation and claims, where
considered necessary;

- Evaluation of management's controls designed to prevent
and defect imegularities;

- Substantive testing of journal entries which met a defined risk
criteria, focusing on where and how fraud could arise:; and

- Challenging assumptions and judgements made by
management in its accounting estimates or judgements, in
particular in relation te contract accounting, disputes and
latent defects liabilities.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures
described above. We are less likely to become aware of
instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations that
are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in
the financic! statements. Also. the risk of not detecting a
material misstatement due 1o fraud is higher than the risk of not
detecting one resulting frem emor, as fraud may involve
deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intenticnal
misrepresentations, or through collusion,

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements is located on the FRC's website ai:

www fre.org.uk/auditorsresponsibiiities. This description forms
part of our auditors' report.

VSEOF THIS REPORT

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for ond
only for the company's members as a body in accordance
with Article 113A of the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 and for
no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept
or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other
person to whom this report is shown or info whose hands it may
come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in
wrifing.

OTHER REQUIRED REPORTING

COMMPANIES [IERSEYLAW 1571

EXCEPTION BREPORTING

Under the Companies {Jersey) Law 1991 we are required to

report to you if, in our opinion, we have not obtained ol the
informartion and explanations we require for our qudit,

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

“ /,
S A
SIMON MORLEY

FOR AND ON BEHALF OF

PRICEWATERHOUSECOQOPERS LLP
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

LONDON, 20 Cctober 2021
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

for the year ended 31 March 2021

Exceplional Re-presented Exceptional
Pre-exceplionat Hems Pre-exceptionat iterns  Re-presented!
ftemns {note 5) Total itemns’ [note 5} Total
2021 2021 2021 2020 2020 2020
Note £m £m £m im £m Em
Revenue 3 2,503.7 - 2,503.7 2,448.5 - 2,448.5
Cost of sales {2,267.2) - (2.267.2) (2.186.3) (6.5] (2.192.8)
Gross profit/(loss) 234.5 - 2345 2622 {6.5) 255.7
Administrative expenses (173.1) {6.1) (179.2) {174.9) (4.2) (179.1)
QOther operating income 8 84 - 8.4 0.9 - 0¥
Profit/(loss) from operations 718 (6.1) 657 882 (10.7) 75
Profit on disposal of subsidiaries and
joint ventures @ 3.7 - 37 0.4 - 04
Profit/{loss) on disposal of property 58 - 58 G.1) - (0.1}
Share of post-tax losses of joint
ventures and associates 15 {5.3) - (5.3) (4.9) - {4.9)
Profit/{loss) before interest and tax ) 780 (6.1} 699 836 (10.7} 729
Finance income 10 1.6 - 1.6 | 1.9 - 1.9
Finance expense 11 {30.1) - (30.1) (29.3) - (29.3)
Net financing expense . {28.5) - {28.5) {27.4) - (27.4)
Profit/(loss) before tax 47.5 (6.1) a4 562 (10.7) 455
Tax bz {(14.4) 1.4 (13.0) (129 1.4 {10.6}
Profit/(loss) for the year 331 (4.7) 28.4 442 (2.3) 34.9
Attributable to:
Owners of the Parent 332 {47 285 440 (9.3) 347
Non-controlling interests {0.1) - {0.1) 0.2 - 02
331 {4.7) 284 442 (9.3) 349

1. Profit on disposal of subsidiaries and joint ventures (£0.4m) and profit/ {loss) on disposal of property (£0.1rm loss) was previously presented as net non-operaling

income and has been re-presented in FY21.

The notes on pages 63 to 100 form an integral part of these consclidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

for the year ended 31 March 2021

Exceptional Re-presented Excepfional
Pre-exceptional items Pre-excepfional items Re-presented'?
Hems {nate 5} Totat iterns?2 {note 5§ Totel
2021 2021 2021 2020 2000 2020
Note £m £m £m £m £m m
Profit/(loss) for the year 331 (4.7) 28.4 4472 {9.3) 34.9
Other comprehensive income/
(expense):
Items that may be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on franslating
foreign operations! 17.8 - 17.8 (15.3) - {15.3)
Movement in fair value of financial
assets 15 (0.8) - (0.8) {1.0) - (1.0)
Share of other comprehensive
income of investments accounted for
using the equity methog? 15 1.0 - 1.0 0.5 - 05
Other comprehensive
income/(expense) for the year, net of
tax 12 180 - 18.0 {15.8) - {15.8)
Total comprehensive
income/{expense) for the year 511 (4.7) 454 284 (%.3) 19.1
Attributable to:
Owners of the Parent 26 51.2 (4.7) 44.5 28.3 (%.3) 19.0
Non-controlling interests i 26 {0.1) - 0.1} 0.1 - 0.1
511 (4.7) 4564 28.4 (2.3) 19.1

1. Exchange differences on fransiating foreign operations has been re-presented to include £1.2m previously presented as share of other comprehensive
expense of nvestments accounted for using the equity method.

2. Share of other comprehensive income of investments accounted for using the equity method has been renamed from cash flow hedges as presented in

FY20.

ltems disclosed in the statement above are disclosed net of tax. The income tax relating to each component of other
comprehensive income is disclosed in note 12.

The notes on pages 63 to 100 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

for the year ended 31 March 2021

Re-presented! 2

Restated?
2021 2020
Note £€m £m
Assels
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 13 3348 335.6
Investments in joint ventures and associates 15 140 154
Loans to joint ventures 15 8.0 15.3
Property, plant and equipment! 16 11.5 103.9
Right-of-use assets’ 17 177.3 196.1
Deferred tax assets? 24 40.5 49.6
Trade and other receivahles? 19 .7 21.5
Contract assets? _ - L o _ _18 133.6 1421
Total non-current assets 8414 879.5
Current assets
Inventories 20 19.3 121
Contract assets2? 18 1704 183.0
Trade and other receivables? 19 154.5 152.1
Current tax assets 9.7 50
Cash and cash equivalents S o o - 536.6 460.8
Total cument assets e o o . 892.5 820.0
Total assets 1,733.9 1,699.5
Liabilities
Cumrent liabilities
Bomrowings 21 (286.1} (88.1)
Confract liabilities2 18 (282.7} (257.3)
Trade and other payables? 22 (599.5) (622.9)
Provisions 23 (11.8) (3.5)
Current fax liabiliies e o L (3.7} (2.3)
Total cument liabilities {1,143.8) (?74.1]
Non-cumrent liabilities
Bomowings 21 (130.4) (363.6)
Contract liabilities? 18 (8.7} (8.8)
Trade and cther payables? 22 {15.7) (25.2)
Provisions 23 (26.8) (44.2)
Defered tax liabilities: o o _ 24 (3.6) 4.9}
Total non-cument liabilities o B o . {245.0) {446.7)
Total liabilities o ) - L o (1,408.8) {1,420.8)
Net assets 325.1 278.7
Equity
Share capital 25 - -
Share premium 25 2864 286.4
Fair value reserve 26 0.7 1.5
Hedging reserve 24 (3.9) (4.9}
Foreign currency translation reserve 26 (4.4) {22.2}
Retained earnings. o o o _ 26 42 177
Total equity attributable 1o owners of the Parent 325.0 278.5
Non-coniraliing inferesis o - o 26 0.1 0z
Total equity 325.1 2787

1. Right-of-use assets were disclosed within property, plant and equipment in FY20 and have therefore been re-presented for consistency with the presentation
in FY21 which provides addifional visibility.

2. Contract assets and contract liabijties were previously disclosed within trade and other receivables and frade and other payables respectively. They have
been re-presented in FY20 for conisistency with the presentation in FY21 which provides additional visibility.

3 See note 2 2 for detalls of amounts restated in FY20.

The financial statements were approved ond authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 20 October 2021 and were signed
on its behalf by: L

R C Baker
Director Ny SRR

The notes on pages 63 to 100 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

for the year ended 31 March 2021

Re-presented!

2021 Restaled! 2020
Note £m £m
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before fax 414 455
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 6 449 48.7
Impairment of assets 29 5.1
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets 4 (10.2) 7.3)
Profit on disposal of joint ventures 14 (2.5) -
Net financing costs 285 274
Research and development expenditure credit 8 {7.2) -
Share of post tax loss of joint ventures and associates 15 53 49
Decrease/(increase] in frade and other receivables! - (3.1}
Decrease in contract assets! 2.8 98.4
Decrease in inventories o8 1.5
Decrease in frade and other payables and provisions? (54.8} (145.1}
Increase in contract liabilities! 81.4 19.9
Other including profit on dispoesal of subsidiaries of £1.2m (FY20: £0.4m) ey 09
CLSh @erufed from operations - j 7 ) o - - 1569 968
Interest paid - T (16.9) o {16.3)
Taxreceived e 04 19
Netcashgenerated from operating activies __ 404 824
Cash flows (used in)/ generated from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and eguipment and right-of-use assets (13.9) (23.9}
Purchase of infangible assets 13 (3.5} (8.8}
Capital injections in equity investments 15 - (6.0)
Proceeds from sale of property. plant and equipment and right-of-use assets 27.0 26.4
Disposal of intangible assets 0.1 -
Preceeds from disposal of joint ventures and associates 14 2.5 -
Loans to joint ventures and associates 15 - i1.4)
Loans repaid by joint ventures and associates 15 7.3 02
Interest received 1.6 1.9
Distributions recelived from joint ventures and associates I - 02 11
Net cash generated fom/(used in) investing activifies 23 {109)
Cash flows used in financing activities 7
Proceeds from new bank loans 50 98
Repayments of bank loans (63.7) {28.1}
Lease principal repayments e 4.0 49
Net cash used in financing activities R (99.7) {60.2)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 620 1.7
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 450.8 460.4
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cashheld o e 138 3
Cash and cash equivalents af end of year - 536.6 4580.8
Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
Cash at bank and on hand 4873 411.8
Short-term bank deposits 29 93 2.3
Restricted cash deposit2 o 00 397
536.6 460.8

. Movementin frade and other receivables and frade and other payables and provisions has been re-presented in FY20 to split out the movement in confract
assets and conlract liabilities for additional visibility. They have also been restated to comect for amounts which were incomectly classified as contract assets.

See note 2.2,

2. Resticted cash deposits include £11.0m (FY20: £13.5m) relating to the project bank accounts where amounts due to subconiractors are ringfenced.
Payments io subconitractors were made affer the year end. There was aiso £38.3m (FY20: £35.5m] of cash which is pledged as shart-term collaterdl; this

balance includes short-lerm bank deposits.

The notes on pages 43 to 100 form an infegral part of these consalidafed financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

for the year ended 31 March 2021

Share capital Total
and share Gther Retained shareholders’ Non-controlling
premium reserves eamings equity interests
Note im im £m £m £m
At 1 April 2019 286.4 2.9) (14.1) 262.4 28
Profit for the year - - 347 347 0.2
Other comprehensive expense after tax ) - (15.7) - (15.7} (O.1}
Total comprenensive [expense)/income
for the year - (15.7} 347 19.0 0.1
Movements relating to change in
beneficial ownership - - (2.9) (2.9} 29
At31 March2020 R4 4 {254 17.7 2785 0.2
Profit/ (loss) for the year .__- - - 285 28.5 o (0.1)—_mmmmm
Other comprehensive income affer tax | ) - 18.0 - 180 =
Total comprehensive income/{expense)
for the year _ ) - 18.0 285 46.5 o {03) 4
At 31 March 2021 2864 (7.6) 44.2 325.0 0.1

Additional disclosure and details are provided in note 24.

The notes on pages 43 to 100 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31 March 2021

1 GENERAL INFORMATION

Laing O'Rourke Corporation Limited (the '‘Company’'] is a
company incorporated and domiciled in Jersey. The Group
prepares consolidated financial statements in accordance
with \nternational Financial Reperting Standards as adopted by
the European Union. The address of the registered office is
given on page 51. The nature of the Group's operations and its
principal activities are set out in note 35 and in the Financial
Review on pages 33 to 37, The consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021
comprse the Company and ifs subsidiaries and the Group’s
interest in joint arangements and assaciates. The Company's
financial statements are prepared separctely.

2  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

200 STATEMENT OF COMPLIANICE

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
and approved by the Directors in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union [Adopted IFRS and IFRS Interpretations
Committee {IFRIC) interpretations).

22 BASE OF PREPARATION
The consolidated financial statements are presenfedin
pounds sterling. rounded to the nearest hundred thousand,
and include the results of the holding company, its subsidiary
undertakings and the Group's interest in joint arangements
and associates for the yecr ended 31 March 2021, The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
going concem basis under the historical cost convention. s
modified by the revaluation of land and buildings {prior to the
adoption of IFRS}, and financial assets and financial liakilities
{including derivative instrurments) at fair volue through profit
or loss. The principal accounting policies which have been
consistently applied {see re-presentation statement below)
for all consolidated and equity accounted entities including
subsidiaries, joint arangements ang associates are set

out below.

The following have been presented separately for FY21 in the
Statement of Financial Position in line with best practice:

- Righi-of-use assets previously included within property, plant
and equipment;

— Conlract assels previously disclosed within frade ond cther
receivables; and

— Confract liabilifies previously disclosed within frade and
other payables.

Two additional notes have alse been included in these
consolidated financial siatements as a resul:

— Note 17 Right-of-use assets; and
- Note 18 Confract balances.

Comparative information in the Statement of Financial Position
and in the relevant notes has been re-presented.

In additicn, the share of other comprehensive income of
investments accounted for using the equity method has been
renamed from cash flow hedges as presented in FY20.

These presentational changes have no impact on the Group's
profit/{loss), net asset position or net cash flows in the cument
financial year.

The following have been restated in FY20:

- Intangible asset cost and accumulated depreciation
(note 13):

- Otherreceivable balances previously shown as contract
assets (notes 18 and 19);

- Contract assets and contract liabilities were incomrectly
grossed up {notes 18, 19 and 22};

- Deferred tax assets and defered tax liabilities (note 24); and

- Financial instruments (note 28).

Comparative information in the Statement of Financial Position
and in the relevant notes has been restated.

Intfangible asset cost and accumulated amertisation has been
restated for impaiments which were incorrectly recognised in
costin prior years, Contract assets have been restated in FY20
by £76.0m due to a £40.0m adjustment between contract
liabilifies and a £34.0m adjustment between other receivables
and confract assets. Deferred tax assets and liabilities have
been restated in FY20 by £4.4m o offset deferred tax assets
ond liabilities where they relate to corporate income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and there is a legally
enforceable right to offset cumrent tax assets and liabilities.
Financial instruments have been restated fo exclude contract
assets and prepayments from trade and other receivables and
to exclude government taxes and contract fiabilities from trade
and other payables.

The Board has carefully considered those factors likely to affect
the Group's future development, performance and financial
position in relation to the ability of the Group to operate within
its current and foreseeable resources, financial and
operational. The Group has sufficient financicl resources,
committed banking facilities, secured revenue and a strong
order book. For this reason the directars continue to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing the consolidated financial
statements.

Refer to note 2.26(e) and pages 53 and 54 of the consclidated
management report relating te going concern.

The following standards, amendments and interpretations
became effective in the year ended 31 March 2021 ond have
been adopted:

a)  Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in IFRS Standards

b] Definition of a Business (Amendments to tFRS 3}
c)  Definition of Material (Amendments to I1AS 1 and IAS 8]

d) Interest Rate Benchmark Reform {Amendments to IFRS 9,
IAS 39 and IFRS 7)

e} Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions (Amendment to
IFRS 16)

The effect on the consclidated financidl statements of
adoepting these new standards hos been determined fo not
be material.

The Directors have considered recently published IFRSs, new
interpretations and amendments to existing standards that are
mandatory to the Group's accounting periods commencing
on or after 1 April 2021.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

for the year ended 31 March 2021

2  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

, BASES T PREPAR AT N (T o

Standards that are not yet effective and have not been

adopted early by the Group are:

T
DRI

a)  IFRS 17, Insurance Confracts

b) Classification of Liabiiities as Curent or Non-Curent
(Amendments to IAS 1)

c] Reference to the Conceptual Framework (Amendments
to IFRS 3)

d)  Property, Plant and Equipment - Proceeds befure
Intended Use [Amendments to |AS 14)

e}  Cnerous Centracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Confract
(Amendments 1o |1AS 37)

f) Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020

g) Covid-19-Reiafed Rent Concessions beyond 20 June 2021
(Amendment fo IFRS 14)

h}  Interest Rote Benchmark Reform — Phase 2 (Amendments
To IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7 and IFRS 14)

i} Amendments to IFRS 17 and IFRS 4, 'Insurance confracts’
deferal of IFRS 9

The Directors do not expect the standards above to have a
material effect on the conselidated financial statements. The
Group has chosen not to adopt any of the above standards
and interpretations earlier than required.

23 BARIS OF CONRQLUTADRON

a) The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of subsidiaries controlled by the
Company. Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable retums from its involvernent with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which effective controlis transferred
to the Group and are deconsolidated from the date
control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account
for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group faling
within the scope of IFRS 3, ‘Business Combinations’. The
consideration fransfered for the acquisition of a subsidiary
is the fair values of the assets, equity instruments issued
and liabilities incured or assumed at the date of
exchange. Acquisitioh-related costs are expensed as
incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in o business combination
are measured inifially at their fair values at the acquisition
date, imespective of the extent of any non-controlling
interest. The excess of the consideration fransferred over
the fair vaive of the Group's share of the identifiable

net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If this s less
than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the
income statement.

b}  Associates are operations aver which the Group has the
power to exercise significant influence but not control,
generdlly accompanied by a share of between 20% and
50% of the voting rights. Associates are accounted for
using the equity method and are inifially recognised ¢t
cost. The Group's investment in associates includes

geodwil identified on acquisition, net of any
accumulated impairment loss. The Group's share of its
associates’ post-acquisifion profits or losses is recognised in
the income staterment, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in other comprehensive income is recognised
in the statement of comprehensive income. If the Group's
share of losses in an associate equals its investment, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations 1o make payments on behalf of the
associate, in which case a provision is recognised.

c)  Under IFRS 11, investments in joint arangements are
classified as either joint operations or joint ventures
depending on the contractual rights and obligations of
each investor. The Group has assessed the nature of each
joint arangement and has determined some to be joint
cperations and some to be joint ventures, as delailed in
note 35.

i) The Group accounts for its share of the assets,
liakilities, revenue and expenses in a joint operation,
under each relevant heading in the income
statement and the statement of financial position.

il Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity
methed. Under the equity method of accounting,
inferests in joint ventures are initially recognised at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's
share of the post-acquisition profits or losses and
movements in other comprehensive income. wWhen
the Group's share of losses in a joint venture equals or
exceeds ifs interest in the joint venture {whichincludes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of
the Group's net invesiment in the joint venture), the
Group does nof recognise further [osses, unless it has
incurred obligations to make payments on behalf of
the joint venture.

d) Intra-Group balances and transactions together with any
unrealised gains arising from intra-Group transactions are
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financicl
statements. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with
jointly controlled entities and jointly confrelled operations
are eliminated to the extent of the Group's inferest in the
entity. The Group's share of unredlised gains arising from
transactions with associates is eliminated against the
investment in the assceciate. The Group's share of
unrealised losses is eliminated in the same way as
unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no
evidence of impairment.

A DB e N R TR Sy S M
o P AR T L URIE RN

IR ANS] AT N

hHems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group's entities are measured using the cumency of the
primary economic envircnment in which each entity operates
(*the functional currency’). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in pounds sterling, which is the
functional and presentation curency of Laing O'Rourke
Corporation Limited.

Foreign currency transactions are franslated info the functional
currency using the exchange rafes prevailing af fhe dafes of
the fransactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the
franslation at year-end exchange rates of monetory assets and
liabilities dencminated in foreign curencies, are recognised in
the Income statement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

for the year ended 31 March 2021

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
{CONTINUED)
2.4 FOROGN CURRENTY TRANSLATION [CONTINLL D)
Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and
liakilities such as equities held at *fair value through profit or
loss' are recognised in the income statement as part of the fair
value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary
financial assets such as equities classified as held for collect
and for sale are included in the fair value reserve in equity.

The results and financial position of all Group enfities (none of
which has the currency of a hyperdinflationary economy) that
have a functional curency different from the presentation
currency cre translated into the presentation curency as
follows:

i) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are fransiated at the closing rate af
the reporting date;

iy income and expenses for each income staterment are
translated at average exchange rates: and

i) allresulting exchange differences are recognised in the
foreign cumrency franslation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign operations, and of
borrowings designed as hedges of such investments, are taken
to other comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is
partially disposed of, or sold, exchange differences that were
recorded in other comprehensive income are recognised in
the income statement gs part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustrments arising on the acquisition
of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign entity and transtated at the closing rate.,

25 PROPERIY FLAND AND EQUPKNENT

Property, plant and equipment are reported at historcal
cost less accumulated depreciation and any recognised
impairment loss. Land is not depreciated. Where parts of an
itern of property, plant and equipment have different useful
lives, they are accounted for as separate iterns. Cost comprises
purchase price and directly athibutable costs. Depreciation
Is calculated on the straightine method to write down the
costs of the assets to their residual values over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

Group owner occupied buildings 50 years
Other buildings 50 years
Plant, equipment and vehicles 2-15 years

Plant, equipment and vehicles include tower cranes, crawler
cranes and other specialist assets that are depreciated over a
useful life of up fo 15 years as well as small tools and vehicles
that are depreciated over a two to five year period.

Certain land and buildings were revalued under previous
accounting standards. On transition to IFRS, the Group elected
to use the revalued amount as deemed cost.

Assets held under righi-of-use leases are depreciated over
the term of the lease or the estimated useful life of the asset,
as appropriate.

Gains and |osses on disposal are recognised within cost

of sales, adminsstrafive expenses or profit on disposal of
property in the income statement based on the nature of the
assets disposed of.

35 1EASES

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, alease
at the inception of the confract. A lease exists if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and o lease liability
at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset is
initiclly measured at cost and subsequently depreciated over
the lease term. The lease liability is measured at the present
value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, or if that rate cannot be readily
determined, at the Group's incremental borrowing rate, The
Croup has elected fo apply the practical expedient which
allows the Group fo use asingle discount rate for a portfolio of
leases with similar characteristics.

The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities for shart term leases of less than 12 months and
leases of low value gssets (below US$5,000). Instead, the
Company recognises the lease payments associated with
these leases as an expense on a straight-ine basis over the
lease tem.

2 GODDWILL AND GIHER INTANGIRBLE ASSETS

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition
over the fair value of the Group's share of the net assets of the
acquired subsidiary, associate cor joint venture at the date of
acquisition. Goodwil on acquisitions prior to 1 April 2006 (the
date of fransition to IFRS) is camied at its book value (original
cost less cumuiative amortisation) on that date, less any
subsequent impairment, This is in accordance with the
fransitional provisions of IFRS 1. Goodwill ansing before 1
January 1998 was eliminated against reserves and has not
been reinstated in accordance with the transitional provisions
of IFRS 3, ‘Business Combinations'. Goodwilt arising on the
Croup's investments in associates and joint ventures since that
date is included within the camying value of these investments,
Negative goodwill arising on or after 1 April 2006 is recognised
immediately within profit from operations in the income
statement. Separately recognised goodwill is tested annually
for impairment and carried at cost tess impairment losses.
Goodwil is included when defermining the profit or loss on
subsequent dispasal of the business to which it relates. Goodwill
is allocated to cash generating units for the purpose of
impairment testing.

Other intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is based on
the useful lives of the assets concemed, and recognised on ¢
straightine basis over the following periods:

2-5 years
4 years

Computer software and licences
Development costs

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to
amortisation and are tested for impairment annually. Assets
that are subject to amortisation or depreciation are reviewed
for impairment or reversal of prior impairments when significant
circumstances or events indicate a change in the carmying
value. For impairment testing, goodwil is allocated to cash-
generating units by geographical reporting unit and business
segment, Assets are grouped af the lowest level for which
there are separately identifiable cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

for the year ended 31 March 2027

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

/"8 ;“) .""\"\_,I"\‘ bv‘v"’\“v‘l_iw‘&

The Group has classified ifs financial investments as assets held
to collect and to sell, which are recognised at fair value.
Changes in the fair value of financial investments classified as
held-for-sale are recorded in the fair value reserve within
equity. When these are sold, the fair value adjustments
recognised in equity are included in the income statement,

Under the terms of a PFl or similar project, where the risks and
rewards of ownership remain largely with the purchaser of the
associated services, the Group's Interest in the asset is classified
within investments in joint ventures as held to collect and to sell
under IFRS . These investments are measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income,

g AN A IS TR AT

Fair vc:!ue derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the
date of the contract and are subsequently remeasured at their
fair value. Movements in fair value are recorded in the income
statement, together with any changes in the fair value of the
hedged asset or liability that are atiributable to the hedged
risk. The full fair value of ¢ hedging derivative is classified as a
non-current asset or liability if the remaining maturity of the
hedged item is more than 12 months, and as a current asset or
liakility if the maturity of the hedged item is less than 12 months,

S SRV ATIVE B

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the
cumulative net change in fair value of cash flow hedging
instruments related to hedged transactions that have not yet
occumed, together with any related deferred tax.

2 ENTORIES

Inventories, including land and related development activity
thereon, are stated at the lower of cost and estimated net
realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials, direct and
subcontract labour, specific borowing costs and those
overheads that have been incured in bringing inventories to
their present location and condition. Net realisable value
represents the estimated income less all estimated costs of
completion and costs o be incurmed in marketing, selling
and distribution.

2 HCASH AN S UV ALERNTS

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash af bank and in
hand, deposits held ot call with banks, project bank accounts
controlied by the Group, and other short-term highly liguid
investments with less than 90 days matunty from the date of
acquisition. For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash
and cash equivalents also include bank overdrafts, which are
included in borrowings in the statement of financial position.

ASHE

o TRa D ATy iR REC
Trode receivables are inifially recorced at fair value and
subseqguently measured at amortised cost as reduced by an
dlewance for expected credit losses and appropriate
allowances for estimated irecoverable amounts. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously wiitten off are credited to the
income statement line in which the provision was originally
recognised. Trade receivables include retentions within
confract assets and are classified as a current assef unless
recovery is due in more than one year.

r w’HQ r )

The Group has applied the simplified approach to measuring
expected credit losses. which uses a lifetime expected loss
dlowance. To measure the expected credit losses, frade
receivables have been grouped based on days overdue.

ZAeiRA0n AND O
Trc:de payables are mmolly recognised at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective

inferest method.

4,,a_,“\ \JL\

CoEARSOVIRH NG

Prowswons are recognised when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as aresult of a past event, where it is
probable that an outflow will be required to settle the
obligation and the amount of the obligation can be

estimated reliably.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the present
value of the expenditures expected to be required fo settle
the cbligation.

ST RU/EMOZ REC OGO

The Group recogmses revenue when it transfers control overa
product or service to ifs cusfomer. Revenue is measured at the
fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of
sales tax, for goods and services supplied to external
customers, and excliudes amounts collected on behalf of third
parties. Revenue recognition is based on the satisfaction of
individual performance obligations and these obligations are
satisfied over time, therefore contract revenue and costs are
recognised by reference o the stage of completion of each
contract, as measured by the proportion of total costs at the
balance sheet date to the total expected costs of the
contract, Revenue from services and construction contracts is
recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the
confract, as set oufin the accounting policy for construction
and service contracts.

Where consideration is not specified in the confract with a
customer, and is therefore subject to variability, the Group
estimates the amount of consideration to be received fromits
customer, The measurement of variaple consideration is
subject to the constraining principle whereby revenue will only
be recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that a
significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue will
not occur,

Additionally, where a modification to an existing contract
occurs, the Group ossesses the nature of the modification
and whether it represents a separate performance
obligation or whether it is a modificatfion to the existing
performance obligation.

The Group does not expect to have any centracts where the
period between the request for payment for the transfer of
goods and services to the customer and the payment by
the customer exceeds one year. As a consequence, the
Group does not adjust its fransaction price for the time value
of money.

Rental income is recognised in the income statement on a
straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives
are recognised as an infegral part of the total rental income.

Revenue on sale of private housing and commercial property
is recognised on legal completion of the sale.
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2 HAECONSTRUCTHON AND SERVICE CONTRACTS
When the outcome of individual contracts can be estimated
reliably, contract revenue is recognised by reference o the
stage of completion of each contract, as measured by the
proportion of total costs at the balance sheet date to the
estimated total cost of the contract. Contract costs are
expensed asincured. Where multiple contracts are signed to
deliver a single commercial objective, as agreed at the outsef,
such as initial works and main works confracts, these are
freated as separate contracts, but are viewed as representing
a single performance cbligation. Accordingly, revenues and
costs from these contracts are accounted for using the
cumulative catch-up method, with revenue recognised based
on costs incurred as a proportion of total expected costs
across the contracts on an aggregated bosis. Management
has made this judgement on the basis that work performed
under sych separate legal contracts constitutes a single
performance obligation as it does not consider that distinct
goods or services are provided as a result of work performed
under each contract from which the customer can derive an
identificble benefit i.e. the customer only benefits from the
output of the contracts on a combined basis. This judgement is
evaluated for every contract to ensure that the facts and
circumstances unique o each contract are considered and
revenue js accounted for apprapriately.

Provision is made for all known or expected losses on individual
confracts once such losses are foreseen. Incremental costs
required to satisfy confract obligations are considered in this
assessment. As noted in note 2.2 amendments 1o 1AS 37, which
are applicable for the Group from 1 April 2022, require an
assessment of other costs directly relating to fulfiling contracts
10 be included in the provision for all known or expected losses.

Where costs incurmed plus recognised profits less recognised
losses exceed progress billings, the balance is recognised as
contract assets. Where progress bilings exceed costs incumred
plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the balance is
recognised as contract liabilities.

Estimates of the final outcome on each contract may include
cost contfingencies to take account of specific risks within each
contract. Cost contingencies are reviewed on a regular basis
throughout the life of the contract and are adjusted where
appropriate. However, the nature of the risks on projects are
such that they often cannot be rescived until the end of the
project and therefore may not reverse until the end of the
project. The estimated final outcome on projects is confinually
reviewed, recoveries from insurers are assessed and
adjustments are made where necessary.

DT R R A NT ST

Pre-contract costs are expensed as incurred until it is virtually
certain the contract will be cbtained and there is contractual
enfitlement to revenue that will more than cover future pre-
construction costs and further bid costs pertaining to the
project in question, From the point that costs are considered to
generate or enhance the resources of the entity, further pre-
confract costs are recognised as an asset and chargad as an
expense over the period of the contract.

D ovE PEMSHON Z08TS

The Group operates defined confribution pension schemes for
staff. The contributions paid by the Group and the employees
are invested in the pension fund within 30 days following
deduction. Once the contributions have been paid, the
Group, as employer, has no further payment obligations. The
Group's contributions are charged to the income statement in
the year to which they relate,

29 TAR

Tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and defered tax. The current tax expense is based on the
taxable profits for the year, after any adjustments in respect of
prior years. Taxable profit differs frorm net profit as reported in
the income statement because it excludes items of income or
expense that are faxable or deductible in other years and it
also excludes items that are neither taxable nor deductible.
The Group's licbility for cument tax is calculated using tax rates
and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the reporting date.

Deferred tax is provided on tempaerary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries. associates and joint ventures,
except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference con be controlled and it is probable that the
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future, Defermed
taxes are not provided inrespect of temporary differences
arising from the initial recognition of goodwill, or from goodwil
for which amortisation is not deductible for tax purposes, or
frorn the initial recognition of an asset or lability in a fransaction
which is not a business combination and affects neither
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss of the fime of the
fransaction. Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit wil be
available against which the temporary ditferences can be
utilised. Defered 1ox is calculated af the tax rates based on
those enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet
date and are expected to apply when the related asset is
realised or liability setfled. Defered taxis charged or credited
in the Income statement except when it relates fo items
charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the
defemed tax is also included in equity.

Deferred tax assets and licbilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred tax assets and
iabilities relate to income faxes levied by the same tax
authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable
entities where there is an intention to settle the balances cn a
net basis.

Management pericdically evaluates positions taken in tax
returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpreftation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be
paid to the tax authorifies.
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ROUORRONWNGS AMND BORSONINES CO05TS

Inferest bearing bank ioans and overdrafts are recognised
initicity at fair value net of fransaction casts incumed. All
borowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost with the
difference between initial net proceeds and redemption value
recagnised in the income statement over the period to
redemption.

Borowing costs are capitalised where the Group borrows funds
specifically for the purpose of acquiring, constructing or
producing a qualifying asset, in accordance with |1AS 23,
‘Borrowing Costs'. All other finance cosis of debt, including
premiums payable on settlement and direct issue costs, are
charged to the income statement on an accruals basis cver
the term of the instrument, using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer setlement of the liability for
at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

Changes in borowings are assessed for modification or
extinguishment in accordance with IFRS #, with a gain or loss
recognised in the income statement where required.

22V IHARE CARTA
Ordinary shares are clussified as equity. Preference shares are
classified as liabilities.

Incremental costs directly atfributable to the issue of new
ordinary shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction,
net of tax, from the proceeds.

DI EXRCEMTIONALTERAS
Exceptional items are defined as income or expenditure
relating to one-off events which, in the opinion of the Directors,
are material, generally not expected to recur and unusual in
nature or of such significance that they reguire separate
disclosure on the face of the consolidated income statement
in accordance with 1AS 1, 'Presentation of Financial
Statements’. An assessment is made of events occuming during
the year on both a quantitative and qualitative basis to
determine which events require separate disclosure because

they do not relate to the Group’s underlying performance.
£2FTRADING AMALYSS

Trading analysis information is based on the Group's intemal
reporting structure of two operational hubs and a corporaie
management centre. Further information on the business
trading activities is set cut in the operating overview on pages
6 o 8. Trading analysis results present the directly attibutable
contribution of the different hubs to the results of the Group.
Transactions between hubs are conducted at arm's length
market prices.

. T
PG INTERTYS INNAE

Inferest income is recognlsed using the effective interest
method. When a loan or receivabie is impaired. the Group
reduces the carmying cmount to its recoverable ameunt, being
the estimated future cash flow disccunted at the original
effecfive interest rate of the instrument, and continues
unwinding the discount as interest income. Interest income on
impaired toans and receivables is recognised using the original
effective interest rate.

D T I T N ks
DE T IR AENT (GRAMNTS

Grants from the Government are recognised at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the Group will
comply with all attached conditions and that the grant will be
received. Government grants are recognised in the income
statement over the period necessary to offset them with the
costs that they are intended to compensate.

o T v
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The preparation of consolidated f\nonooi statements under
IFRS requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect amounts recognised for assets and liabilities at the
balance sheet date and the amounts of revenue and the
expenses incumed during the reporting pericd. Actual
cutcomes may therefore differ from these estimates and
assumptions. The estimates and assumptions that have the
most significant impact on the camying value of assets and
abilities of the Group within the next financial year are
detailed as follows;

1: "
TENAEPNTR AN

The Group's revenue recognition and margin recognition
policies, which are set outin notes 2.15 and 2.16, are central to
the way the Group volues the work it has caried out in each
financial year and have been consistently applied.

Across the Group more than 213 construction confracts
{FY20: 218} were income generating during the year,

Cf these 14 (FY20: 10) individually had an impact of £5.0m or
greater on operatfing profit.

The economic outcomes of construction contracts are
princinally determined by the contractual terms including how
revenue is calculated {which can include milestone payments,
progress-based payments, incentives and gain-share or pain-
share), the type of service being provided/risks being
managed {for example traditional contracting or construction
management} and the actucl operational and financial
perforrnance versus forecast (af the time of contract award or
subsequently), Other external factors can alse have a material
impact on performance, such as inflation, aspects of design
development. ground conditions and the performance of
subcontractors.

The key judgements and estimates relating to determining the
revenue and profit of these material contracts within the
Group's accounts are:

- Identification of separable performance obligations;

- Ensuring revenue recognised is highly probable, specific
attention being paid to the estimates of:

— recoverability of claims and variations from clients for
changes in condition/scope;

- revenue receivable in relation to achievement of gain-
share [or pain-share), milestones and other incentive
amangements; and

- deductions for any damages levied by a clienf, e.g. for
late handover,

— Percentage of completion of the project versus the planned
cost prograrmme;

— Achievability of the plaonned build programme;
— Forecast cost to complete (including contingencies); and

~ Allowances for post-practical compietion works (including
rectification of defects).
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226K EY IDGEMENTS ARD ESTIMATON UNCERTAINTY
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SNTINMUED)

Each contract s freated on s merits and sulbject to a regular
review of the revenue and costs to complete by the project
tearn and senior management.

The level of estimation uncertainty in our construction business
is mitigated by:

- The processes in place regarding the selection of projects
auring the bid/work-winning phase;

- The level of experience of management and the Board in
delivering projects and accounting for the various types of
projects; and

- The processes in place to identify and mitigate issues
promptly.

Volafility is also reduced by the effect of managing a
significant portfolio of projects.

Nevertheless, the profit recognition in our construction business
is a key estimate, due to the variety of contract terms and the
inherent uncertainties in any construction project.

The estimation techniques used for revenue and profit
recognition on construction contracts require forecasts to be
made of the outcome of long-term contracts which require
assessments and judgements to be made on the recovery of
pre-confract costs, changes in the scope of work, contract
programmes, maintfenance and defects liabilties and
changes in cost.

As at 31 March 2021, Covid-19 was reasonably expected to
have animpaoct on costs to complete across the Group's
portfolic of construction contracts. After the balance sheet
date, management has performed an ongoing assessment of
forecast costs for construction contracts. Additional costs to
progress or complete projects and associated revenue as a
result of Covid-19 have been categorised s follows:

- Costs that do not confribute to the progression or
completion of a performance obligation; these costs are
classified s inefficiencies and are expensed in the period in
which they are incurred and not reflected as part of the
stage of completion revenue recognition methodology (see
note 2.14);

- Costs associated with delay or additional measures required,
such as those due to social distancing and additional
persondal protective equipment, are included in the costs fo
complete forecast insofar as they were recasonably
foreseeable ot 31 March 2021; and

- Revenue associated with additional Covid-19 costs has
been recognised where it was considered highly probakble
of not reversing as at the balance sheet date in accordance
with IFRS15 and the Group's policy on revenue and
margin recognition.

For the financial year ended 31 March 2020, management
made an adjustment for one project where the impact of the
Group's share of the costs of delay or additional measures
required, net of associated revenue, were significant (> £2m).
No adjustment is required for FY21.

There is one contract that the Group considers as material
sources of estimation uncertainty and, as at 31 March 2021
{consistent with 31 March 2020}, the Group has included
estimated recoveries from the customer of £81.1m, relating
enfirely fo the first stage of work on this project. The Group
considers that the value of this contract includes potential
downside risk of £35.0m, being the difference between the
fotal estimated recovery and the amount received to date.
This recovery is recognised on the basis that it is considered
highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of
revenue recognised wil not occur. A draft Deed of Variation
(Deed) was agreed in principle with the cusiomer in 2020 and
awdits final ratification by Central Government and signing by
the counterparties. Final rafification is not yet complete as the
Deed also incorporates further stages of the project, for which
no agreement has yet been reached by the parties and no
recovery has been recognised. The customer has made, and
continues to make, payments under the ferms of the Deed
that relate to the first stage of work.

Qur construction business revenue for the year is £2.4bn (FY20:
£2.3bn) with an associated margin of 8.8% (FY20: 9.7%). Should
margins reduce by 1%. the impact of such a change across
our projects in delivery af the year end would be an impact on
gross profit of £24.0m [FY20: £24.0m). Should revenues reduce
by 1%, and the associated costs reduce by 1%, the impact on
gross profit would be £2.4m (FY20: £2.3mj).

Management's best judgement has been reflected in the
accounting and reporting of disputed amounts, legal cases
and claims, but the actual future cutcome may be different
from this judgement.

One indivicdual dispute currently disclosed within the
consolidated financial statements that has a material impact
on the Group is in respect of the terminated contract with EPC
Cryogenic Tanks in 2017. An amount of £103m (AUD$187m) is
recognised in contract assets as an estimate of the amount
expected to be recovered. This will be subject to private
arbitration so the actuai amount recovered may be
significantly different to this estimate. The Group intends to
pursue several substantial claims in accordance with this
contract. Refer to note 18 for further details.

From fime fo time, the Group receives claims from
subcontractors that it must evaluate in estimating the costs to
complete on confracts and resolve as part of determining its
final contract positions. Management bases its estimates of
costs associated with such claims on its assessment of the
expected outcome of each matter using the latest available
information. There is inherent uncertainty assaciated with the
estimates made by management and any differences
between these estimated and the eventual amounts seftled
may be material. However, given the extent of subcontractor
claims at any given point in time, as is common within the
sector, and as the guantum of amounts being claimed is not
always known, it is not possicle to provide any meaningful
sensitivities of the estimates that have been made.
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Judgement has been used to determine the presentation of
exceptional items, which relate to matters arising that are
unusual and generally not expected to recccur, the
exceptional items arising in the year were:

i} Legal costs relating to a one-off disputed confract in our
Australio Hub.

iy Costsrelating to the restructuring of the Australia Hub.

There are no key estimates within exceptional items.

There is estimation uncertainty in assessing accrued costs in
respect of the recfification of defects, which are based on
management's best estimate of the cost to be incured as at
the reporting date.

In the year ended 31 March 2021, costs in respect of the
rectification of defects of £29.0m [FY20: 8.9m} were incurred
and debited to contfract liabilities. As disclosed in note 18, as at
31 March 2021, the Group held liabilities, included in contract
liakiities, of £76.4m (FY20: £56.7m) in respect of such defect
rectification. Due fo the nature of these defect liabilities, which
can arise on projects where the construction work finished a
number of years ago, and where the Group may not have
access to the site to fully assess the costs of rectification, it is
difficult to provide meaningful sensitivity disclosures of the
range of estimation uncertainty. However, as an indication of
the estimation uncertainty associated with this balance, o 10%
movement in the balance would have an impact on the
consolidated income statement of £7.6m, although actual
movements may be greater.

In preparing these consclidated financial statements using the
going concemn basis of acceounting, management has
considered the forecast future cash flows of the Group under a
management case scenario and several downside scencarios
(see Consolidated Management Report oh page 53 and 54).
Forecast future cash flows include the following areas of
estimation uncertainty:

— Work winning for the Group;

— Construction activity including project margins and working
capital position;

- Support of the supply chain in terms of product material,
labour supply and flexibility in payment terms;

— Inflotionary pressures;
— Disrugtion to the supply chain;
— Structural drivers for construction work; and

— Possibility of increased Covid-19 related restriction impacting
construction.

In order to form a conclusicn on going concern and
determining that there is no matenal uncertainty that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's going concern status,
management has exercised judgement by analysing the past
performance of the business, its existing portfolio of projects
and order book, and its expectation of work winning. In
addition it has drawn on its knowledge and expertise of key
drivers of cash flow performance in the construction sectorin
the markets in which it operates to assess the forecast liquidity
and covenant headroom under its committed financing
facilities based onits severe but plausible downside scenario.
Further details of this assessment and the key assumptions
made are set out on page 53 and 54.

The Group is subject to tax in o number of jurisdictions, and
judgement is required in determining the worldwide provision
for income taxes including the recognifion of defered tax
assets. The Group provides for future liabilities in respect of
uncertain tax positions where it is probable that additional tax
may become payable in future periods and such provisions
are based upon management's assessment of exposures.
Assets are only recognised where it is probable that additional
tax will become payable in future periods and that the asset
can be utilised.

At the balance sheet date, a total tax liability of £6.3m
(FY2Q: £7.5m) has been recagnised in respect of uncertain
tax positions.

The £6.3m provision relates to management's judgement of
the amount of tax payable on open tax retums where the
liabilities remain to be agreed with the tax authorities in the UK
and Hong Kong. The uncertain tax iterms for which a provision is
made relate principally to the interpretation of tax legisiation
regarding the tax deductibility of expenses incurred in the
ordinary course of business. Due to the nature of the
uncertainty associated with such tax items, a very limited
range of outcomes is possitle — either the tax provision
becomes payable or not — and therefore it is not practicable
to provide sensitivity estimates.

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash generating units to
which the goodwill has been allocated. The value-in-use
calculation requires an estimation to be made of the timing
and amount of future cash flows expected to arise from the
cash generating unit, and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present vaiue. The discount rate used, canying
value of goodwill and further details of the impairment
calculation are included in note 13.

In light of Covid-19 and Brexit, management has considered
other areas of judgement and estimation, including expected
credit foss provisioning (see note 19) and impacts on costs fo
progress or complete construction contracts (see note 2.26(q)).

As described further in note 13, the Group has alse performed
an impairment test across all CGUs.

Management has concluded that any updates to the
estimates associcted with these areas of the financial
statements are not expected to result in significant change.
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227 OTHER JIDGE

UINCERTAS

In preparing the consolidated financial statements
management has considered the impact of cimate change.
Potential impacts of climate change. which include increased
intensity and frequency of weather events and stricter
environmental legislation, have been considered by
management, fogether with the group’s stated target of
becoming operational net zero by 2030 and deveioping plans
fo achieve net zero scope 3 emissions by 2050 to the extent
these can be forecast at present. These considerations did not
have a material impact on the financial reporting judgements
and estimates and climate change is not expected to have a
significant impact on the Group's going concern assessment
10 March 2023.

Specific areas considered by management inciuded:

- Estimates of the future cash flows used in the impairment
assessment of the carmying value of goodwill where the
forecasts used include the impact of climate change to the
extent that these can be forecast at present [see note 13);

- Long-term contract accounting assumptions, such as the
forecast costs of a project and as these progress, the
estimated costs to complete and the allowance for
rectification works (see note 2.26a);

- The appropriateness of the estimated useful economic lives
of the Group's property, plant and equipment and right of
use assets (see notes 16 and 17) where no significant
changes are currently needed; and

- The recoverability of defemred tax assets recognised (see
note 24} in respect of camed forward losses in relation to the
UK operations.

The Group centinues to invest in new fechnaologies and
product development including a project to decarbonise
manufactured concrete components used in construction. The
costs of these projects are curently being expensed as
incurred.
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3  REVENUE

30 DEAGGRECATION GF PEVENGE

The Group presents a disaggregation of its revenue according to the primary gecgraphical markets and sectors in which the

Group operates.

There is no material difference betwaen revenue by origin and revenue by destinafion.

The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and services over time and af @ peint in fime in the following geographical

regions and major ines:

United Kingdom
2021

Australla

Rest of World Total

2021 2021 2021
£m £m £m £m
Revenue - 15149 894.5 94.3 2,503.7
Timing of revenue recognition
At o pointin time 16.5 0.4 158 32.9
COver time 1,498.4 893.9 785 24708
Revenue ) 1.514.9 8945 94.3 2,503.7
Construction Manufacturing Plant Hire Services Total
2021 2021 202t 2021 2021
£m £m £m £m £m
Revenue o 23211 277 86.3 68.6 2,503.7
Timing of revenue recognition
At d pointin time - 27.7 - 52
Overfime S 23211 - 84.3 63.4
Revenue - 2,321.1 277 86.3 684
United Kingdom Australia Rest of World
2020 2020 2020
im im £m
Revenue 5 - 16316 6398 1571
Timing of revenue recognition S -
At a point in time 9.4 0.3 165 = 262
Over lime 1,642.2 639.5 1406 24223
Revenue - 11,6516 6398 157.1 24485
Construction Manufactuting Plant Hire services Total
2020 2020 2020 202¢ 2020
£m £m £m £m £m
Revenue S ) 23110 208 839 278 24485
Timing of revenue recognition
At apointin time - 208 - 5.4 2462
Over time 2311.0 B - 88.9 224 2,422.3
Revenue ' 2311.0 208 88.9 278 24485
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4 TRADING ANALYSIS

This note provides additional value to the readers of these consolidated financial statements using some non-statutory disclosures, as explained below.

Cerparate
Management
£urope Hub Avstrafia Hub and Treasury Total Group
20n 2023 2021 2021
£m £m Em £m
Performance by Hub:
Managed revenue* 1.961.% 940.3 98 29320
Less: Inter-segment revenue 7 (227.1) (63.2) (9.8) (300.1)
Total revenue including share of joint ventures ond associates* 1,734.8 897.1 - 246319
Less: Share of joint ventures and associates revenue - (121.4) (4.8) - (128.2)
Revenue ) o 1,613.4 890.3 - 2,503.7
Profit/(loss) before taxrpost-excepﬁongl items - . 704 27.3 (56.3} 414
EBIT* post-exceptional ftems ' 90.3 327 (s3.1) 9.9
EBITDA* post-exceplional items ) ] _ 1220 45.6 (52.8) 1148
Profit/(loss) before fax and exceptional items e 70.4 334 (56.3) 475
EBIT* pre-excephional items ' 90.3 388 (53.1) 76.0
EBTDA* pre-excepflional items 122.0 51.7 {52.8) 120.9

* These are non-statutory disclosures. EBIT is defined as profit/{loss) before interest and tax and EBTDA is defined as profit/{loss) before interest and tax and
adding back depreciation and amortisation.

Corporate
Management
Eurcpe Hub Australio Hub and Treasury Toral Group
2020 2020 2020 2020
£m im £m £m
Managed revenue* 22393 710.7 29 29599
Less: Inter-segment revenue o 7 (333.8) 1.3 (@7 (404.8)
Total revenue including share of joint ventures and associates* 1,905.5 649.4 0.2 2.555.1
tess: Share of joint venlures and associates revenue ) {97.7) (8.9 ] - {106.6)
Revenue L 1.807.8 440.5 02 24485
Profit/(loss) before lax post-excepfional items 555 266 (388 455
EBIT* post-exceptional items o 751 316 (338) 72.9
EBITDA* post-exceptional items B 108.7 46.3 (334) 1216
Eﬁ_’r/-(ldgs) before tax and exceptional items - N - : 578 30 (36.6) 56.2
EBIT* pre-exceplional items N 77.4 399 (33.7} - 83.6
EBITDA* pre-excepfional items 1111 54.6 [33.4} 1323

* These are non-statutory disclosures. EBIT is definad as profit/{loss) before nterest and fax and EBITDA is defined as profit/{loss} before interest and tax and
adding back depreciation and amortisation.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

for the yeor ended 31 March 2021

4 TRADING ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Pre- Exceptional Pre- Exceptional
excepfional ltems exceptional items
Hems {note 5) Total ftems {note 5) Total
2021 2021 2021 2620 2020 2020
EBIT and EBITDA: Note £m £m £m im £m im
EBIT 76.0 (6.1) 69.9 83.6 (10.7) 72.9
Depreciation 6 1.4 - 414 453 - 453
Amortisation o 6 35 - 35 34 - 3.4
EBITDA 120.9 {8.1) 114.8 132.3 (10.7) 121.6
5  EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS
2021 2020
£m £m
Legal costs 38 32
Restructuring costs 23 2.4
Impairment of assets - 5.1
Exceptional costs before tax 6.1 10.7
Income: fax credit on exceptionalitems - - S (14) {1.4]
Exceptional costs after tax 47 9.3

LEGAL.COSTS

Exceptional costs of £3.8m (FY20: £3.2m) were recognised in the year, which relate to legal costs incured in the Australia Hub
regarding the disputed EPC Cryogenic tanks contract. These costs have been treated as exceptional as they are material and
unusual by nature, given the circumstances surrounding the disputed confract which are unlikely fo reoccur, As the relevant
confract does not specify a time limit within which the dispute resolution must be determined, there can be no certainty as to
when the matter will be finalised,

RESTRUCTURING COSTS
The Australia Hub incurred £2.3m of restructuring costs during the year (FY20: £nil). These relate to a restructure of companies and
are primarily legal, consultancy and stamp duty costs which arise from a one-off event and are material and unusual by nature.

During the year, the Europe Hub incurred &nil of costs in relation to restructuring {FY20: £2.4m). In FY20 the restructuring costs in the
Europe Hub related to aredundancy programme which was a one-off, unusual event.

During the year the Group recognised an exceptional impairment of £nil (FY20: £5.1m}. The impairment of £5.1m in FY20 includes
impairments of right-of-use assels (£1.3m), intangible assets (£0.5m) and other assets [£3.3m).
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NQOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
for the year ended 31 March 2021

& PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE INTEREST AND TAX

Profit/(loss) before interest and fax Is siated alter charging/{crediting): Note g -
Staff costs 7 625.8 646.7
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 14 184 19.2
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 17 230 26.1
Short-term lease rentals and short term hires:

Property, plant and equipment 4.8 1.9
Amortisation of other intangible assets 13 35 3.4
Profit on disposal of plant and equipment {4.4) (7.3)
Profit on dispesal of land and buildings (5.8} -
Foreign exchange gains (0.4) (0.4)
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 265 19.7
Impcirment of intangible assets 13 13 0.5
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 14 1.6 03
Exceplional items 5 6.1 10.7
Accrued costs inrespect of rectification of defective works 29.0 89
Auditors’ remuneration (see below) 43 36

2021 2020
Auditors’ remuneration Note £m £m
Fees payable to the Company's audiitor for the audit of;

The Company’s annual financial statements and consolidated financial statements 31 25

The Company's subsidiaries pursuant fo legislation 09y 07
Total qudit fees ) ) o B 4.0 32
@bquble to the Company’s auditor and its associates for other services: N

Services relating to tax 03 03

All other services - 0.1
Tolal non-audit fees ) B 03 0.4
Total fees 43 3.6

Included within the FY21 Group audit fee of £3.1mis £0.9m of Group audit fee overuns in respect of FY20.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
for the year ended 31 March 2021

7  STAFF COSTS AND EMPLOYEE NUMBERS

Number of employees Nuni:obﬂ Nurf)(tj)ge?
The average monthly number of employees {including Directors) during the financial year was:
Eurcpe Hub 7,905 9322
Australia Hub o B ) 1961 2258
Total number of employees 9,866 11,580
Aggregate remuneration and related costs, including Directors 232;1 2%%2
Salaries! a9 387.4
wages 168.5 187.9
Social security costs 39.6 428
Other pensicn costs _ B 278 8.6
' 625.8 646.7

1. During the financial year a govemment grant of £2.5m was received in respect of the coronavirus job retention scheme and has been netted off
against salaries, social secunty and pension costs, within administrative expenses.

At 31 March 2021 £2.8m (FY20: £2.7m) was payable in respect of defined confribution schemes and included in other payables

(note 22).

TEANESACTI DN W K AR IAGE AL

T

FERSOMME

The Group's key management personnel during the financial year include the nine Directors and nine other members (FY20: ten
Directors and nine other members) who served on the Group Executive Committee during the year, and ne other individuals

(FY20: nc other individuals) considered key management parsonnel during the year.

The compensation of key management personnel is as follows:

2021 2020
£m £m
Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 6.6 7.5
SIRECTURS RENNERATION
The total remuneration of the Directors (included in key management personnel compensation above} was as tollows:
2021 2020
£m im
Salaries and other short-term benefits 35 3.5

None of the Directors are accruing benefits under a defined contribution scheme (FY20: none). No postretirement benefits were

paid on behalf of Directors {FY20: £nil).
8 OTHER OPERATING INCOME

2021 2020

£m £m

Rents received 01 -
Research and development expenditure credit 72 0.4
Other operating income S 1.1 0.5
B 84 0.9

The research and development expenditure credit of £7.2m is based on an assessment of recoverabillity from HMRC. The amount

for FY21 includes additionat claims for prior year expenditure.
¢ PROFIT ON DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES AND JOINT VENTURES

2021 2020

£m £m

Profit on sale of subsidiaries 1.2 0.4
Profit on sale of joint ventures {note 14 - - 25 -
' - 37 0.4
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

for the year ended 31 March 2021

10 FINANCE INCOME

2021 2020
£m £m
Bonk interest 08 1.0
Other interest and similar income 0.8 0.9
16 1.9
11 FINANCE EXPENSE
2021 2020
£m im
Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts 154 15.5
Interest payable on leases 6.7 6.6
Other interest payable ond similar charges 80 7.2
- 301 29.3
12 INCOMETAX
2021 2020
£m £m
Jersey corporation tax
Current tax on profit for the year - -
Foreign tax
Cumrent tax on profit for the year 51 2.5
Adjustment in respect of prior years . L)) 07
Total cumrent tax 3.5 32
Net origination of temporary differences — curent year 7.0 120
Net origination of termporary differences — prior years 25 [0.8)
Impact of changeinfoxrate - B8
Total deferred tax ) 9.5 7.4
Tax charge 13.0 10.6

The overall charge [FY20: charge) for the year of £13.0m (FY20: £10.6m) is explained relative to the UK statutory rate of 19 % below:

2021 2020
£m im
Total tax reconciliation
Profit before tax 414 455
Tax at the UK corporation tax rate of 19% (FY20: UK 19%) 7.9 8.4
Effects of
- higher overseqs tax rates 20 1.5
- non-deductible expenditure 1.0 07
- adjustments in respect of prior years 0.9 {on
- tax effect of joint ventures - 0.1
-impact of change in future tax rates - (3.8)
- unrecognised defemred tax 1.2 2.7
- other items - 0%
Total fox charge 13.0 10.6

A total group tax charge of £13.0m [FY20: £10.6m] arises for the year on the total group profit of £41.4m (FY20: £45.5m, giving an
effective tax rate of 31.4% {FY20: 23.3%). The total tax charge for the year includes an exceptional tax credit of £1.4m {FY20: credit
of £1.4m} in relation to tax-dliowable exceptional expenditure for Australian legal and restructuring costs (see note 5).

On 3 March 2021, in the spring budget, the UK Government announced that from 1 April 2023 the corporation tax rate would rise
from 19% o 25%. Given this was only substantively enacted in the Finance Act 2021 on 24 May 2021, after the balance sheet date,
all UK deferred tax assets and liakilities continue to be recognised at the existing 19% rate. Based on the probable future taxable
profits against which temporary differences could be utilised at 25%, if this change had been substantfively enacted befare the
balance sheet date, the value of defered tax assets recognised at the balance sheet date would increase by £6.3m.

Laing O'Rourke Corporation |

77



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

for the year ended 31 March 2021

12 INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

In the spring budget 2020, the UK Government announced that from 1 April 2020 the corporation tax rate would remain at 19%
{rather than reducing to 17%, as previously enacted). This new law was substantively enacted on 17 March 2020 and therefore all
UK deferred tax assets and liabilities, which were recognised at 17%, have been recalculated at 19% as at 31 March 2020, resulting

in a £3.8m credit.

TAN EFFECTS RELATING T £ACH COMPONENT Or COMPREHENIIVE INCOME

2021 2020
Before-tax Net-of-tax Before-tax Net-of-tax
amount Tax expense amount amount Tax expense amount
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Exchange differences on franslating foreign
operations 178 - 178 (15.3) - (15.3)
Fair value of held to collect and to sell financial
assets (0.8) - (0.8) (1.0) - (1.0)
Share of other comprehensive expense of
investments accounted for using the equity
method , o 1.0 - 1.0 0.5 - 0.5
18.0 - 180 (15.8} - {15.8)
13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Restaled!
Computer
Restated' software and Devealopment
Goodwil | costs  Restoted® Total
£m £m £m Em
Cost
At 1 April 2020 {restated) 3225 40.2 5.0 347.7
Additions - 34 0.1 35
Disposals - (0.7} - (0.7}
Transfer to property, plant and equipment - (3.7} - 3.7}
Exchange differences 42 (0.1} - 41
A 31 March 2021 326.7 39.1 5.1 370.9
Accumulated amoirlisation and impairment
A1 April 2020 (restated!) 33 254 34 a2
Amortisation for the vear - 35 - 35
Disposals - {0.5) - (0.5)
Impdirment - 1.3 - 1.3
Exchange differences o - (0.3) - (0.3)
At 31 March 2021 - 33 29.4 34 36.1
Net book value at 31 March 2021 3234 9.7 1.7 3348
Cost
At 1 April 2019 (restated!) 3262 358 3.4 3454
Additions - 72 1.6 8.8
Disposails - (2.6) - (2.6)
Exchange differences o {3.7) (0.2} - 39
At 31 March 2020 frestoted'} i 3225 40.2 50 367.7
Accumulated amortisation and irﬁpairment
At 1 April 2019 {restated’) 30 254 24 30.8
Amortisction for the year - 24 1.0 3.4
Disposals - (2.5) - (2.5)
Impairment! 03 0.2 - 0.5
Exchange differences o - (0.1} - (©.1)
A1 31 March 2020 (restared’) 33 254 34 321
Net book value at 31 March 2020 3192 148 1.6 3356

1. The impairment charge was previously shown in cost and has been re-presented as an impairment charge within accumulated emertisation and
impaiment, therefore the balance at 1 April 2019 for both cost and accumulated amortisafion and impairment have each been restated by £2.2m and the
balance at 31 March 2020 for both cost and accumulated amertisation and impdirment have each been restated by £2 7m. The restatements are due 1o

disclosure emors in pricr periods.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
for the year ended 31 March 2021

13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
AP AIRMENT TESTS FOR CASH-GENERATING UNITS CONTAINING GOODWILL

The foliowing units have significant amounts of gaodwill 29::2nl| 2%2m0
Australia 422 380
United Kingdom 281.2 281.2

- - - 3224 3192

The recoverable amount of goodwil attached to each cash generating unitis based on value in use calculations In accordance
with IAS 36, Impairment of Assets. Each CGU calculation uses cash flow projections based on four-year financial budgerts
approved by management and a perpetual growth rate of 2% based on industry data (FY20: 3%). discounted at the Group's
estimated pre-tax weighted average cost of capital of 12.9% (FY20: 14.1%) for the UK CGU and 15.1% (FY20: 13.5%) for the
Australio CGU. Budgeted gross margins are based on past performance and management’s market expectations. The weighted
average cost of capitalis an estimate based on that of listed industry competitors, adjusted for changes in capital structures and
specific considerations.

Sensitivity analysis, including the potential impact of Covid-19, Brexit and climate change, has been performed on the goodwill in
relation to each CGU by changing the key assumptions applicable to each CGU. In the view of the Directors there is not a
reasonably foreseeable change in & key assumption that would frigger an impairment charge.

Assumed revenue growth is 24% far FY23, 11% for FY24 and 9% for FY25. Gross margin is assumed o increase from 10% in FY23 to
12% in FY25. Overheads are assumed to remain stable during the forecast period at approximately 3% of revenue.

APAOQRTSATION CHARGE
The amoertisation charges in respect of computer software and licences and development costs are recognised in the following
line itermn in the income statement:

2021 202¢
£m £m
Administrative expenses as 34

14 ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

YORKSHIRE LEARMING PARINERSHI P3¢ LidAIED

During the year the Group disposed of its interest in its joint venture Yorkshire Learning Partnership PSP Limited for £9.8m, achieving
a profit on disposal of £2.5m. The £9.8m consideration included the repayment of subordinated debt investment (£7.3m} and
equity (£2.5m}.

PRESIEN HOLDING S PTY LISITED

During the year the Group transferred its 100% equity helding in PFP Robotics Pty Limited to Presien Holdings Pty Limited in
exchange for 2,750,000 shares in Presien Holdings Pty Limited at AUD$2.00 per share. Laing O'Rourke Australia Pty Limited's share of
Presien Holdings Pty Limited is 26.2%.

The equity interest in Presien Holdings Pty Limited was £1.8m (AUD$3.3m) with a gain on disposal of the subsidiary of £1.2m
{AUD$2.2m).

AUSTRALIA HUB RESTRINCTURE

During the year the Group concluded a corporate restructure of the Australia Hub. The restructure included establishing a new
holding entity, Laing O'Rourke Australia Group Ply Limited. The restructure also included the incorperation of additional entities as
subsidliaries to Laing Q'Rourke Australic Pty Limited. The restructure did not result in any disposals, acquisifions or discontinuing of
operations.

PRI YEAR

There were no acquisitions or disposals in the prior year.
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15 INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES

Joint ventures

Associate

equily equity taans to joint

investments Investment venh Total

£m £m £m fm

A1 April 2020 (21.3) - 504 291
Equity investment received on disposal of subsidiary (see nate 14) - 1.8 - 1.8
Disposals (1.4) - (7.3) (8.7}
Fair value revaluation of financial assets (0.8) - - {(0.8)
Share of other comprehensive income from joint ventures and asscciates 1.0 - - 1.0
Exchange differences (0.4) - (1.5) (1.7)
At3] March 2021 (22.9) 18 416 205
Share of results for the year after tax (4.9) {c.4) - (5.3)
Distributions received B (0.2) - - (0.2)
Net book value at 31 March 2021 {28.0) 1.4 414 150
AT April 2019 (19.6) - 480 28.4
Equity investment purchases 6.0 - - 6.0
Loans advanced - - 1.4 1.4
Loans repaid - - {0.2) 0.2)
Fair value revaluation of financial assets (1.0] - - {1.0)
Share of other comprehensive income from joint ventures and associates 0.5 - - 0.5
Exchange differences (1.2} - 12 -

At 31 March 2020 . i (153) - 50.4 35.1
Share of results for the year after tax (4.9) - - (4.9}
Distributions received (1.1 - - {1.1)

Net book value at 31 March 2020 213) - 504 29.1

The Group's share of jeint venture and associate equity investments and loans to joint ventures is presented above. IFRS 11 Joint

Amrangements requires the following presentation adjustments:

- where the Group has dlready accounted for an obligation to fund net liabilities of a joint venture or associate. this is deducted

from loans made to the joint venture or associate; and

— where the Group's obligation to fund net liabilifies of a joint venture or associate exceeds the amount loaned, a provision is

recorded (see note 23).

The Group's investments in joint ventures and associates are presented in the statement of financicl position as:

2021 2020
£m im
Investments in joint ventures and associates 14.0 15.4
Loans to joint ventures 8.0 5.3
Provisions (note 23) (7.0) {1.6)
) 15.0 29.1
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15 INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

The principal joint ventures and associates are shown in note 35. Each joint venture and associate has share capital consisting
solely of ordinary shares, which is held directly by the Group. Each jeint venture and associate is a private company and there is
no quoted market price available for its shares.

Set out below is the summarised financial information for the joint ventures and associates of the group. The information disclosed
reflects the amounts presented in the financial statements of the relevant joint ventures and associates and not Laing O'Rourke
Comoration’s share of these amounts. They have been amended to reflect adjustments made by the entity when using the
equity method including fair value adjustments and modifications for differences in accounting policies.

Health
Emirates Monhreal Privaie Presien
Precast Collective Finance Haoldings Pty
Construcion CIV Limited Inifiatives Explore Juris BYLOR timited- Othes
LLC  Porinership {PFlis} Transport  Parinership Services Assoclale Total
2021 2021 202t 2021 2021 2021 2021 2020 202t

£m £€m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Revenue 141 2.4 40 56,7 5.6 168.8 0.2 - 252.0
Depreciation and ameortisation {0.3) - - {7.5) (0.1) - - - (7.9)
Other expenses (13.4) {13.5) (3.5) {47.3) (5.3) (1468.8) (1.8} - {253.4)
Operating profit/(loss) 04 {10.9) 0.5 1.9 02 - (1.4} - (9.5)
Net finance {costs)/income - - - {0.9) - - 0.1 - (0.8)
Profit/(loss) before tax 04 {10.9) 0.5 1.0 0.2 - (1.5} - {10.3)
Tax expense - - - {0.9) - - - - (0.9)
Profil/(loss) aftertax 04 {10.9) 0.5 0. 02 - {1.5} - (11.2)
Other comprehensive income - - - - 20 - - - 20
Total comprehensive
income/(expense) 04 (10.9) 0.5 0.1 22 - {1.5) - 9.2
Dividends received from joint
ventures 0.6 - - - 0.2 - - - 08
Non-cumrent assets
Goodwil - - - 03 - - 0.4 - 0.9
Property, plant and equipment 0.7 - - 37.8 0.3 - - - 38.8
Other non-cunent assets 0.6 - 166.9 - 0.2 - 25 - 170.2
Cumrent assets
Cash and cash equivalents 58 39 9.7 41 23 19.8 24 - 430
Other current assets 134 13.9 70 128 5.4 7.3 - 0.6 60.4
Total assets 205 17.8 183.6 55.0 8.2 27.1 55 0.6 318.3
Current liabilities
Bomowings - - - (3.0 - - - - (3.0)
Other current liabilities (5.7} (29.7 (6.9} {17.9) {2.3) (27.1) (0.7) (0.8) (91.1)
Nen-current liabilities
Bormrowings - - (172.0) (22.4) - - - - (194.4)
Cther nan-current liabilities {1.5) - - (3.1) (0.6) - - (48.8) (54.0)
Total liabilities {7.2) 29.7) (178.9) (44.4) (2.9) {27.1} 0.7) (49.6) (342.5)
Net assets/(liabilities) 13.3 {11.9) 4.7 8.4 53 - 48 (49.0) (24.2}

Financial commitments - - - - - - - - -

Capital commitments - - - - - - - - -

* PFis relates to investments in joint ventures in Alder Hey and Yorkshire Learning Partnerships. Yorkshire Learning Partnerships was disposed of in the year
[see note 14)

Piease refer to note 35 for details of the place of business for material joint ventures.
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for the vear ended 31 March 2021

15 INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Health
Ernirates Montreal Private
Precast Colilective Finance
Construction  C#V timited Inifiatives Explore Juris BYLOR
tLC Partnershig {PFis} Transport Partnership Services Other fotal
2020 2020 2020 2020 2020 2020 2021 2020
£m im £m £m £m £m £m im
Revenve 25.5 22 59 57.8 10.2 109.2 - 210.8
Depreciafion and amortisation (0.3 - - (9.0 (0.1} - - (2.4)
Other expenses {22.8) {140) (5.7} (48.8) @.1) {109.2) - 1209.6)
Operafing profit/{loss) 24 {11.8) 0.2 - 1.0 - - (8.2)
Net finance income/{costs) - 10 0.2 (1.7} - - - {0.5)
Profit/(loss) before tax - 2.4 (10.8) 0.4 (1.7} 10 - - [Sjﬂ
Tax credit/(expense) - - - 03 - - - 0.3
Profit/(loss) affer tax 24 (10.8) 04 (1.4} 1.0 - - (8.4)
Other comprehensive income - - - - 1.0 - - 1.0
Total comprehensive
income/(expense) 2.4 (10.8) 0.4 (1.4) 20 - - 7.4
Dividends received from
joint ventures 2.6 - - 0.2 10 - - 38
Non-cumrent assets
Goodwill - - - 0.7 - - - 0.7
Property, plant and equipment 08 - - 50.5 0.3 - - 51.6
Other non-cument assets 0.4 - 278.9 - 0.2 - - 27%9.5
Cumrent assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6.0 10.2 14.4 3.1 2.4 9.8 - 46.1
Other current assets 194 204 10 11.4 78 - 67 0.7 67.4
Total assets 26 306 294.5 657 10.7 16.5 07 4453
Cumrent liabilities
Bomowings - - {5.3) (3.6) - - - (8.9}
Other current lickilities (2.8} (31.4) {1.9) {15.4) (3.9) {16.5) {0.8) {79.9
Non-cument liabilities
Borrowings - - {281.1} {35.5} - - - (316.8)
Other non-current liabilities (1.8) - - (2.3} {0.7) - (510 {55.8)
Tolal liabilities (11.6) (314 (2883) (56.8) (4.6) (16.5) (518 (4612
Net assets/(liabilities) 150 (1.0) 6.2 89 6.1 - (51.1) (15.9)
ﬁbhdol commitments - - - - - - - -
Capital commitmenits - - - - - - - -
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16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Group awner Plant,
occupled land Other iand ond  equipment and
and bulldings buildings vehicles Total
£m £m £m £m

Cost
AT T April 2020 23 344 2234 280.1
Additions - 0.2 14.0 14.2
Disposals (0.9) (0.6) {(31.6) {33.0}
Transfer from intangible assets - - 37 37
Transfer from right-of-use assets - 0.5 28 23.3
Exchange differences 0.2 0.3 5% &4
At 31 March 2021 S N 217 348 238.2 2947
Accumulaled depreciation
At 1 April 2020 2.1 20.4 153.5 176.2
Depreciation charge for the year 03 23 15.8 18.4
Impairment - - 1.6 1.4
Disposals - (0.8) {25.8) (24.4)
Transfer from right-of-use assets - - 1.1 1.1
Exchange differences - (0.3) 2.4 23
At31 March 2021 24 220 158.8 183.2
Net book value at 31 March 2021 - 19.3 128 79.4 1.5
Cost
At 1 Apnl 2012 22.5 2?8 199.6 2519
Additions 0.1 50 1.4 16.5
Disposals - - {21.9) 21.9)
Transfer to right-of-use assets - - (12.0) (12.0)
Transfer from night-of-use assets - - 50.7 50.7
Exchange differences _ 03) {0.4) (44) (51)
At 31 March 2020 B 223 34.4 223.4 280.1
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2019 1.5 18.5 137.5 157.5
Depreciation charge for the year 03 1.3 17.6 19.2
Impairment - - 0.3 03
Disposals - - {20.3) (20.3}
Transfer to right-of-use assets - - (6.3) (6.3)
Transfer from right-of-use assets - - 27.4 27.6
Exchange differences ~ - 03 08 (2.9} (1.8)
At 31 March 2020 - 21 206 1535 1762
Net book value af 31 March 2020 202 13.8 69.9 103.9

1. Right-of-use assets were disclosed within property, plant and equipment in FY20 and have therefore been re-presented for consistency with the oresentation

in FY21 which provides addifional visibility.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

for the year ended 31 March 2021

17 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Land and Plant and
bulldings equipment Vehicles Total
£m £m £m £m

Cost
At 1 April 2020 1240 137.2 38 245.0
Addlitions 52 17.9 14 24.5
Disposals (14.9) (5.4) - (20.3)
Transfer to property, plant and equipment {0.5) {22.8) - (23.3)
Exchange differences i 23 0.6 - 29
At 31 March 2021 116.1 127.5 5.2 248.8
Accumulated depreciation
A1 April 2020 168 50.5 1.4 68.9
Depreciation charge for the year 131 8.5 14 23.0
Disposals (4.6) (3.5) - (10.7)
Transfer to property. plant and equipment - (1.1) - (1.1}
Exchange differences 0.é 0.2 - 08
At 31 March 2021 23.% 444 30 s
Net book value at 31 March 2021 922 82.9 22 177.3
Cost
At 31 March 2019 - 173.0 08 1738
Adjustment on adoplion of IFRS 14 89.0 152 0.3 104.5
At 1 April 2019 8§90 188.2 1.1 2783
Additions 383 11.6 34 533
Disposails {0.7) (22.1) {0.2) {23.0)
Transfer from property, plant and equipment - 12.0 - 12.0
Transfer to property, plant and equipment - (50.2) {0.5) {50.7)
Exchange differences - {2.4) (2.3) - {49
At 31 March 2020 1240 137.2 38 265.0
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2019 - 68.7 0.6 69.3
Depreciation charge for the year 16.3 8.1 1.7 26.1
Impairment 1.3 - - 1.3
Disposals (0.3) (5.0) (0.2) {5.5}
Transfer from property, plant and equipment - 6.3 - 6.3
Transfer to property, plant and equipment - {27.1) (0.5) {27.6)
Exchange differences {0.5) {0.5) - (1.0)
At 31 March 2020 - 168 50.5 16 689
Net book value at 31 March 2020 167.2 86.7 22 196.1

This is an additional note as right-of-use assets were disclosed within property, plant and equipment in FY20 and have therefore
been re-presented for consistency with the presentation in FY21 which provides additional visibifity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
for the year ended 31 March 2021

18 CONTRACT BALANCES

ASSETS AN HIARLTIES RELATE S TO (CONTRALCT, wWiTtt CUSTOMERY

Contract assets are made up of a porffolio of contracts and represent unbiled amounts, including amounts arising from changes
to scope of works that have been recognised as revenue but not yet billed. Contract ficbilities result when cumulative cash
received exceeds cumulative revenue on any parficular contract. There are no significant one-off factors attributed to the

movements of these balances outside of normal frading.

Controct assets £€m
A1 Apnrl 2019 430.1
Transfers from contract assets recognised at the beginning of the year to receivables {227.2)
Performance obligations satisfied in the year that have vet to be transferred to receivables 143.8
BExchange differences B ~ (21.6)
Al 31 March 2020 (restated see note 2.2) 3051
Transfers from contract assets recognised at the beginning of the year fo receivables (135.7)
Performance obligations satisiied in the year that have yet to be transferred to receivables 100.6
Exchange differences ) 14.0
AL31 March 2021 - i ’ 3040

Contract liabilities

At 1 April 2019 (248.6)
Revenue recognised against contract liabilities at the beginning of the year 168.2
Increase due to cash received, excluding amounts recognised as revenue during the year (191.3)
Exchange differences _ N B . - - 56
A1 31 March 2020 {restated see note 2.2) (266.1]
Revenue recognised against contract liabilities at the beginning of the year 160.8
Increase due to cash received, excluding amounts recognised as revenue during the year {242.5)
E_x_chonggrdifferencesi ) ; 136
At 31 March 2021 (351.4)
Resiated Restated
{see note 2.2) {see nate 2.2}
Assets Assets Liablittes Lichitities Net Net
2021 2026 2021 2020 202t 2020
£m £Em £m &m £m £m

The ageing of confract assets/{liabilities) at the
year end was:

Less than one year 1704 183.0 (282.7} {257.3) {104.3) [74.3)
More than one year i 133.4 142, (68.7) (8.8 74.2 133.3
304.0 325.1 (351.4) (266.1) (30.1) 59.0

At 31 March 2021, contract assets include customer retentions of £73.1m (FY20: £88.8m) relafing to construction contracts, of
which £30.2m (FY20: £49.0m} are non-cument assets,

Included in non-cumrent contract assets is an amount of £103.3m {FY20: £93.0m) in respect of the EPC Cryogenic Tanks contract
terminated during FY 17 This contract is denominated in AUD$ and the movement in the year relates only to foreign cumency
movements. The contract-to-date loss amounts to £40.3m and represents costs incured in respect of delays and other matters
which will be claimed in addition to other substantial cldims net of expected losses stated above that have not been recegnised
in contract revenue at 31 March 2021. The Group's total claims are expected to exceed total contract costs incured. In addition
to claims for unpeoid work performed (including variations}, the amount to be claimed by the Group will include delay and
disruption cldims, post-termination costs, legal costs and interest. The confract contains dispute resolution provisions. As the
relevant confract does not specify a fime limit within which the dispute resolution process must be determined, there can be no
certainty as to when the matter wil be finalised. The matter has been refermed for resolution through private arbifration. The claims
process is ongoing with the parties curently undertaking evidence gathering.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
for the year ended 31 March 2021

18 CONTRACT BALANCES (CONTINUED)

At 31 March 2021, confract liabilities included liabilities across a number of legacy projects related to rectification works of £76.4m
{FY20: £56.7m), of which £10.6m (FY20: £nil] are non-current liabilities. During the year, £9.3m of the liability as at 1 April 2020 was
utilised for rectification works performed on legacy projects. Since year end, full and final sefflement has been reached on £24.0m
of these liabilities at amounts consistent with the provisicns held at 31 March 2021. Of these remaining liabilities of £52.4m (FY20:
£56.7m), the Group does not in all cases have access to the site o fully assess the costs of rectificolion and, therefore, there is no
certainty as to the level of costs that will ultimately be incured to setfle them. As described further in note 2.24, these liabilities are
therefore considered a major scurce of estimation uncertainty. Unless the timing of the rectification works is known and will occur

more than 12 months after the balance sheet date, these liabilities are shown as current,

SoroeTh

U IRATT PR e LT

The Group has no fulfilment costs within contract assets.

e Al e e e s e a e i I e oA e e
SR LD Cee bR AN TR DR G A TS

Confracts which have remaining perfformance obiigations expected to be settled through to contract completion are set out

below;
2021 2020
£m im
Consfruction work in hand
Europe Hub 4,540.7 3.632.1
Australia Hub o 1.259.7 1.105.2
- - 5,800.4 47373

The remaining performance obligations expected to be settied over the next four years based on the four-year financial budgets
approved by management for the Europe Hulo are £4,227 . 1m (FY20: £3.208.1m) and for the Australia Hub are £1.252.7m (FY20:
£1,105.2m). Management expects that £2.513.0m (FY20: £2,170.0m} in relation to contracts in place as at 31 March 2021 will be

recognised as revenue in the next financial year.
19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Re-presented
Restated [see

2021 mtezéﬁci
Amounts expecled to be recovered within one year: £m £m
Trade receivables 100.8 107.5
Less: provision for impairment of frade receivabies (1.2} (1.9)
Prepayments and accrued income 22.6 298
Otherreceivables 343 16.7
156.5 152.1
Amounts expected to be recovered afler more than one year:
Trade receivables 0.3 03
Otherreceivables o 2n4 21.2
- L 21.7 21.5
Total trade and other receivables o - 3 178.2 173.6
Comprising . o R
Financial assets (Note 28) B 156.8 1457
Other financial assels oulside the scope of IFRS 7 7 3 214 279
} 178.2 173.6
cSEEARIT iy TR AE AR AT (O TR ADE RPROEVAR S
2021 020
£m &m
Cpening balance (.9 (6.0}
Additional provisions recognised {0.2) {0.7}
Utiised during the year 0.1 0.1
Unused amounts reversed 0.7 5.0
Exchange differences S ] 0.1 {0.3}
Closing balance {1.2) (1.9}
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

for the year ended 31 March 2021

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The maturity profile of the receivables and allowance for expected credit losses provided for above is as follows:

Allowance for

Canylng expected credit
amount losses
2021 2021
£m £m
Not averdue 85.3 0.1
0 to 3 months overdue 4.9 0.1
3 to 6 months overdue 1.7 0.1
Over é months overdue o 9.2 0.9
101.1 1.2
Allowance for
Camying expected credit
amount losses
2020 2020
&m im
Not overdue 869 0.5
0 to 3 months overdue 12.1 -
3 to 6 months overdue 1.8 -
Over 6§ months overdue 7.0 1.4
107.8 1.9
20 INVENTORIES
2021 2020
£m £m
Development iand and work in progress 11.6 13.7
Raw materials and consumables 7.6 5.2
Finished goods and goods for resale o 0.1 02
19.3 19.1
Development land and work in progress at 31 March 2021 includes assets to a value of £10.0m [FY20: £10.3m} expected to be
consumed after more than one year which, given the nature of these assets, is part of the normal operating cycle. Inventories
canied at net realisable value at 31 March 2021 had a camying value of £9.2m (FY20: £12.2m).
Capitalised specific bomowing costs attributable to qualifying assets and included in development land and work in progress of
£0.9m did not materially change from last year (FY20: £1.2m).
21 BORROWINGS
2021 2020
£m &m
Amounts expectled to be settled within one year:
Bank loans 178.0 540
Other loans [note 31) 558 -
Lease liabilities - o 23 341
o o 266.1 88.1
Amounts expected to be seftled after more than one year;
Bank loans 1.9 182.0
Other loans (note 31} - 514
Lease liabilities o . 118.5 130.2
N L ~ 1304 363.6
Total borrowings 3945 451.7

GCbligaticns under leases are secured on certain non-current assets of the Group with an original cost of £183.2m (FY20: £212.9m)

and total net book vaiue of £143.3m (FY20:; £157.8m).

On 4 October 2021. subsequent to the year end. the Group refinanced its UK facilities, resulting in full repayment of its existing RCF,
Term Loan and Arrangement Fee, which totalled £13%.5m at 31 March 2021, and the entering into of @ new £35.0m RCF with an
expiry dafe of 3 October 2023. A £13.7m property loan was also refinanced with a new expiry date of 3 October 2023. Ausiralia

repaid its core debt of £20.7m (AUD$37.5m) by 30 June 2021.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
for the year ended 31 March 2021

22 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Re-presenied

{see nole 2.2}
2021 2020
£m £m
Amounts expecled to be selfled within one year:
Trade payables 188.3 2138
Other tax and social secunty 67.1 479
Other payables 8.1 462
Accruals and defered income } B 3060 3150
B 599.5 6229
Amounis expected to be settled after more than one year: S o
Trade payables LA 163
Accruals and deferred income b6 89
L 15.7 252
Total rade and other payables ) B 6152 648.1
Compirising
Financial liabilities {Note 28) 5374 5856
Cther financial liabilities cutside the scope of IFRS 7 758 62.5
615.2 648.1

At 31 March 2021, frade payables include subcontractor retentions of £53.8m (FY20: £57.2m) relating to consfruction contracts, of
which £2.0m {FY20: £16.3m) are non-current liabilities.

23 PROVISIONS

Insurance

technical Employee Jeint venture Tolat
provisions provisions provisions provislons
£m £m £m im
At 1 April 2020 374 6.7 1.6 47.7
Provisions created - 1.3 54 6.7
Provisions utilised (14.8) - - (16.8)
Exchange differences - 0.8 - 08
Al 31 March 2021 - ~ 226 88 7.0 38.4
Disclosed within: .
Cumrent liabilities - 48 7.0 118
Non-current liabilities 224 40 - 26,6
- ' 224 88 7.0 384
At 1 April 2019 44,3 6.4 23 530
Provisions created - 1.0 - 1.0
Provisicns Utilised (4.9) - 0.7 (5.8)
Exchange differences - 167 = 7
At 31 March 2020 o 37.4 67 1.6 47.7
Disclosed within:
Cumrent liabilities - 1.9 1.6 35
Non-curentfiobiltes L 4 48 - 442
394 67 1.6 47.7

Insurance provisions relate to provisions held by the Group's captive insurer Laing O'Rourke Insurance Limited. Such provisions are
held until utilised or such fime as further claims are considered unlikely under the respective insurance policies.

The employee provision relates to the accrual of long-service leave for employees in Australia and New Zealand. The non-cument
element is a calculation of long-service leave for employees who have not yet reached their long-service farget. The utilisation of
the provision is dependent on employee attrition and utilisation of accrued leave.

The Group provides in full for obligations to remedy net liakilities and jointly controlled entities in excess of amounts already loaned.
At 31 March 2021 these provisions amounted fo £7.0m {FY20: £1.6m} and were measured in accordance with the Group's
accounting policies. Amounts provided are assessed based on judgements of contract costs, contract programmes and
maintenance liabilities and are expected o be paid within one year.
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NQTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
for the year ended 31 March 2021

24 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The presentation of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities in the statement of financial position sets off deferred fox assets
against defered tax liabilities where they relate to corporate income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and there is a
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against cument tax liabilities. This note sets out the Group's deferred tax assets
and liabilities without applying such offset. A summary table reconciling the defered tax assets and deferred tax liabilities in the
statement of financial position to the remainder of this note is also set out below:

PIET DEFERRED Tax POSITION AT 31 FaaRTH

Restated

2021 2020

£m £m

Defered tax assets 40.5 496
Defered tox liabilties (3.6) [49)
359 44.7

The deferred tax balances have been restated in FY20 by £4.4m to reflect the legally enforceable right to offset cument tax assets
and current fax iabilities.

RECOGMSED DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AN LIABLITES
Assets Assets Liabilities Liobilties Nat Net
2021 2020 202 2020 2021 2020
£m £m £m im £m £m
Property. plant and equipment 2.1 0.3 (10.1) {4.4) {8.0) 4.1
Other temporary differences 209 14.7 (2.0) {4.9) iy 9.8
laxlosses camied forward 30 X0 - - 33.0 320
Defeired tax assets/(liabilities) B 54.0 540 (1%.1) 2.3 3.9 447

FACVEMENTS N DEFERRED TAX ASSETS ANDY LIARILIVES DURIG THE YEAR
Exchange and
other Recognisedin  Recognisedin  As at 31 March

Al | April 2020 movements ncome equity 201
£m £m £m £m £m
Property, plant and equipment (4.1) - (3.9} - (8.0)
Other temporary differences 98 1.7 C.4 - 1n.e
Tax losses camied forward 3o - 6o - 330
44.7 1.7 {2.5) - 3569

Exchange and
other Recognisedin  Recognisedin  As at 31 March

At 1 April 2019 movemenits income aquity 2020

£m im £m £m £m

Property, plant and equipment 20 - (6.1) - {(4.1)
Other temporary differences 4.6 {1.8) 7.0 - 2.8
To_xl_ogges cc_:rried forwg@l ) 77{1777.3 - 8.3) - 32.0
539 (1.8) (7.4) - 447

The recognised deferred tax assets include £33.2m which relates to camied forward losses in relation to the UK operations. The
Group has concluded that these defemred tax assets will be recovered using the estimated future taxable income, which is based
on the approved forecasts prepared by management. These forecasts cover the next five years and take into account UK tax
laws that, in broad terms, restrict the offset of the caried forward tax losses 1o 50% of the current year profits. The UK Group entities
have generated taxable profits this year and this is expected 1o continue in the future. The losses can be canied forward
indefinitely and have no expiry date. Changes in future profits willimpact the recoverabiity of the deferred tax assets.

Other termporary differences relate mainly to assets in Laing O'Rourke Ausiralia Pty Limited, where employee benefits, project
accruals and cest provisions are debited in one period but deducted against tax in another, and Laing C'Rourke Corstruction
[Hong Keng) Limited where an uncertain tax position exists in relation to historical trading expenditure.

UNFCCOGNSEO DUFERRSD “AX ASSETS Anlr Liazniin s

) A 2021 202G
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following tems: £m £m
Tax losses 40.8 56.9

The Group has unrecognised deferred tax assets of £60.8m {FY20: £56.9m) relating to unused tax losses of £233.8m (FY20: £214.5m)
predominantly generated from Canadian operations whicn are equity accounted. The tax losses have arisen in the Group and
can be carmed forward to future periods for use against part of future profits. The losses can be carried forward indefinitely and
have no expiry date. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of these amounts as the future taxable profits are not
prokable and the constraints in using the josses,
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
for the year ended 31 March 2021

24 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

The Group has undistributed eamings of £68.5m (FY20: £54.4m} which, if paid out as dividends, would be subject fo taxin the
hands of the recipient, An assessable temporary difference exists, but no defered tax liakility has been recognised as the Group is
able 1o control the timing of distributions from subsidiaries and is not expecled to distribute these profits in the foreseeakle future,

25 SHARE CAPITAL AND PREMIUM

Number of €1 Shore premium
shares issued £&m

At 1 Aprl 2020 and at 31 March 2021 2,000 286.4

The authorised share capital of Laing O'Rourke Corporation Limited at 31 March 2021 was 18,000 ordinary shares of €1 each
{FY20: 18,000 shares of €1 each).

26 RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENTS IN EQUITY

Forei
cuifr:?:r; ‘total Non-
Called-up Share For value Hedging franslation Retcined shareholders' controling
share capttat premium reserve reserve reserve sarmings equity interests  Total equity
£m £m im £m £m £m £fm im £m
At 1 Apr 2019 - 2864 25 (54 (70} (141) 2624 (28)  259.8
Profit for the year - - - - - 347 347 0.2 My
Other comprehensive '
(expense)/income after |
tox i - - o 0.5 (15.2) - (15.7) (1) (15.8)

Total comprehensive
(expense)/income for
the year - - (1.0) 0.5 (15.2) 34.7 19.0 0.1 19.1

Movemnents relating 1o
change in beneficial

ownership ] - — - - - {2.9) (2.9) 2.9 -
At 31 March 2020 - 286.4 15 (49  (222) 17.7 2785 02 278.7
Profit/{loss) for the year - - - - - 285 28.5 (0.1) 284

Other comprehensive
(expense}/ income !
after tax - - {0.8) 10 178 - 18.0 - 18.0

Total comprehensive
(expense)/income for

the year - - (08 1.0 17.8 28.5 46.5 (0.1) 464
At 31 March 2021 - 2864 0.7 (3.9 (4.4) 462 3250 0.1 325.1
AR VAL RESERVE

The fair value reserve includes the cumulative net change in the fair value of assets held to collect and to sell until the investment is
de—recognised, together with any related deferred tax.

Pk TR ST T L e
LTI SN o R RS AR

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in fair value of cash flow hedging instruments
related to hedged transactions that have not yet occured, fogether with any related deferred fax.

FUSRE RN TURREDN Y TRANSLATION, RESER /F
The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the franslation of the financial statements of
foreign operations.

WELLINETY EARNTIGS
Retained eamings relate to the proportion of net income retained by the Group less distributions. On 21 July 2019, the non-
controlling interest held by SAM Holdings LLC in the following companies: Laing O'Rourke Industrial LLC, Laing O'Rourke Industrial

Joinery LLC, Crown House Technelogy UAE LLC, Crown House Facilities Management UAE LLC and Crown House Security UAELLC
was sold to Links Formation Specialists LLC. As a result of this fransaction the Group now confrals 100% of these entities.
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27 GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Group had contingent liabilifies at 31 March 2021 in respect of:

SUARANTEES

Surety Bonds 2223 197.3

Bank Guarantees 140.5 157.4
) o ' ' ' o 3628 3547

£38.3m of the above guarantees were collateralised at 31 March 2021, As at 4 Cctober 2021, following the refinancing of she UK
facllities, £30.8m were collateralised with the balance of collateral released and no longer restricted. These guarantees may give
rise 1o liabiliies if the Group does not meet its obligations under the terms of the guarantees. No material losses are anticipated in
respect of any of the above guarantees.

However, in April 2017, Laing O'Rourke Australia Pty Limited commmenced court proceedings against a consortium partner fo
resfrain o calton AUDS$4%.4m [£246.9m] of surety bonds in relation to the termination of a contract. Following two judgments in
favour of Laing ©'Rourke Australia Pty Limited, on 8 March 2018 Laing O'Rourke Australia Pty Limited and the consortium partner
agreed not to call on the bonds except in accordance with the final resolution of the confract in private arbifration.

CLAS

The Company has subsidiaries that have a conventional contractor's liability in relation to construction and engineering confracts,
including but not imited to guarantees, counter-indemnities and guarantees in respect of their share of certcin contractual
obligations of joint arrangements, consortia and other similar refationships. This liability includes various claims from time to time by
the Group or subsidiaries against third parties or claims by third parties against the Group or its subsidiaries or joint arangements or
consortia relationships in which the Group has an interest. It is notf possible to estimate the financial effect of these claims should
they be successful. While the outcome of these claims is uncertain, where it is appropriate to do so, the Directors beleve that
adequate allowance has been made within the forecasted confract provisions,

Laing O'Rourke Australia Pty Limited received a claim for payment on 30 July 2018 from the party owing the Group the amounts
recognised as a confract asset (see note 18). This is now subject to private arbitration. Management is vigorously defending the
claim and have not recognised a liability in the financial statements as they believe it is not probable that a payment will be
required to setfle the claim. However, as with the recovery of the arbifration, this will take some time to resolve. Further information
on this claim s not provided as management expects it would sefously prejudice the posifion of the Group.

JOINT ARRAMGEAMENTS
The Group has subsidiaries that have entered into joint arrangements under which the subsidiaries may be jointly and severally
liable for the liabilities of the joint arrangements,

28 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

P ANCIAL PO PAANAGENMENT
Financial fisk management is an integral part of the way the Group is managed. In the course of its business. the Group s exposed
primayrily to foreign cumency risk, interest rate risk, liquidity sk and credit risk. The overall aim of the Group's financial risk

management policies is to minimise potential adverse effects on financial perfformance and net assets.

The Group's treasury department manages the principal financial risks within policies and cperating parameters approved by the
Board of Directors and purchases derivative financial instruments where appropriate. Treasury is not a profit centre and does not
enter into speculative transactions.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

for the year ended 31 March 2021

28 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
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Foreign cumrency risk is the risk that the value of financial insfruments will fluctuate as a result of changes in foreign exchange rates,
The pound sterfing equivalents of the cumrency of the Group's financial assets and liabilities, were as follows:

Pound sterling value of equivalent curency (Em)

2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2071 Total
GBP EUR AUD AED SAR CAD HED Other £m
Loans to joint ventures 8.0 33.6 - - - - - - 416
Trade and other
receivables 3.1 - 53.9 3.1 - 63 0.3 0.1 156.8
Cash and cash
equivalents ] 280.9 59 211 19.9 - - 8.2 0.6 536.6
Total financial assets 382.0 375 2750 230 - 6.3 8.5 0.7 735.0
Bomrowings (330.5) - (65.7) - - - (0.3} - (394.5)
Trage and other
payables ~ (330.9) (0.4) (136.9) (58.1) - {c.1) (12.4) (0.8) (537.4)
Net financial
(liabilities)/assets (27%.4) 391 724 (35.1) - 6.2 {4.2} 0.1 (200.9)
Pound steding value of equivalent cunency {Em)
2020 2020 2020 2020 2026 2020 2020 2020 2020 Total
GBP EUR AUD AED SAR CAD HKD> Other £m
Loans to joint ventures 15.3 35.1 - - - - - - 50.4
Trade and other
receivables {restated!) 84.4 04 451 97 - 5.6 03 0.2 145.7
Cash and cash
eq_uiﬂl_e_:nfs 258.9 53 154.5 30.6 - - 10.8 07 4608
Total financial assets 358.6 40.8 199.6 40.3 - 54 1.1 0.9 656.9
Borowings (414.1) - (37.6) - - - - - (451.7)
Trade and other
payables (restated) (345.4) - {139.8) (85.0} - (0.2} (14.5) {0.5) (585.6)
Net financial
(liabilities) /assets (401.1) 408 222 (44.7) - 5.4 {3.4) 0.4 (380.4}

1. Trade and oiher receivables and trade and other payables balances for FY20 have been restated by £381.7m and £321.1m respectively to remove assefs
and liablities that do not meet the definition of a financial instrument per IFRS 7. This has therefore reduced our exposure to the risks associcted with financicl
instruments compared with the disclosure in the pricr year.

Of the total foreign curency borowings of £66.0m (FY20: £37.6m). the amount of borrowings used to finance averseas operations

amounts to £66.0m {FY20; £37.6m).

If the foreign exchange rates that the Group is exposed to had changed adversely by 10% at the balance sheet date, the results
for the year and equity would have decreased by £4.8m (FY20: £3.7m). This sensitivity analysis takes info account the taximpact
and the forward exchange confracts in place.,
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28 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS {CONTINUED)

8.2 INTEREST RATE HisK

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rales. The Group is
exposed fo interest rate risk in relation to some of its bomowings. Bomowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk. The contractual repricing or maturity dates, whichever are earlier, and effective interest rates of total bormowings
are as follows:

Repricing/maturity date
Effective
Within Between one After Interest
Totat one year and fwo years two years rate
£m £m £&m £m T
At 31 March 2021
Bank loans 189.9 178.0 4.4 75 3.28%
Otherlcans 558 55.8 - - 8.71%
Lease obligations 150.8 23 274 909 422%
B - o 3965 266.1 320 98.4 -
At 31 March 2020
Bank loans 2340 54.0 1169 65.1 7.94%
Other loans 51.4 - - 51.4 8.70%
Lease obligations 164.3 34.1 18.1 iz 650%
- T - T 88.1 1350 228.6 -

If interest rates on variable rate borowings had been 1% higher during the financial year, the results and equity would have
reduced by £1.5m (FY20: £2.9m}. This sensitivity analysis takes into account the taximpact.

233 LIT2UIDIT Y RISY,

Prudent liquidiity risk management invelves maintaining sufficient cash and available funding to meet liabilities as they fall due. The
Group has procedures in place to minimise liquidity risk such as maintaining sufficient cash and other highly liquid current assels
and by having an adequate amount of committed credit facllities.

Subsequent to the vear end, the Group has refinanced its UK faciifies, resulting in a full repayment of £108.7m of RCF and Term
Debts and the entering into of o £35.0m RCF. The new facility has four covenants related to net debt to EBITDA, interest cover,
minimum liquidity and forecast liquidity. If certain of these covenants are breached this will constitute an event of default on the
Group's borrowing faciliies. The Group fakes a proactive stance in monitoring and ensuring compliance with covenants and
reporting requirements. Procedures are in place to monitor and forecast cash usage and other highly liquid curent assets. This,
together with committed credit facilities, ensures that we have an adequate availability of cash when required.

The maturity profile of the camying amount of the Group's financial liabilities including interest is as follows:

Trade and other

payables
{Restoted’) Ofher loans Bank loans Leases Total
£m £m £m £m £m
At 31 March 2021
Within one year 599.5 0.7 183.8 337 877.7
Between one and less than two years 55 - 45 28.6 38.6
Between two and less than five years 38 - 78 44.0 57.6
Five or more years 64 - - 453 51.7
- . ) N 6152 0.7 196.1 153.6 1,025.6
At 31 March 2020
Within one year 6229 - 58.3 356 7168
Between one and less than two years 99 - 181.7 298 221.4
Between two and less than five years 6.2 559 14.8 46.8 1237
Five: or more years 2.1 - ) - 54.9 64.0
} B 648.1 559 254.8 167.1 11259

1. Trade and other payables balances for FY20 have been restated by £306.1m to remove liabilities that do not meet the definition of a financial instrument per
IFRS 7. This has therefore reduced our exposure to the risks associated with financial instrumenis compared with the disclosure in the pricr year,
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
for the year ended 31 March 2021

28 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

2R Facw VALl UES

Financial instruments caried af fair value in the statement of financial position are other investments, financial assets held to
collect and to sell and derivative financial instruments. The following hierarchy classifies each class of financial instrument
depending on the valuation technique applied in determining its fair vaiue.

tevef 1 The fair value is caicuiated based on quoted prices traded in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. The Group
holds available-for-sale investments which are fraded in active markets and valued based on the closing per unit market price at
31 march 2021.

tevel 2: The fair value is based on inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indrrectly. The fair value of derivative financial instruments is estimated to be the difference between the
fixed forward price of the insfrument, and the current forward price for the residual maturity of the instrument at the balance
shieet cate,

Level 3: The fair value is based on unobservabie inputs, The fair value of other investments is calculated by discounting expected
future cash flows using asset-specific discount rates,

There have been no fransfers between these categories in the current or preceding year.

The following table presents the Group's financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 31 March 2021.

Falr value measurement 2021 Fair value measurermeant 2020
Level 1 Level2 level 3 Tatal Level | Level 2 Level 3 Total
£m &m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Financial assets held to
collect and to sell - - 24 24 - - 4.6 4.4
- - 24 26 - - 44 4.4

The fair value movements on held to collect and to sell financial assets and cash flow hedges are recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income. The Group recognised o £0.8m loss {FY20: £1.0m} in financial assets held to collect and to
sellin relation to PFlinvestments in joint ventures in the year.

The camying and fair values of the Group's financial instruments at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020 are as folfows:

Restated!

Canying Restated’ Carnying

Fak value amount Fair value armount

2021 2021 2020 2020

£m £m £m £rn

Loans and receivables 1984 198.4 1767 176.7
Financial liakilities measured ar amortised cost (948.0) (945.0) (937.2) 937.2)

1. Loans and receivables and financial ligbilities measured at amortised cost for FY20 hove been restated from £577.8m to
£176.7m and from £1,358 4m to £937.2m to remove assets and liakilities that do not meet the definition of a financial
instrument per IFRS 7. This has therefore reduced our exposure to the risks associated with financial instruments compared with
the disclosure in the prior vear,

The camying and fair valves of the Group's financial instruments were not materially different at 31 March 2021as the impact of
discounting on fixed term borrowings is not significant.

Loans, receivables and financial liaoilities are valued at their amortised cost, which is deemed to reflect fair value due to their
short-term nature.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
for the vear ended 31 March 2021

28 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

285 CAPTAL RS MANATEAENT

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, to maintain an opfimal capital structure to reduce the cost of
capital and te comply with the insurance capital required by the regulator, The Companies [Guernsey) Law, 2008 and The
Insurance Business (Bailiwick of Guemsey| Law, 2002.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, retum
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group regularly forecaists its cash position 1o management on both a short-term and a long-term basis. Performance against
forecasts is also reviewed and analysed to ensure the Group efficiently manages its net funds/debt position.

Net cash is calculated as cash and cash equivalents less total borowings but excluding bank arangement fees and the impact
of opplying IFRS 14 [including ‘current and non-curent borrowings™ as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position).

At 31 March 2021 the Group had net cash of £276.1m {FY20: £155.2m), see note 34,

The Group is required to hold regulatory capital for its captive insurance company in compliance with the rules issued by the
Guernsey Mnancial Services Commission. The Company must hold assels in excess of the higher of two amounts. The first is based
on a fixed percentage of premium income. The second is based on a fixed percentage of claims cutstanding {including claims
incurred but not reported). In addition, the Company must complete its own risk solvency assessment which is reviewed by the
Guernsey Financial Services Commission. The Group's capital is sufficient to meet all regulatory reguirements,

29 ASSETS CHARGED AS SECURITY FOR LIABILITIES AND COLLATERAL ACCEPTED AS SECURITY FOR ASSETS
Financial assets pledged as short-term collateral and included within cash equivalents were £38.3m {FY20: £35.5m).

As part of the Group's management of its insurable risks, a proportion of this risk is managed through self-insurance programmes
operated by its captive insurance subsidiary company, Laing O'Rourke Insurance Limited. This company is a wholly-owned
subsidicry of the Group and premiums paid are held to meet future claims. The cash balances held by Laing O'Rourke Insurance
Limited are reported within cash and cash equivalents. As is usual practice for captive insurance companies, some of the cash is
used as collateral against contingent liakilities, and standby letters of credit to the value of £9.3m {FY20: £9.3m) have been
provided fo cerfain external insurance companies. The standby letters of credit have been issued via banking faciiities that Laing
O'Rourke Insurance Limited has in place.

No financial assets have been provided to the Group as coliateral (FY20: £nil).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
for the year ended 31 March 2021

30 FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
Capital expenditure for property, plant and equipment authorised and confracted for which has not been provided for in the
consclidated financial statements amounted to £13.2m {FY20: £nil) in the Group.

The Group has committed 1o provide its share of further equity funding and subordinated debt investments in PPP [public-private
partnerships) special purpose entities amaounting to £nil (FY20: £nil).

31 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
T N BT ATEI AT

The Group has a related party relationship with its major shareholders, subsidiaries, joint arangements, associates and key
management personnel.

-k

The Group received income and incurred expenses with related parties from fransactions made in the normal course of business.

Sew b DTS AND SERNV RS PRONITDED YD FELATED P ARRD
2021 2020
Income eamed  Receivable at Income sarmned  Receivable at
in year year-end in year year-end
£m £m £m £m
Joint ventures 28 0.3 1.6 C.4
PURCHASE QF GOONS ANTG SERVIZES PROVITED BY BE_ AT T PARTIES
2021 2020
Expensas paid Payable af  Expenses paid Poyables at
in year year-end in year year-end
£m £m £m im
Joint ventures 347 55 293 54

The related parties receivables are not secured and no guarantees were received in respect thereof. The receivables will be
settled in accordance with normal credit terms.

PR EET L ZASES

During the year the Group incurred expenditure of £1.8m (FY20: £2.1m} with Mark Holding and Finance Limited and £6.1m (FY20:
£7.2m) with Steetley Investments Limited in respect of amounts due under lease agreements for premises occupied by the Group.
During the year the interests in Mark Holding and Finance Limited and Steelley Investments Limited were held in trust, the
beneficiaries of which are R G O'Rourke KBE and H D O'Rourke. At the year end the balance outstanding to Mark Holding and
Finance Umited was £nil (FY20: £nil) and fo Steetley Investments Limited was £nil (FY20: £nif). No amounts were written off in the
year by either party in respect of amounts payable under the agreements entered info.

LOEANS
Suffolk Partners Corperation was the ultimate parent company of Laing O'Rourke Corporation Limited until 25 March 2021 and it
wass a 50% shareholder of Augur Investments Limited until 4 October 2019. R G O'Rourke KBE and H D G'Rourke, who own 100% of

the shares of the Company, are also bereficiaries of the frusts which ullimately own Suffolk Partners Corporation.

The Group has a loan outstanding from Suffalk Partners Corporation, although they did not advance any loan amounts in the year
(FY20: £nil). The balance outstanding at the year end was £20.4m (FY20: £19.9m).

Augur Investments Limited was a related party between 1 April 2019 and 4 Cctober 2019 and there are therefore no related party
balances to report at either 31 March 2020 or 31 March 2021.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
for the year ended 31 March 2021

31 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES {CONTINUED)

SURCRDMNATED LOAR

The Group has a £23.6m subordinated long-term loan from R G O'Rourke KBE and H D O'Rourke, who awn 100% of the shares of
the Company. During 2012 a further £15.0m shareholder loan was made available to the Group. Total inferest of £4.4m was
accrued oh the loan balances during the year, with £12.8m of brought forward accrued interest. The balance outstanding as at
31 March 2021 was £55.8m (FY20: £51.4m). On 4 October 2021 the entirety of the shareholder loans, including accrued interest, of

£58.3m were converted to equity.

DOANS T AND FROM JOINT VENTURES ANTD ASSOIATES

At 31 March 2023 loons fo joint ventures amounted to £41.6m {FY20: £50.4m} and leans from joint ventures amounted to Enil
(FY20: £nil}. During the normal course of business the Group provided services to, and received management fees from, certain
joint venfures and associates amounfing to £nil (FY20: £nil]. Amounts due to and from joint ventures and associafes at 31 March
2021 are disclosed within investments in joint ventures and associates, frade and other receivables and frade and other payables
in notes 15, 19 and 22 respectively.

THRECTDORS REMAMERATICMN
During the year the total remuneration of the Directors was £3.5m [FY20: £3.5m} of which pension costs amounted to £nil (FY20; nif),
see note 7.

During the year ended 31 March 2021 the Directors received a reduction in salary for the period 1 April 2020 1o 31 July 2020.
The Directors received full salary from 1 August 2020 in line with the rest of the UK Greup.

(SN

On 2 June 2016, the Group sold an dircraft to Qisin Aviation (IOM) LP. During the current year the Group paid leasing costs of
£0.1m (FY20: £0.1m) to Qisin Aviation {IOM) LP for the rentai and £0.2m (FY20: £0.2m] for the operational services of the aircraft to
Qisin Aviation (lersey) LP. During the year the limited partners of Qisin Aviation (KOM) LP and Qisin Aviation (Jersey) LP were

R G O'Rourke KBE and H D O'Rourke.

SELECT PLATT HIRE CORPANT LinalTED
During the year, R G O'Rourke KBE and H D O'Rourke miade a payment 1o Select Plant Hire Company Limited for £nil {Fy20: £1.9m)
for the beneficial use of Company assets. Amounts owed as at 31 March 2021 are £nil {FY20: £nil).

32 ULTIMATE PARENT COMPANY

The immediate and ultimate parent company of Laing O'Rourke Corporation Limited was, until 25 March 2021, Suffolk Partners
Corporation, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. On 25 March 2021 100% of the share capital of Laing O'Rourke
Carporation Limited was sold to R & O'Rourke KBE (65.2%) and H D O'Rourke (34.8%). R G O'Rourke KBE is the ultimate controlling
party by virtue of his majority shareholding.

33 POSTBALANCE SHEET REVIEW
On 25 August 2021, the non-confrolling interest held by Garnham Services in Canal Harbour Development Company was
acquired by the Group for €1.

On 4 October 2021, the Group refinanced its UK facilities, resulting in full repayment of its RCF, Term Loan and Arrangement Fee
and the availability of a new unsecured RCF with an expiry date of 3 October 2023. A £13.7m property loan was also refinanced
with an expiry date of 3 October 2023, In addition, the Australia subordinated debt facility was fully repaid by June 2021 for £26.7m
[AUD$37.5m).

On 4 Qctober 2021, the entire shareholder lcans, including accrued interest, of £58.3m were converted to equity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
for the year ended 31 March 2021

34 RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH FLOW TO MOVEMENT IN NET CASH

{labllities from financing activities
Bank

arangement Cash and cash

Borrowings fees Leases Sub-total equivalents Netcash

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Asat 1 Apri 2019 [294.2) 20.8 (52.1) (327.5) 460.4 132.9
Cash flow (9.8} - - (9.8) 81.8 720
New lease amangements - - {45.9) (45.9) - (45.9}
Repayments 28.1 - 41.9 700 (70.0) -
Exchange differences 35 - 2.5 4.0 (11.4) (5.4)
Impact of IFRS 16 adeption at 1 April 2019 - - {104.5) (104.5) - {104.5)

Impact of IFRS 16 at 31 March 2020 - - 117.7 117.7 - 177
Other changes* {13.0) 7.6 (62) (e - (11.6)
As at 31 March 2020 T (287.4) 28.4 (46.6) (305.6) 4608 1552

Cash flow (5.0} - - (5.0} 160.5 155.5
New lease arangements - - (17.8) {17.8) - {(17.8)
Repayments’ 63.7 (6.2) 41.0 98.5 (78.5) -

Exchange differences (3.8) - (3.0) (8.8) 13.8 50
Impact of IFRS 16 af 31 mMarch 2020 - - {117.7) M17.7) - Mmz.7)

Impact of IFRS 16 at 31 March 2021 - - 105.2 105.2 - 105.2
Other changes* ) (13.2) 8.6 {6.7) (9.3) - (9.3)

As at 31 March 2021 - (245.7) 30.8 (45.6) (260.5) 536.6 276.1

* Cther changes include accrued inferest not yet paid and interest relating fo lease liabilities
'Repayments of £63.7min FY21 include £56.5m related to core debt and fees.

Tne Group defines net cash as cash less debt but excluding bank arangement fees and the impact of adopting IFRS 16.

The layout of the reconciliation of net cash flow has been re-presented in 2021 for additional visibility.
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NQOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

for the year ended 31 March 2021

35 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT ARRANGEMENTS AND ASSQCIATES

Principal subsidiaries

Principal activity

Group interestin
ordinary veling
shares

Principal place of
business

Crown House Technologies Limited
Expanded Limited

Explore Capital Limited

Explore Investments Australia Py Limited
Explore Investments Limited

Explore Living Limited

Explore Manufacturing Limited

John Laing intemational Limited

Laing O'Rourke Court Investments Pty Limited
Laing O'Rourke Australia Construction Pty
Limited

Laing O'Rourke Australia Holdings Limited
Laing O'Rourke Australia Group Pty Limited
Laing O'Rourke Canada Limited

Laing ©'Rourke Construction Limited

Laing O'Rourke Construction Hong Keng
Limited

Laing O'Rourke India Holdings Limited
Laing O’'Rourke Infrastructure Limited

Laing G'Rourke Ireland Holdings Limited
Laing O'Rourke Irejand Limited

Laing O'Rourke Manufacturing Limited
Laing O'kRourke Middle East Holdings Limited
Laing O’'Rourke Pic

Laing O'Rourke Services Limited

Laing O'Rourke Treasury Limited

C'Rourke Investments Holdings (UK] Limited
Select Plant Hire Compdny Limited

Suffolk Partners Three Limited

Vetter UK Limited

Mechanical and electrical contracting

Civil and structural engineering. piling
and demclition

Holding company

Property development

Commercial property develocpment
Residential development
Manufacture of construction products
Overseas confracting

Holding company

Building contracting, civil engineering.
infrastructure and plant hire

Holding company

Holding company

Building contracting

Building contracting, civil engineering and
infrastructure

Building contracting. civil engineering and
infrastructure

Holding company

Civil engineering and infrastructure
Holding company

Building contracting

Manufacture of precast concrete
Building contracting and civil engineering
Holding company

Service company

Treasury company

Holding company

Plant hire and operations

Treasury company

Finished stone products

100%
100%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

100%
100%
100%
100%

100%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

United Kingdom
United Kingdom

United Kingdom
Australia

United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
Hong Kong
Australia
Australia

Jersey

Australicl
Canada

United Kingdom

Hong Kong

Jersey
United Kingdom
Jersey
reland
United Kingdom
Jersey
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom

British Virgin Islands

United Kingdom
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

for the year ended 31 March 2021

35 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT ARRANGEMENTS AND ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Group

ownership principal ploce
Joint ventures Principal activity interest of business
Alder Hey [Special Purpose Vehicle) Limited PFl accommodation operator hospitai 40% United Kingdom
BYLOR Services Limited Service company 50% United Kingdom
Canat Harpour Development Property Development 50% Ireland
Company Limited
CLM Delivery Partner Limited Non-trading 37.5% United Kingdom
Emirates Precast Construction LLC Manufacture of precast concrefe 40% United Arabe Emirates
Explore Transport Limited Freight transport by road 50% United Kingdom
Health Mentreal Collective CJV Limited Building and civii engineering 50% Caonada
Partnership
Juris Partnership Law court facility construction and 50% Australia

maintenance

Emirates Precast Construction LLC and Alder Hey SPV Limited have a year-end of 31 March. CLM Delivery Partner Limited has a 31
December year end and Health montreal Collective CJV Limited Partnership has a 3¢ April year end.

Group

ownership
ioint Opersations Principat activity interest Principal place of business
Bayswater JV Civil engineering 50% Australia
BYLOR Civil engineering 50% United Kingdom
COLOR Bond Street Civil engineering 50% United Kingdom
FLO JV Civil engineerng 50% United Kingdom
Staffordshire Aliance Civil engineering 33% United Kingdom
Laing O'Rourke — Bachy Soletanche JV Infrastructure and building construction 50% Hong Kong
Laing O'Rourke — Hsin Chong Paul Y Jv Infrastructure and building consfruction 55% Hong Kong
Laing O'Rourke — Kier Kaden JV Infrastructure and building construction 43% Hong Kong
Laing ©'Rourke — Hsin Chong Paul Y Infrastructure and building construction 55% Hong Kong
(WKCD) Jv
M-Pact Manchester Civil engineering 60% United Kingdom
Pacific Complete JV Civil engineering 0% Australia

The registered address of those registered in Jersey is Level 4, Intermnational Finance Centre 1, St Helier, Jersey. JE2 3BX.

The registered address of those registered in United Kingdom is Brdge Place, Anchor Boulevard, Admirals Park, Darfford, Kent DA2 65N except Alder Hey
{Specid Purpose Vehicle) Limited, whose registered address 1 1 Kingsway, London WC2 AN,

The registered address of those registered in Australia is Level 21, 100 Maunt Street, North Sydney, NSW 2040, Australia.

The registered address of those registered in the Republic of Ireiand is 25/28 North Wall Quay. Dublin 1.
The registered address of Erirates Precast Construction LLC is Emirates Precast Construction LLC, P.O. Box 10042, lebel Al Industrial Area 2, Dubai, UAE.
The registered address of Suffolk Partners Three Limited is Tident Chambers, P.O. Box 146 Road Town, Tortela, VG111 10. British Virgin Islands.

The registered address of those registered in Hong Kong is RM05, 625 King's Road, Quary Bay, Hong Kong.

The registered address of those registered in Canada is 1031 Saint-Denis Street, Montreal, Quebec, Canada.

Group

ownership
Associote Principal aclivity Interest Principal place of business
Presien Holdings Pty Limited Al vision technology development 262% Australia

The registered address of Presien Holdings Pty Limited is Suite 113, National Innovation Centre/Cicada Innovations
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